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CORRIGENDA

Page 85, note 2, for ¢ Courten’ vead * Courteen.’
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133, line 7, and page 180, line 3, for ‘ Penner’ read ¢ Pennér.’

147, lines 8 and 19, for ‘ Kanagala’ read * Kanagala.’
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178, line 4, for “ Paler’ read * Palér.

262, line 4, for * Muhammad Khan ' read * Mahmid Khin.'
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STREYNSHAM MASTER AT
KASIMBAZAR

IIS DIARY CONTINUED

MiAsSURES OF REFORM.

November 3d, Fryday Forenoone and Afternoone—Att a Con-
sultation,! Present:—SrriyNsiarm MasTer, Fso: M. WALTER
Cravent; Maxo Marriias Vinerint; Mr. EDwarRD READE;
M. JouN Marsiare; Mo EpwArp LurrLETON ; MR, SAMUELL
HErvy.

The Councell procecdled] to Regulate and sett in order the
Honourable Companyes affaires in the Bay of Bengala accord-
ing unto Mr, Masters Conunrssion and Instructions.

(1st.) The Printed directions: made by the Court of Com-
mittee in Lordon the 18th December, 1667, for the Christian
and Sober Comportment of all the Ionourable Companycs
servants was delivered and hong up in the Delawne [dalan | or
dincing roome, and recomended to he carcfully observed,

(2dly.) The Printed Rules and orvders for the management of
the Honourable Companyes affaires, and keeping their bookes,
was delivered and recomended to due ohservance for the
future, in such things whercin the Hononrable Company by
later drders have not otherwise directed.

Concerning the Accompts it is now dirceted as followeth,
vizt., The Paper of Proposalls, upon which the accompts of
Surratt were first altered and put into the Method there used,

! Thers is a second duplicate copy of Master’s procecdings in Consultation at
Kasimbazar on th s daze and on the 4th November to be found in 0.C., No. 4331.

VOL. il. 1



mn e I):':ly, WIicn paper 15 10 De enterced 11 ks COHsuItdLIunn
booke and directed to be observed in keeping the accompts in
all Factoryes; alsoe a Coppy of the Surratt Bookes, letter M,
were delivered to remayne in the Bay for the better explaineing
of the said Method.

That in the Titles of the Journall it be expressed who is
Cheife, and by whome the bookes are kept, and at the end
of the Journall and Leidger the person by whom they are kept
doe sett his firme [signature], and the Cheife to signe them
as approved and allowed by him.

That the Journall parcells be more largely exprest then have
binn used, and each perticuler place or person duely charged
with and Creditted for all goods or moneyes to or from which
the same are immediatly sent or received, and those accompts
cleared at the end of the bookes as thev ought to be, That is to
say, if money be remitted from Cassambazar to Pattana, the
Cassambazar bookes must charge Pattana and not Hugly for
the same; and the Pattana bookes wust Creditt Cassambazar
and cleare that accompt by Hugly accompt Currant upon the
close of their bookes, and the like in other cases.

The accompt Sallary to be entred yearly in the Bookes upon
Lady day, and cleared or wrote off aceording to the Directions
in the Printed Rules.

That in drawing up the Invoices, the whole charge of the
Factory be charged proportionably on cach sort of goods as can
ncarest be calculated, and, in the bookes of Goods, to he made
Debtor for the same; and the accompt of charges, as Gennerall
Credittor, and all the perticuler accompts of charges, as sallary,
Dyett, Presents and Interest ete. to be cleared by accompt of
Charges Gennerall; and the foot of that accompt to be cleared
by profitt and loss. The Durbarr [darbdr| charges of Dacca,
being an expence which relates to all the Investments in the Bay,
to be cleared in that Factory bookes by accompt Currant Hugly,
and soe well that, as all the charges 1n the Factory at Hugly,
to be proportionably charged upon the whole Investment in
the Bay.

That an accompt of Packing Stuff be charged distinctly in
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the Bookes, and Debited for what is bought for that use, and
each perticuler sort of goods to be charged proportionably upon
each parcell of what 1s used in the imbaleing and packing ; and
what is over or under, by reasen of the Calculation that must be
used, to be cleared by Profitt and loss.  Alsoe, each perticuler
sorts of goods to be made Debtor for its proper charge of
curcing ete., and all the perticolers expressly to be entred in the
Journall,

And all gecods hought and sold arc to be cntred in the
Journall parcells, according as they were agreed and Contracted
for, and in the said parcells to abate or deduct the allowance
of money or weight, or whatever the natare of the bargaine is
or 1s accustomed, and not 1o enter the neat cost of the Goods,
those allowances being first deducled and abated and not
expressing the same. :

All accompts of Cash, the warchouse and charges to be
monethly stated and adjusted in the hookes, and they Con-
stantly compleated with the monceth.

The Warehousckeeper not to deliver any Goods but according
to Consultation, or by the Cheifes order in writeing, which shall
be the seconds voucher for entering the same in the Bookes.

For all moneyes paid out of cash, it is thought Convenient
that, according to the custome uscd at Surratt, the second or
book-keeper doe draw a bill upon the Cashkeeper, in the which
heis to express the partyes names to whome, and the accompt
upon which the money is payable, which bill the Second is
first to subscribe, leaving place for the Cheife, and the Cheife
haveing signed it, the money to be paid accordingly, the Cheife
ar Cashkeeper tukeing a receipt for the same; and if therc
he money to be sent for Inland Investments, to take attestations
of two of the Companyes servants of the delivery of the summe,
and the said bills and attestations to be read and passed in
Councell every week and then noted in the Consultation hooke,

And where moncyes are dayly issued out for Investments,
as at Cassambazar to the weavers for Taffutyes, the Cheife or
Cashkecper shall there enter the snmmes in the Diary of the
Consultation booke, twice a weeke, from which the Second
shall enter the same into the bookes of accompts.
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The Warehouse Bookes, being found in good forme and
method agreable to the Companyes Rules, it is recomended
so¢ to continue them, And the accompts of Cash to be
ballanced in the Leidger every moneth, as is used in the Surratt
bookes.

The Purser Gennerall or Paymaster at Hugly (when there 1s
one in that QOuality settled there) he is to take charge of all
expences In the Factory, the Concernes of the deceased and of
the stores and all other things belonging to the Sloopes and
Vessells there, and he is to keep the bookes and distinct
accompts of the same, vizf,, Onc Booke to Comprehend the
accompts of Charges Gennerall and Dyett, the Sloopes and
Vessells accompts, and the aeccompts of stores provided for
them, and what is on board them, and the mens wages belong-
ing to the said Vessclls, which accompts are to be monethly
given in to the Second, to bee entred in the Gennerall bookes,
and at the end of that booke to make a table of the whole
yeares cxpence in distinct collumes under the heads entered
in the Gennerall booke, by which the same may be more
readyly compared; Au other booke for registring of wills and
Testaments and Inventoryes of the Deceased, and that he doe
gather in the money of allouteryes and pay it into Cash, giveing
accompt of thesame to the Second or bookeeper to enter into the
Gennerall bookes, and in the same booke to keep a Register of
Births, Christenings, Marryadges and Burrialls,* and the Cheife
to appoint such assistance to the Purser Gennerall as is thought
Convenient.

In the Subordinate Factoryes it was thought fitt that the
third doe take charge of all expences in the same and to kecp
the accompt thereof, us before prescribed, and such assistance
appointed him as shall be necessary.

The Bookes of Accompts of all the respective Factorycs
in the Bay, it 1s agreed to be most convenient to be ballanced
the last Aprill yearely,? and to be kept in the method now pro-
posed, The Dcnominations of the money to be in Rupees,

L Unfortunately, no trace of this register now exists.
3 This method had been instituted by Master at Masulipatam. See anie,
vol. L., p. 277.
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Annaes and Pice, of 12: to one Annae, valueing the Rupee ut
two shillings and three pence, according to the Honourable
Companyes late orders?

Whereas the Honourable Company doc require that all
transactions of buying and selling and all other affaires are
to be resolved and Concluded in Councell, To which purpose
duyly or frequent Consultations are to be kept,? It is dirccted
that, for the fature, there be a mecting of the Councell to
Consult of the Companyes affaires every Monday and Thurs-
day, or at the least once a wecek, and oftener, as business shall
require; and if there be nothing materiall to be transacted
at such meetings, ta make an entry in the Consultation booke
to that effect.®

The Consnltation booke in the said respective Factoryes to
be kept in the nature of a Diary, whercin is to be entered the
davly transactions in the Companyes business, and the Bills
for each paid out as aforesaid, aud other materiall occurrences,
as the arrivall and dispatch of the shipps, especiall{y] what comes
to knowledge of the business and proceedings of the Dutch,
French, and Danes, or other European nations, as what ships
of theirs come and goce, and what goods and what trades they
drive in therr severall Factoryes, and as well theirs as our own
transactions with the Government and great persons in these
Countrys, which passages being soe entered, the advices to
the Honourable Company may be abreviated by referring
thereunto; and the said Diary and Consultation booke to be
closed the last of November yearly.

The Coppy Booke of Letters received and sent alsoe to be
closed the Jast of November, and by reason all letters are to be
entered 1n the Register at Hugly, the subordinate Factoryes
need onely keep Registers thereof in the respective Factoryes,
and Hugly to send double transcript[s] ycarly to the Fort,
whereof one to be writt upon for England, the other for Fort
St. George, and to be signed by the transcribers, That the

i See paragraph sz of the Company's Letter to Fort St. George, ante, vol. i.,
pl‘;z}t’e paragraphs 28 and 37 of Master’s Commission, amz, vol. i., pp. 209, 211.

3 Master had piven similar instructions to the factors at Masulipatam in the
previons August.,  See arte, vol, 1, p. 289.
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Agent and Councell and the Honourable Company may see
how the writers improve.

The Bookes of Accompts and the Consultation Booke to be
sent by the subordinate Factoryes for Hugly in treble Coppyes
all signed, whereof one Coppy to remayne there wrot upon for
Hugly, the other two Coppyes, and alsoc the Coppyes of Hugly
bookes of accompts and Consultation booke, all signed, to be
transmitted thence to Fort St. George, one of cach to be super-
scribed for England, and one other for Fort St. George, and
another Coppy of each said Bookes to remayne in Every

respective Factory and not to be carried away upon the remove
of the Cheife.

PrROPOSALLS! FOR SOME ALTERATIONS IN THE HONOURABLE
COMPANYES ACCOMPTS.

These Rules are alsoe directed to be observed in all the
Subordinate Factoryes in the Bay, where [it] is to be noted
that, as Huglyes Accompt Currant is [to] Fort St. George, soe
those Factoryes Accompt Currant is [to] Hugly; and upon the
Ballance of the Gennerall bookes of Hugly, cach Factory under
it must remaine soc much Debitor as accompt Stock hath
Creditt in the bookes of each Euactory And care must be
taken that all the Factoryes Bookes be sent to Hugly in due
time, that they may be entered and made to accord in the
Gennerall Bookes when they be closed.

November 4th, Saturday Forenvone and Afternoone.—Att a Con-
sultation, Present :—STREYNsHAM MasTir, Es@: [and Council
as before].

The Councell Continued their proceedings upon regulating
the Honourable Companyes affaires in the Bay, according to
their Commission and Instructions to Mr. Master.

It being observed that the Bookes of accompts and Coppy
bookes of Letters have noe covers to them, it was therefore
dirccted that all the Companyes bookes, soe well those that are
to remayne in the severall Factoryes, as those that shall be sent

L These ‘ Proposalls are the same as those introduced at Masulipatam in the

previous Augunst. They will be found in vol, i, pp. 279-282, and are not now
repeated.
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to Fort St. George to remayne there, or to be sent for England,
be all bound up handsomely, and covered with leather, and
distinctly indorsed or wrott upon in full and plaine Characters
and fgures.

That the Letters and advices to the Honourable Company
may be adressed with a becomeing respect, as becomes servants
to their Masters, They are alwayes to be wrote in a Submissive
stile and Directed, ¢ To the Honourable Governour and Com-
pany of Merchants of London tradeing to the East Indics.

Whereas there 1s many times mistakes in the proper names
of Goods, the Company ordering some by a genncrall name,
which have severall distinctions in the Countrey, It is directed
that, in all such cases, both the-names of such goods be exprest
in the Invoyces for England, that is to-say, the name which the
Company use, and the distinet and propper name of such goods
in the Towne or Countrey where they are provided.

Mr. Vincent delivered an account in writcing of the manner
of provideing of Taffutyes and raw silk in Cassambazar, which
was read and agreed to by M. Marshall and Mr. Littlcton,
experienced in the same, to be the teue state thereof,

Mr, Samuell Hervy his account in writeing of the manner of
provideing Cloth at Dacea was read and approved to bee the
use and practice of these Parts!

A List of the Honourable Companyes servants in the Bay of
Bengala, their names and Places of residence, employments,
arrivall in India, Present Degree, and Sullary was taken ;2 alsoe
a List of the deceased, both which are ordered to be entered
after this Consultation. And it is Directed that a List of the
like forme be yearly sent home to the Honourable Company.

The Chest with Locks and Keyes sent out by the Honourable
Company this yeare, for to keep their seales in, was delivered
to Mr. Clavell,® but it appeares that the Honourable Company
have noe seale with their armes in the Bay, and that one of the
keyes open two of the locks of this Chest.

1 These * Accounts’ will be found at the end of this Consnltation.

2 This was done in accordance with paragraph 39 of the Company’s Letter of
December, 1675. See ante, vol. i., p. 252,

4 See paragraph 22 of the Company’s Letter, ante, vol, 1., p. 249.
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The Nisshan of Sasujah [nishdn of Shah Shuja’a], Prince of
Bengala and the Phyrwannaes [parwana] of the severall Nabobs
since him were delivered to Mr. Vincent and he desired to
translate them.!

The Estates of such as dyed intestate in the Honourable
Companyes service in the Bay are brought into the Companyes
bookes, and usually five per Cent. hath binn allowed for the
care and paines of gathering in the Onut-Cry money. And
whereas it hath binn used in some cases to charge some persons
accompts in the bookes with what they buy-at Outeryes, from
hence forward it is to be declared at the outcryes, that all
persons are to pay ready moncy for what they buy, and the
moneyes to be gathered in-and entered in the Companyes
bookes accordingly.

The Honourable Company haveing ordered that all their
merchants, Factors, writers, and Apprentices in the Severall
Factoryes are to live in the Companyes house or Factory and to
eat at a Publicque table,? for the more orderly Goverment of the
Youthes, yett, when occassions doe offer of treating the Dutch
or other strangers, It is thought fitt that the Youthes doe eat
apart by themselves at such times, and those only to come to
the Table whome the Cheifes shall think fitt to call, as is
practised at Surratt.

The Honourable Companyes Printed Indulgences touching
trade (allowed their servants) of the 16th November, 1674, and
alsoe the Indulgences granted to the Oweners, Commanders
and Seamen of their shipps dated the 2d October, 1675, were
now delivered by Mr. Masters and recomended to be duely
observed.

For the Preventing of the Ladeing of Perticuler mens goods
upon the Honourable Companyes sloopes or Vessells, to the
Honourable Companyes dammage in the Hindrance of their
business,?® It was directed that the masters of the said sloopes
be ordered not to receive aboard their respective sloopes or

1 The translations alluded to will be found at the end of this Consultation,
after Vincent’s and Hervy’s * Accounts,’ and the List of the Company's servants.

2 See paragraphs 7 and 83 of the Company's Letter of December, 1675, ante,
vol. i., pp. 247, 262.

¥ See paragraph 86 of the Company's Letter, ante, vol, i., p. 263,
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Vessells any Goods whatsoever, without an order in writeing
signed by the Cheife of Hugly or Ballasore, or such as they
shall appoint. And if any of the said Masters shall be found
to infringe this order, the Person soe offending shall be Lyable
to such punishment or Penalty as the Cheife and Councell
shall think fitt.

It being observed to be a Custome among the English in the
Bay to wearc Flaggs in their Boates, and when they travaile,
soe that the Cheife of a Factory cannot be knowne or dis-
tinguished froin others, It was thercfore ordered that none but
a Cheife of a Fuactory doe weare a Flagg with a Swallowes
taile,! and all others that are not Cheifes (that they may be
knowne to be English) are to weare Ensignes and small squar
Jacks.2

The severall Clauses i Mr. Master's Commission and In-
structions relateing to the Honourable Companyes affairs or
their Servants in the Bay of Bengala are ordered to be entered
in this Consultation booke.®

And the Rules made in the Councell yesterday and this day
are directed to be sent to each respective Factory in the Bay,
and soe many Clauses in Mr, Master’s Commission and Instruc-
tions as the Cheife and Councell shall think Convenient.

THE MANNER OF THE SI1LK AND TAFFATY INVESTMENTS IN
CASSAMBAZAR.

Much Honoured Sir, In complyance with your orders in
Councell, dated the gth [October | past,® that I should give you an
account in writeing of what sorts of raw silk here are best, the

! The burgee or broad pennant—i.¢., the Commodore’s flag. The device is
described by Fryer as ‘1two Balls in a red Field’ for the Agent at Fort St.
George (A New Account of East India, p. 33).

? The term ‘jack ' is specifically applied to the small flag flown {from the jack-
staff at the bow of a vessel (formerly at the sprit-sail topmast head), by which
the nationality of a ship is indicated.

% These were paragraphs 3, 9-17, 19, 21-25, 27-35, 41, and 44 of Master’s
commission of the 10th December, 1675. They have been already given (sce
vol, i, pp. 202-214), and are therefore not repeated at the end of this Con-
sultation.

4 This ‘account’ is placed with the Appendix of collected papers at the end
of Master's Diary.
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season when fittest to buy, the weights by which said [silk] is
received in, and the manner how it is bought and paid for, as
alsoe the way of provideing taffatyes and dying them in the
house ; to all which please to take this answer.

1st. For the sort of Raw silk which is best, the Honourable
Company directs us to that which is here called tannce [ta@n3,
silk used for the warp], wherein every sort of thread is wound
apart; and of this we have sent for England ever since their
orders concerning the said have arrived hither.

2. The times of buying the best silk are in December when
the November Bund?! or sortment come from the worme, and
in Aprill when the March bund is made. The other sort which
comes out in July is course-and not soe cleare or soe good
coloured as the raw silk of November and March, and therefore
not soe fitt for Tannee ; of those wo bunds alsoc, the November
bund is accounted the Best.

3: The manner of buying raw Silk is this. When the bund
is made, wee wind of a muster [sumple| in the house, and com-
puteing what that really stands us in, alsoe how much of every
sort of thread it holds out, wee call the silk Merchants or
Picaurs [paikir, broker, chapman] and Contract with them
accordingly. The quantity every man doth agree to bring in
he gives a bill for, intimating alsoe at what time (the which is
gennerally at three monthes).  There is alsoc 20: Rupces in a
bale delivered them short of what it will amount to according
to the Contract, that soe, in case of abatement, wee may have
somewhat in our hands, thereby to avoid trouble in recovering
our money back againe when the Silk is prized and the accompt
made up. If the accompt exceeds what was at first given out’
to the Picaurs, he is paid the rest in full.

4: The weight wee receive raw Silk in by consists of 7o:
Rupees Sicca, and soe it is weighed for England. The weight
hath binn thus, ever since the yeare 1673, when wee first had
notice that the Honourable Company had a Suspecion upon
receiving Silk at 72: Rupees Sicca weight and packing it at

b Band is a technical term for a cocoon-rearing season in Bengal (see Mukerji,

Monograph on the Silk Fabrvics of Bengal, p. 10). By ‘bund,” the text means
silk from the cocoons of a particular season.
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70: Ditto: per scare, that wee charged as much for the seare 70:
as wee paid for that of 42:; but that was grounded on a falce
information given them,! and I hope is sufficiently clear’d in
the answer to the Honourable Companyes Auditors paper No. 4,
produced by Major Puckle.

5: Taffatves wee provide of three sorts, fine, Ordinary, and
Browne [unblcached], and this is done by sending round the
Towne and other adjacent places for the weavers (who are now
growne very numerous, soc that a peice of Taffaty which 12: or
I3: yeares agone cost rupees 15: 1s now made and sent home at
between 6: and 7: Rupees per peice), to whome we impress
[advance] money. If what we give them out be on fine
Taffatyes, then we contract that thce warp shall consist of
2100 Threads up and downe, and that both warp and woofe
shall be, though of different threads, yett of the best sort of
silk in the Country called Owall Nimoona [Ar. awwal namana,
first quality ], alsoe that they shall weight 50: rupees sicca, cach
20: Covids in length, that they shall be two Covids in breadth,
and of such a colour as agreed on, which they themselves dye.
In all other things above mentioned the most part of our
weavers comply better then in the last, for they very often
pretend that the Colour bespoaken was spoiled, and that there-
fore they are forced to dye it of another Colour, which wee
must beare with in the poore sort of weavers, or hazzard a bad
debt; but we yeurly gaine upon them, they now begining
better to comply with their Contracts (which each weaver gives
n writeing apart) then formerly. 1t is agreed that the ordinary
Taffatyes shall weigh g4o: or 45: rupees sicea, the warpt not
twisted, but to be of good silk, the woofeing something worse
then that of the fine Taffatyes; the warp is to consist of 1400
threads double, or up and downe. In said contract is alsoe
mentioned the colour, whereing they alsoc faile us as in the fine
Taffatyes; for, if they perceive that the white ordinary Taffatyes
lookes not well (this requireing evener silk and more care in
makeing then the red or yellow), they will presently dye it,

! The *informat-on’ referred to here is Hall's letter of the 12th November, 1671,

to Sir William Thomson, in which he accused March and Vincent of cheating
the Company of four tolas weight in each seer of silk received (0.C., No. 3599).
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which is the reason soe many redds and yellowes extraordinary
are and have binn sent home, and soe many whites short,
though hope shall be able to make them comply better the next
yeare. The Browne taffaty is to be of 50: rupees Sicea weight,
each 20: Covids, and 1400: single threads in the warp, to be of
a good sort of silk, to be made without conjee [kanji, stiffening
of rice starch] or any other sort of stiffening. All three sorts
are to be brought in from three to foure mownethes, and then
are prized according to their glosse, fineness, weight, and
eveness.

6: The. way of priseing these Taffatyes is on this manner.
As soon as the weaver brings them in, they are, each individuall
peice, measured and weighed in: the presence of one of the
Honourable Companyes- servants, who writes downe the
perticulers in a Sheet of Paper and delivers 1t to the Cheife.
This expresses the length of each peice, what it weighs, what it
wants in length or breadth, and what weaver it belongs to.  This
the Cheife enters into the weavers wast booke kept by him,
which done, he proceeds to looke on each peice, and price them
as they lye in order before him, guiding himselfe by their
evenness, both of Silk and Colour, as alsoe by their gloss and
weight; and from the wast booke is each weavers account
posted into a large Leidger kept for that purpose; and they
will not rest contented with any ones valueing the goods but
the Cheife in place at that time.

7: What Taffatyes ctc. wee dye in the house are performed
thus. Orgazin for warp and tram for woofeing?! is brought in
ready throwne [twisted], only soe much as is throwne Europe
way, which bought raw and throwne in the Factory is only
tram, and but a small quantity, there being as yett but one
mill, nor hitherto roome for any more. In dyeing the silk,
black looses about  and the Colours } of what it weighed when
delivered the Dyer.  When the silk comes from the Dyer it is

! Organzine is defined in the Oxford English Dictionary as the strongest and
best kind of silk thread, formed by several strands twisted together in the
contrary direction to that in which their component filaments are twisted,
Tram is silk thread that has been wound clean, doubled, and thrown, and is

used for the weft of fine silks, while organzine is used for the warp (Chambers’
Encyclopedia, s.v. Silk),
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charged with the same value it was in the whole when put
downe to be dyed. The dyed silk, both Orgazine and tram,
are delivered as they come from the Dyer to the weaver, who
winds and warps them, and fits the samec himselfc for his
worke. When he brings the peece of Silk home, it is wheighed
with the wast and thrumm [cuds, fragments], which are both
cast into the weight of the peice, and what it comes short is
charged to the weavers accompt, as alsoe what is short of
measure (for they are measured). For his whole workeman-
ship he receives one Rupee twelve annacs per pecce of 20:
Covids long, whether 14 or 2: Covids wide. We doe alsoe
agrec upon a Certaine number of threads to bee in the warp {of]
cach peece, and doe seale thereed' and if any suspecion ariseth,
count the threads after the peice is brought in.  And wee doe
alsoc wind in the house wnd warp off some of cach parcell of
Silk that is given out, thereby tu ascertaine ourselves how the
same will runn, which in great measure prevents such frauds
and abuses that otherwise might be imposed on us.

8: Our manncr of prizing raw Silk, please to take thus.
When wee understand that a convenient quantity is come in,
wee cause 1t to be opened in the presenee of the Cheife, Second,
and Third, or warchousekeeper of this Factory, and throwing
the quantity of 2: Bules or 42 maunds at a time of each sort of
thread together, each of those Persons lookes upon s5: or 6:
Skeins, which he takes from among the whole heape, and
thereby makes a judgement of the whole, by comparing them
with the muster on which the agreement s made with the
Picaurs or Silk Merchants.  And, as the parcell of Silk appeares
to cach of them severally, cvery one in a paper apart setts
downe his price, whether equall with or how much worse or
less in price then agreed on by muster; and when all the
parcell is looked over, the severall prizes of cach Picaurs Silk
arc compared and cast op togethoer, the third part of which
aggregate 1s made the price of the whole.

g: The sorts of silk to be had here are Tanne, which the

1 Viz., the strip of cane used for separating the threads of the warp and

beating up the weft The reed was apparently fixed to the warp and then
sealed.
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Honourable Company for these three last yeares have ordered
to be wound off for their account ; and Punjah,! which formerly
used to be sent for England. There are severall other
Denominations of windings, both of longer and shorter
Skeynes, but all have reference to the two sort[s] above
mentioned, The way of carrying on the trade of raw silk is
with a large Stock of money, with which, instead of 500: Bales,
at the least five times that quantity may in this place yearly be
procured.

This is what account I can give you of the premised
inquireyes, the which T present you with, humbly Submitting
it to the Honourable Company. I am, Honoured Sir, Your
most humble Servant, MATT: VineeNT. Cassambazar, 3d Novem-
ber, 1676.

ACCOMPT OF THE MANNER OF ProvibEING CLOTH AT
Dacca3

1: The most proper scason for giveing out moneys for
Cossaes, Mullmulls [khagsa, malmal] etc., made in and about
Dacca is the month of January.

2: Delolls [dallal] or Broakers, accustomed with and
appointed by the Goverment to the basiness of cloth, take
four monethes time for i1t’s delivery, and within six monethes
or thereabouts doe usually bring in the same browne [unbleached]
as it comes from the weavers.

3: The said Broakers, haveing tooke money, deliver it to the
Picars [ patkar] who carry it from Towne to towne, and deliver
it to the weavers, soe that the only security of the Picars are
the weavers, of the broakers are the Picars, and of the Honour-
able Companycs money, the Broakers.

4 Browne musters peices are customaryly bought, and their
prizes agreed on, before money delivered, though divers

1 This term must have been taken to Bengal by factors trained in Madras, as
it represents the Tamil and Telugu word, punjam, a skein of silk or cotton, con-
sisting of 120 or 6o threads, prepared for the warp.

2 This * Accompt’ is to be found with the papers at the end of Master's
Diary.
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Arabians and Mogulls, who trade in Dacca cloth (carrying
away yearly very considerable quantityes of the same overland,
some soe far as the great Turks dominions), agree at first on noe
certaine price, but receive their goods at the time limittad, the
Delolls or Merchants of the Towne then valueing them accord-
ing to the markett price.

5: When the Honourable Companyes cloth is brought in, the
broakers overlooke, sort and prize it, for which they have afore
received of the Picars, by deduction, two rupees on each
hundred rupees; at which time the Cheife ete. take good care
to interpose with their judgements, demanding abatements,
and allwayes receiveing the same (though not according to
equall proportion) for want of breadths and Lenghts and good-
ness; but cloth muach worse then muster is returned back,
provided the broakers are not thought doubtfull.

6: What money is agreed to be paid upon abatements the
Delolls usually make good in Specta, unless cloth according to
muster be procurable,

7. If at any time it happens that the Delolls seem to be
partiall in overating the goods, a merchant of the Citty is, by
Joynt consent, chosen and desired to determine therein, and
doth soe accordingly.

8: It may not unfittly be inquired into whether responsible
merchants are not to be found i Dacca who will contract for
the Investment as in Ballasore and Hugly, thereby the better
to secure the same, the broakers being Gennerally poor
and Litigious, and if the Picars or weavers faile, Seldome
pay their remaynes, but never without contest, trouble and
charge.

This accompt of the Dacca Investment was given to the
Worshipfull Streynsham Master, Esq: cte. Councell according
to order,t By me, Sam: Hervy. Dated in Cassambazar, Qcto-
ber 16th, 1676,

1 The * order’ was given on the gth October,



16 CASSAMBAZAR, 1676

A List oF THE HoNoURABLE COMPANYES SERVANTS IN THE
Bay or BENGALA,

as they ave vancked in the Consultation booke, Page the 27th, Aprill
the 11th, 1676, now veduced under their Severall Degrees in
thetr due Semiovity, accovding to the Honourable Companyes
Rules,® Vizt.,

Arrivall in Present Present
India. Degree. Sallary.
1; Mr. Walter Clavell, Cheife of )
the Bay att Hugly, came
out of Councell at the Fort
at 7o: /i. per annum ¥ being
15 monethes in his passage
from England to Goa and
arrived there ... May 16th 1668 — 70: li.
2; Mr. Mathias Vincent,* Cheife
of Cassambazar came out
a Factor at zo: /i. per
annum, his sallary made
35: M. per annum 1668 ... Augtist 1662 Senior Merchant 4o
1670
3: Mr. Job Charnock,’ Cheife at ’
Pattana, arrived in India
1655, entertained in the
Companyes service 1653 at
20: /i, per annum ... &. July 1658 Senior merchant  g4o: /i
1666
4: Mr. Joseph Hall,* Cheife of
Dacca, came out of Coun-
cell at the Fort at 35: /i,
per annum ... . Aungust 2oth Senior merchant 400
1668 1673

L The Consultation Book referred to is not in existence, but a copy of th
* List," as made by Puckle, is to be found in Factory Records, Fort St. George,
vol. xxviii

2 The duplicate copy of Master's * List ' in Factory Records, Hugli, vol. i., has
“late rules,’ i.e., paragraph 39 of the Company's Letter of December, 1675, and
paragraph 25 of Master’s Commission.

3 Walter Clavell was entertained as factor in January, 1667, and was specially
empowered to assist in the re-instatement of Foxcroft at Fort St. George (Court
M inutes, vol, xxiv.}). He was the second son of Roger Clavell, of Winfrith,
Dorset. At his own request he was sent to Bengal in 1669, whither his affianced
wife, Prudence Holworthy, followed him. She died in 1673, and Clavell took
for his second wife Martha Woodruff. 1In 1670 he succeeded Shem Bridges
as ‘Chief in the DBay,” a post which he held till his death, at Balasor, on the
3rd August, 1677. His wife died on the following day. See Indian Antiquary,
vol. xxxiv., p. 286 ef seq.

+ See anle, vol. 1., note on p. 328, for the appointment of Vincent.

5 See ante, vol. i, notes on pp. 301, 328, for the appointments of Charnock and
Hall.
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Arrivall in Present Present

India. Degree. Sallary.
5: Mr. Edward Reade,! second
at Hugly, Bookkeeper,
arrived in India 1662, enter-
tained in the Companyes
service 1670 at 3o0; /i, per

annum ... June 1670 Senior merchant  40:
1675

6: Mr. John Marshall ? Cheife of
Ballasore, came out a mer-
chant at 30: {,. per annum Sept: 10 1668 Senior merchant  go:
1673

These apointed by the Honourable Company to be of Councell
in the Bay, and thus rancked in their letter dated December 23:
1672.

7: Mr. Edmund Bugden, 3d. at
Hugly, Warebousekeeper,
came out a merchant at

30: li. per annum ... e June 23d¥ 1672 merchant 3o0: 4.
8: John Smith,* second of Pat-
tana, came out a Factor at
20: 4. per annum ... ... Sept: ro: 1668  Senior merchant  40:
1676

9: Edward Littleton,* second of
Cassambazar, came out a
factor at 25: i, per annum  July y8th 1671 merchant 1676 30: Ui
to; Samuell Hervy,* second at
Dacca, came out a Factor
at 25. {{. per annum ... August 15th merchant 1676 30: U,
1671

' See ante, vol. i., note on p. 331, for the appointment of Reade.

2 See antz, vol. 1., note on p, 329, for John Marshall’s election. From 1669 to
1671 he was at Patnaunder Jab Charnock, He was then transferred to Hugli, and
later,in 1672, to Kasimbazar, when he served as second, until his appointment to the
chiefship at Balasor, in November, 1676. Less than a year later he fell a victim
to an epidemic, and died at Balasor on the 30th August, 1677 (Factory Records, Fort
St. George, vols, xvi, and xviii,, and Hugli, vol. iv.), Marshall was the author of
two MSS. now in the British Museum (MSS., Harieian, 4253 and 4254), entitled
respectively, * A Dialogue between John Marshall and a Bramin at Cassumbazar,
began the 18 March 1675, and ‘' Notes and Observations of East India from
Sept. 11: to Jan. 1: 1671/

3 T'his date refers to the commencement of Edmund Bugden’s second period
of service with the Company., In 1667 he was clected factor (see anfe, vol. i,
nate on p. 300), having previously been employed by Blake at Hugli. In1671 he
returned to England and was re-elected factor in November of that year (Court
M inutes, vol, xxvii., fol. 184).

s Seeante, vol, 1., notes on pp. 327, 329, and 324, for the appointments of Smith,
Littleton and Hervy.
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11: Richard Edwards,! Third at

Cassambazar, came out

writer at 1o: /. per annum,

his sallary made 20, /. per

annum 1671 Sept: 8th 1668  merchant 1676 30!
12: George Peacock,? Thn’d at

Pattana, came out a writer

at 10: /i. per annum . Sept: 8th 1668 merchant 1676 30!
13: John Billingsly,? second at

Ballasore, came out a writer

at 10: 4. per annum ... Sept: 10th 1668 merchant 1676 30t
14: Fitch Nedham,? third at

Dacca, came out to the

Agency of Bantam to Japan

1672 a factor at 20: ¥, per

annum o 1672 Factor 20:
15: Henry Carpenter* third at

Ballasore, camieout a writer

at 10: i, per annum . June 2d 1669 Factor 1674 20!
16: John Byam$& at Hugly, came

out a writer at ro: /. per

annum . Lo Augr 19: 1677 Factor 1676 20!
17: George Knxpe" at Hugly,

came [out] a writer at

10. /1. per annurm ... .o Aungrigr 1671 Factor 1676 20:

! See ante, vol. 1., notes on pp. 328 and 50z, for the appointments of Edwar
and Peacock.

2 See ante, vol. i., note on p. 299, for the appointment of John Billingsley.
1669 he was sent to Patna with John Marshall, and was married there on t
oth February, 1671 (Harleion MS., 4254). From Patna he was transferred
Balasor, where he built a house, and whence he wrote to Richard Edwards,
the 28th January, 1674, ¢ Nether of us has any reason to bee contented to bee s
long in the Countrey and still to bee keept under every favoured of the gre
ones, pray God send better times that wee may contente our selfes in seing of o
friends in old England. . . .”" (0,C., No. 3936}. John Billingsley was one of t
first victims of the epidemic at Balasor in 1699. He died at the end of May
beginning of June (Factory Records, Kasimbazar, vol, i.).

3 Fytche Nedham was elected factor for Bantam, 21st July, 1671 (Court Minut
vol. xxvii,, fol. 143). In December, 1675, at his own request, he was allowed
go to Madras. In March, 1676, he was sent to Bengal and appointed to Dac
by Major Puckle (Factory Recovds, Fort St. Gearge, vol, xxviil,, pp. 36, 43, 44).-

4 See ante, vol. i., note on p. 324, for the appointment of Henry Carpent
He served at PPatna from 1693 to 1675, and was commended by Job Charnoc
He died at Balasor in September, t677 (0.C., No. 4045 ; Factory Records, Huy
vol, iv,),

5 See ante, vol. i, note on p. 324, for the election of John Byam.

See ante, vol, 1., note on p. 324, for the appointment of George Knipe.
March, 1673, he was sent to Kasimbazar, where he became warehousekeeper
September, 1697. On the 27th December he * was intermarried with Mrs, Mz
Hollingshead by Mr, Thomas Collins, according to the forme sett downe in {
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Arrivall in Present Prasent
India, Degree. Sallary.

18: Stephen Guillym ! at Hugly,
arrived June 23d 1672 Writer 10: Ui,

19: James Harding? at kS assam-
bazar, arrived . ... June1s: 1672 Writer 10: {f.

20: Richard Trenchfelld 3 at
Hugly, arrived ... June 23d 1672 Writer 10: Ui,

21: Christopher Oxenden ‘Hugly,
arrived .. June 27: 1673 Writer 100 4.

22: Jeremey Peachv 5 Hugly,
arrived . . ... June 27: 1673 Writer 10: /i,

23: Allen Catchpoole“ ‘at Pat-
tanfa], arrived .. June 27: 1673 Writer 10: /i,

24. Thomas Bromly®% at Hugly,
arrived Apprentice e July 14: 1671 Writer 10t I,

25: Samuell Meverell 7 Cassam-
bazar, arrived ... June 23: 1675 Writer 1o; /i,

Booke of Common prayer.' Knipe was taken ill in August, 1678, and died at
Kasimbazar on the 6th September following. His son was born on the 25th Sep-
tember, and the widow and child sailed for England in December, 1679 (Factory
Records, Hugli, vol, iv., and Kasimbasar, vol. xiii.).

1 See ante, vol, 1., note on p. 328, for Guillym's appointment. The name is
variously spelt Guillym, Gwillham, Guilyam, Gwilliams. He was sent to Patna
in March, 1675, was transferred to Hugli in 1676, and died (either there or at
Balasor) in September. 1677 (Factory Recovds, Hugli, vol. iv., and Madapollam,
vol. ii.).

2 See anfe, voi. i., hote on p, 393, for James Harding's appointment. He was sent
to Kasimbazar from Fort St. George in 1674 to be an assistant to the warehouse-
keeper, since he was ‘bred a silkman.’ In 1677 a complaint was drawn up against
him of * dangerous and borribty blasphemous principles,’ and the Council at Hugli
were requested to send him home, * he being alsoe a person of very little use and
Service to our Honble. Masters Affaires.’ In the same year Harding declined to
copy the books according to Littleton's orders, and was therefore suspended and
sent to Hugli. He went to Fort 5t. George to obtain redress, and resigned the
Company's service in 1679. [n 1682 he was readmitted by the Conrt, who ordered
that he shonld be *enccuraged,’ and he was consequently sent back to Kasim-
bazar. Further reports of his ill conduct were, however, received, and he was
finally dismissed the service in 1687 and sent to Fort St. George. In 1688 he was
allowed a passage to England in the Bengall Merchant (Factory Recovds, Hugli,
vol, iv., Fort 8t. George, vol, v., Kasimbazar, vol. i., Miscellaneous, vol, iiia, ; Letter
Books, vols, v. and vii.).

3 See gnts, vol. i., note on p, 305, for the appointment of Richard Trenchfeild.

4 See gnte, vol. i., note on p. 299, for Christopher Oxenden’s appointment. On
the 24th September, 1677, he arrived at Kasimbazar seriously ill, and died there
on the 2gth. He desired that his effects should be remitted to his father, * Onely

ne peice of Silke with GGold flowres to be sent to his Sister the Lady Oxenden
(Factory Records, Kasimbazar, vol. 1.).

5 Elected writers in October, 1672 (Court Minutes, vol. xxviii,, p. 51).

& Thomas Bromley, a Christ's Hospital lad, was entertained as an apprentice
in November, 1670 (Letter Book, vol. iv., p. 396),

7 Elected writer, t4th October, 674 (Court Minutes, vol. xxix., fol. 61).
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Arrivall in Present Present
India. Degree, Sallary,

26: Thomas Collings! at Cassam-
bazar, arrived «wo  June 24: 1675 Writer 10: U,

27: John Threader! at Hugly,
arrived .. June 24: 1675 Writer 10 Ii.

28: Samuel Anthony?at Ballasore,
arrived «.  June 24: 1695 Writer 100 U,

29: Mathew Sheppard! at Dacca,
arrived .. June z7: 1675 Writer 100 U,

30: George Perrin? at Ballasore,
arrived <. June 23: 1675 Writer 10: /i,

31; Abraham Rutton?! at Hugly,
arrived .. June 27 1675 Writer 10: k.

A Li1sT OF THE HONOURABLE COMFANYES SERVANTS WHO DECEASED
IN BENGALA 1675-6.

1st. Mr. Robert Elwayes,? Cheife of Dacca, dyed there December 4th, 1675,

2d. Samuell Bullivant,? 2d. of Pattana dyed there May 19th, 1676.

3d. Samuell Smith, a Writer, [dyed] at Ballasore August 30th, 1676.

4: Mr, Josuah Darly, the Chaplaine, drowned in the river Ganges, Septem-
ber 11th, 1676,

5: Nath: Whettham, a Writer, drowned in the river Ganges, September 11th,
1676,

6:  'Wm. Callaway,® a Writer, dyed aboard the Sloop Ganges, in the river Ganges,
September the r1: 1676,

7:  Major Wm, Puckle, dyed in Cassambazar, the 16: October, 1696.

8: Thomas Reade,® a dyer, dyed in Cassambazar the 7th November, 1676,

1 Elected writers, 14th October, 1674 (Court Minutes, vol, xxix., fols, 61, 63, 66,
68, 71, 8o, 83). Thomas Collings (or Collins) died of fever at Kasimbazar on the
24th July, 1678, and Abraham Rutton feil a victim to the epidemic at Balasor in
September, 1677 (Factory Records, Kasimbazar, vol, i., and Hugli, vol. iv.).

2 See ante, vol. i., notes on p. 305, for George Perrin’s and Samuel Anthony's
elections. Perrin died at Balasor in September or October, 1678 (0.C.,
No. 4502).

3 See ante, vol. i., note on p. 343, for Robert Elwes’ election. He was appointed
chief at Dacca, vice John Smith, on the 17th Januvary, 1673 (Factory Recovds, Hugli,
vol. iv.).

4 Samuel Bullivant was elected factor on the 13th November, 1667, He served
the Company at Masulipatam in 1668-69, at Hugli from 1665-72, and at Patna
from 1673 until his death (Cowr? Minutes, vol. xxvi., fol. 62; 0.C,, Nos, 3171, 3473,
3772).

> William Callaway was elected writer on the rgth September, 1672 (Cowt
Minutes, vol, xxviii., fol. 44),

6 This eniry must have been added later. See infra for a note of the
occurrence.
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Translate of Sultan Shauh Shujaes Neshaun [Sultan Shah
Shuj@’a’s nishan or} Letters patent to the English in Bengala.!

The Neshaun or Letters patent of the most magnificent Prince
Sultan Shuja given the sixth moneth in the yeare of Hegira
one thousand sixty six [April, A.n. 1656] in the 28th yeare
of the Emperour Shah Jehaun [Shah Jahdn] his glorious
reign.?

Bee it knowne to all great Governours, Chancellors, Farmers
of the Kings rents, Collonells, Captaines, rent gatherers, Farmers
of customes, watchmen, Ferrymen, and other Petty Officers
that now are in place, and hereafter shall be in the Kingdomes
of Bengala and Orixa, that this day Thomas Billidge,® an
Englishman, humbly [laid | his suit before our Splendid throwne,
acquainting us that the English Companyes goods, according
to the great Emperours Letters Patent which are unalterable,
arc [? as] by his free grant thereing (sic) Specified, are custome
frec all over his great Empire, humbly desireing us that there
may a Priveleidge be granted them by us to trade custome free
in these parts, as alsoe complayneing that at present their trade
with the Country Merchants, our Subjects, is much hindered
by our Governours of Port Townes ete. Demanding the English
goods at their ownear tes, and forbiding any merchants to buy
or sell with them unless {they]| condecend to their actions, and
that the officers in the Port Townes demand four in the hundred
custome on all goeds imported and exported, as alsoe anchorage
[dues] in the Roads belonging to these Kingdomes of Bengala
and Orixa.

Upon due consideration had of all which, wee were pleased
to grant, and hereby command you, that according to the above
mentioned Letters Patent of the great Emperour, whose words

! This and the four following translations are among the collected papers at

the end of Master's Diary.

2 Another copy of this nish@r is to be found in the manuscript collection of
Charters and Treatics at the India Office, vol. ii., pp. 5-8. See Wilson, Eurly
Aunals of Bengal,vol. i. p. 27, note, for reasons for doubting the correctness of the
date A.H. 1066,

3 Thomas Billedge was at the head of the Company's affairs in Bengal, with

George Gawton, ¢irea 1657,
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noe man dare presume to reverse, the Factory {of | the English
Company be noe more troubled with demands of custome of
goods imported or exported, either by Land or by water, nor
that their goods be opened and forced from them at under
rates in any places of Government by which they shall pass
or repass up and downe the Country, but that they buy
and sell freely and without impediment; neither lett any
molestation be given them without {? about] anchorage [dues]
as formerly has binn; alsoe where ever they have order to
build Factoryes or Warehouses in any part of these Kingdomes,
that they be not hindered but forwarded, as alsoe where there
shall any just and due debts be comeing to them from our
Subjects, that all persons inoffice be helpfull to them in their
recovery, giveing protection to noe weavers, Merchants or any
other that shall appeare to be really indebted to them. In all
the aforesaid matters, especiall regard is to be had that you
carry yourselves strictly in obedience to the great Emperours
Letters Patents and this my Neshan now given the English
Company, haveing an cspeciall care that you faile not a
tittle in your full complyance with our Commands therein
Conteyned.

Translate of Nabob Shausteth Cawne [Shaistah Khan, Lord of the
Noble men, his confirmation of the English Priveleidges in the
Kingdome of Bengalal

The Phyrwana [parwana] or order of Shasta Ckains, the
Lord of Noble men [Amirw’l-umra] dated this third day of the
third moneth in the fifteenth yeare [June, 1672] of the
glorious reigne of Aurung Zeeb [Aurangz&b], Emperour of the
World.

To all great Officers, Chancellours, farmers of the Kings
customes, Farmers of the Kings rent, Collonells, Captaines,
rent gatherers, Custome gatherers, Watchmen, and all under
Officers now in being, and that shall be in these Kingdomes

1 There is a copy of this parwana in Charters and Treatics, vol. ii., where,
however, the date is erroneously given as 1680, See Stewart, History of Bengal,
ed. 1847, Appendix, p. iii, and Wilson, Early Annals, vol. i., p. 48.
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of Bengala and Orixa [Orissa], declareth that Walter Clavell,
the English Captain, this day presented his suite before me,
averring according to Letters Patents of the Mighty Emperour
and Prince Sultan Shaw Sujah [Sultdn Shah Shuja’a] as alsoe
by the Phyrwana or order of Meerjumbla [Mir Jumla], the
Cawne of Cawnes (Decceased),! the custome of all goods ex-
ported and imported, bought or sold, belonging to the English
Company to be released, whereupon I alsoe give my confirmation
of the same, and order that, according to the said Letters Patent
etc,, you governe yourselves; and whatsoever goods the said
Company shall import from Ballasore or any other place neare
the sea side up to Hugly, Cassambazar, Patana or any other
place in these two Kingdomes;as alsoe what saltpeter or any
other goods they shall export from Pattana cr any other place
to Ballasore or any other Port to the Sea, that you lett them
pass custome free without any lett [hindrance], impediment or
demands whatsoever ; and wherever they have Factoryes or
Warehouses, that you help their Factors in getting in their due
debts from any weavers, Merchants etc. that really appears to
be indebted to them, without giveing protection to any such
person soe indebted, whereby they may any wayes be wronged ;
and whatsocever boates, whether their owne, or freighted, let
them not be stop’t on any. pretence whatsoever, but suffered
to pass without molestation; and notwithstanding I have lately,
by reason of a great outrage committed by the Dutch,2absolutly
forbiding them any trade in these Kingdomes aforesaid, soe that
Governours and other officers have tooke occasion to stop and
hinder the English trade (which I have not interdicted) with
that of the Dutch which I have strictly forbiden. 1 doe declare
that the English never commited any offence of soe high a
nature that their trade should be hindered, and therefore
I resolve and order as before, that, according to the above-
mentioned order, and as their trade has for soe many yeares
quiettly and without impediment gone on in these Kingdomes

1 The titles conferred on Mir Jumla by Aurangzéb were Mu'azzam XKhan,
Khan-Kbanan, Sipah Silar. He died on the 31st March, 1663.

2 This refers to the troubles with the local government, in which the Dutch
became involved on account of their supposed complicity in the death of the
widow of their chief baniya.
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aforesaid, that it now alsoe be not hindered, but that whatever
their Factors and other Servants shall buy or sell, as aforesaid,
be noe wayes letted or impeded, and that I may heare noe more
complaints from the English in this matter, See that this my
order be Strictly observed.

Tyanslate of o Letter from Shausteth Caukne {Shaistah Khan],
Lord of the Noble men, Prefect of Bengala, in answer to one
vecerved from Wares Cawne [ Waris Khan), the great Chancellour
of the Province of Beayvra (ov Pattana [ Bihar ov Patna)), about
the English privelesdges in those parts of the Empive of Shauh
Aurung Zeeb [Shah Auwvangszeb|, Emperour of Hindoustan
ete.t

Nabob Shausteh Ckaune, Lord of the Noblemen, of the sth
moneth in the 18th yeare of the Glorious Reigne of Shauh
Aurung Zeeb, Emperour of the World [July, 1676], to the most
Excellent and Honourable Warees Ckaun, greeting. Your
Letter have received, wherein you write that the English have
told you that, according to the Emperours letters Patents, their
Companyes goods are made custome free, but they doe not
produce any such Originall Letters patent to confirme what
they aver, and therefore desire ‘advice from me that you
may accordingly governe yourselfe in this affaire. To which
I answer that the English have such a Phyrmaund or Letters
Patents from the Emperour aforesaid,? upon which I alsoe gave
them a grant of the said Priveleidge in this Province that, in
their buying and selling, exporting and importing of goods, noe
one on that accompt may molest or hinder them, according to
which and the said Letters patents you ought not to trouble or
impede their trade on accompt of paying custome which is
released to them etc.

! There is a copy of this letter in Charters and Treaties, vol. ii,, pp. 47, 48, where
the date is erroneously given as 1683,

? By ‘the Emperour aforesaid’ Shih Jahin, and not Aurangzéb, must be
meant,
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Translate of Ruffee Ckauns [Raft Khan], Nabob of Orvixa [Orissal,
his ovder or Grant for Confirmation of the English priveleidges
in satd Kingdomel

The Phyrwana or order of Ruffee Ckaun,2? dated the 1sth
day of the 10: moneth in the thirteenth yeare of the Glorious
reigne of Shaw Aurung Zeeb [February, 1671], the Emperour
of the world. To all great Governours and Officers, to all
Farmers of the Kings customes, Farmers of the Kings rents,
Collonells, Captaines of forces, watchmen and other officers
that now are or shall be belonging to this Kingdome of Orixa,
declareth that, according to the Letters Patents of the great
Emperour and the Orders or Grants of severall Prefects of
this Province given thereupon, whatever goods the English
Company import into any part of this Kingdome, which they
have brought from their owne Country, as alsoe whatever they
shall carry out hence to be returned thither, is wholly released
to them and become custome fre¢, and wherever their Ships
ride at anchor in any Ports of this Province, that they are not
to pay any anchorage. Upon consideration of all which, I have
alsoe given this order or grant for Confirmation of the above-
mentioned priveleidges, ordering that whatever goods they shall
from any Port Towne import into any place of this Province,
or whatever trade they shall drive in any part of the said
[province |, or whatever goods they from any place in it shall carry
to be exportfed], that you give them noe manner of hinderance
on accompt of custome or any other demands whatsoever, as
alsoe that you take noe anchorage for any of their ships, but
lett them drive their trade quietly, that where they think best
they may carry on their Negotiation without trouble, and in
whatever places of this Kingdome their Factors doe buy and sell,
in case any due debts shall be comeing to them, that, without
favour or affection, or protecting any such Debitour, you assist
themn in its recovery. See that you give good heed to what
herein ordered.

L There is a copy of this parwdna in Charters and Treaties, vol. ii., pp. 39-41,
where the date is given as 1678.

2 Query Mirza Rafi Khan Bazil, who was in command of the fort of Gwaliyar
in Aurangzéb's reign.  He died in 17171,

22595
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Translate of Shaw Awrung Zeeb 1Shah Aurangzéd|, Emperour of
India, his Phyrmaund [ farman| ov Lelter Patents given the
Dudch for their tradeing in his Dominions 1662.

The Letters Patents or Phyrmaund granted by Shaw Aurung
Zeeb, allwayes prosperous, the Conquerour of the world and
Glorious paterne of true Belevers, the 15th of the third moneth
in the fifth yeare of his reigne [October, 1662], to the Dutch
powerfully Commandeth the heads of Government of this large
Empire, the heads of the great Officers of Farmers of Rents, of
Customes, rent gatherers etc., officers of what nature soever,
that now are in place and hereafter shall be, in the Provinces
of Behaur (or Pattana [Bihdr or Patna]) of Bengall and of
Orixa [Orissa], that, whereas this day there came into our
glorious and redolent presence the fountaine of Majesty and of
good fortune, the Comendore Derrick Van Addercome, the
Vackeel [vakil] or Attorney and neare kinsman of the Dutch
Gennerall,? and standing in our Sight, who give shaddow to
nations, neare the foot of our throne, made his Sapplication,
intimating that he humbly hoped that wee would please to give
Command and Licence that the Hollanders might bring their
ships to the Port of Hugly, Pipley [Pipli] and Ballasore, and to
come to an anchor where they thought best; and whatever
goods they import, that they may pay custome according to
their former and ancient use and noe otherwise, and that they
may have power to carry their goods whither they find most
convenient, and sell them to what merchant they thinke fitt,
and buy goods of whome they please, and what Broaker they
shall choose they shall make use of, and noe other except they
see fitt, and whatsoever manufacture, Cotton or Silk, Sugar,
Saltpeter, Silk raw or wrought, beeswax, or any other goods
whatever they shall buy in those three Provinces and carry to
the Port Townes, that noe man may molest them, and that noe
watchman, customer, or any other of those under officers may

1 There is no copy of this farmidn in the manuscript collection of Charters and
Treaties at the India Office.

2 The head of the Dutch affairs in Bengal in 1662 was Matthias van den
Brouke (Valentijn, Oud en Nicuw Qost Indien, ed. 1726, vol, v., p. 174).
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force anything from them on accompt of goods soe proceding,
nor take any custome or Tole on them, but that they may be
protected from all such exactions and that they may be suffered
to put their ships to Sea out of any Port belonging to those
three Provinces when they shall sce their hest time, and that
noe person in Government should press their boates away from
them, and that what merchants shall receive their money to
provide goods, or what boate men or Oxrenters? etc. shall be
paid anything on freight or carriadge of their goods doe not
abuse them by non complyance with their Contracts or
bargaines,

On which request my order and Command is that the
Hollanders have [ree Licence to bring their ships to the Ports
abovesaid and come to-an anchor where they will, and that
custome be taken of their goods according to the ancient use
and noe otherwise, and that they be suffered to import their
goods where they please, and sell them to whome they thinke
fitt, and buy of whome they best can, and what Broaker they
choose, let them have without imposeing any other on them,
cxcept they are willing, and whatever Manuofacture, Cotton or
Silk, Sugar, Silk, Wax, Saltpeter, etc. goods of those three
Provinces they shall buy and carry downe to the Port Townes,
that noe man impede them, and that of their importing and
exporting of their goods, noc Petty officer, watchmen, or any
other, out of covetuousness, darc to demand anything of them
on accompt [of] custome or anything elce whatsoever, but rather
further them in what there may be occasion, and that you keep
vood Correspondence with them, and wherever they see their
time, that they be suffered to put their ships to Sea, and that
noe man press their boates, and take order that noe Merchants
boatemen, or Oxrenters ete. persons that deale with them be
suffered to abuse them, but be forced to stand to what con-
tracts shall appeare that they have made with them; where
right and justice appears, be sure to assist on that side, pro-
tecti[ng] the wronged side.

The said Comendore further Supplicateth that, according to
this, the Dutch had the favours of letters Patents from the

1 Those who owned or let out oxen for hire, carriers.
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former Emperour, and that they, with their necessaryes, had
Licence to goe where they would within the Limitts of this
Empire, without being stopt by any watchmen or Petty
Customers etc. whatsoever, which we have alsoe gratiously con-
firmed to them, and that all things be as of ancient custome
has binn used to them. In all th{ese) premisses see that you give
full and strict complyance, [and] that you dare not offer to
demand of them the sight of this my Royal Phyrmaund or
Letters Patent.

Tue DIARY (continued).

November 4th~~This evening Mr. Hervy went hence toward
Hugly.

November sth, Sunday.~—This evening Mr. Clavell went hence
toward Hugly.

November 7th.-~This morening, about ten a Clock, Thomas
Reade the Dyer, who came out this yeare to serve the Company
in this place, Dyed of a feaver.

November 8th~—~About g: a Clock this morening I left Cas-
sambazar and began my Journey to Hugly.

Whilst I was at Cassambazar, which was about six weekes
time,’ the water did fall in the river about five fathome right
up and done. All the Country, or great part thereof about
Cassambazar, is planted or sett with Mullberry trees, the leaves
of which are gathered young to feed the wormes with and
make the silke fine, and therefore the trees are planted every
yeare. The soile of Bengala is very fertile, being a kind of a
loose fat earth, and in some places a fatt sand. There is not
one mountaine or Hill to be seen about Hugly or Cassambazar,
the Countrey being all plaine and Levell, and tho any thing
will grow, by reason of the fertileness of the soile, yett firewood
is scarce and timber bad and very deare.

The Towne of Cassambazar is about two miles long, and in
some places the streets where the marketts are kept are soe
narrow that a Pallanqeen can but just passe in them.

This evening I tooke boate at Moula [Mohola] and rowed all

night.
1 From 23rd September until 8th November, 1676,
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November gth.— At no[o]ne wee stoped and landed to eat our
dinner.

HugLry, 1676.

November 10th.—In the Morneing wee called at Santapore
[Santipur]| for the Parcell of Mullmulls [smalmal] bought there
for the Honourable Company, which the merchants came and
told us were ready but would take up some time to send into
the boate, by reason the Governour was to see them told
[counted], for the weavers paid him 1f annae upon every
peece; but they promised to put them in boates and to over-
take us before wee gott to Hugly, which accordingly they did.

About two a Clock wee gott to the Companyes garden at
Hugly, and thither Mr. Clavell came-to meet us, and with him
Senior Verburg (late Cheife of Cassambazar, now Provissionall
Directore for the Dutch),! and Van Wiltfangh the Commandore
of the Dutch fleet? from Batavia, with severall others. In the
evening wee went from the Garden to the Honourable Com-
panyes Factory, The Dutch ships in the river answering those
Gunns which were fired at our Landing and afterwards.

In discourse with Senior Vanburg [Verburg], he told me that
he was resolved to shew his teeth to the Moors to make them
know themselves. The Gennerall and Councell of Batavia had
ordered it, and provided for it at Surratt, Agra, and all other
places, and Wiltfangh, the Commandore of the fleet, is come for
that purpose, and he was the man that commanded the ships at
Surratt not long since when they made that Governour there to
repay what he had forced from them.

November 11th, Saturday.—Mr. Darley the late Chaplaine and
William Calloway, Dececased, their Apparell etc., were sold at
an Qutcry this day.®

1 He was summoned from Kasimbazar on the 3rd October.

2 Writing to Bombay on the 31st March, 1674, about negotiations for the
release of the prisoners taken by the Dutch in Aungust, 1673, the factors at Surat
alluded to ¢‘The Commandore Peter Wilfang, who is Vice Admirall to the
Generall, a very ctvill person, and of whome all the Officers . . . doe givea Very
commendable Chavecter’ (Factory Records, Surat, vol. Ixxxviil.).

3 Callaway's * Qutcry,” which follows, is among the collected papers at the end
of Master's Diary, Darley's ‘Qutcry’ is not in existence among the records at
the India Office.
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WirLiaM CALLAWAYES OUTCRY.

Mr. Douglas* velation of what My. Callaway sayd at the time of
his decease, September 11: 1676,

Memorandum of what Mr. Callaway told me the x1th Sep-
tember, 1676, that he had in the Ketch Arrivall.

2: Large Sarpetts,? 1 Bale, markt W C.

5: Hatt cases gt. [containing] 3: hatts a peice.

1: Chest in the Ganges, in which was 1o0: Dollers or rupees
(I am not certaine which), and that he had a paper box with
some ribon and money for Mr. Upshot?® to deliver to Mr. Yale.

1: Chest qt. 21: galloones of brandy of Mr. Covens® to dis-
pose of for his accompt.

Alsoe that Mr. Herrys® man sent a box of papers by him
which he deposed [? disposed] of at Metchlepatam for his
accompt.

Alsoe that Mr. Harwar? owed him upward of rupees 300: and
that he desired to be hansomely burried ashoare,® and that there
should be rings and scarfes given at his buriall, he haveing
wherewithall to doe it.

That all his concernes at Madrass were knowne to Mr.
Herrys, excepting 9: or TI: pagodas, which he left with? to be
invested in Bamboes against-his returne.

That he desired all his concernes in India should be sold and
the produce thereof sent home to his Father.®* RoBrrT
DougLas.

1 Robert Douglas, the surgeon of the Fagle, who was with Callaway when he
died.

2 Sarpett (if not a copyist'serror for ‘carpet’) may possibly be meant {or surpech
or sarpesh, a band of silk or embroidery, from 2 to 2§ cubits long, worn round the
turban.

3 Probably one of the ships' officers.

4 Elihu Yale, who accompanied Major Puckle from Fort St. George as his
secretary.

5 Peter Coven, chaplain of the Eagle.

¢ Edward Herrys, member of the Fort St. George Council,

7 Ralph Harwar, the Company’s surgeon at Hugli and Balasor, 1672.76.

8 Owing to stormy weather, Callaway was buried quietly at Thana. See ante,
vol. 1., p. 324.

® Thereis a blank hero in the original,

1 This was probably °Jeremy Callaway, baberdasher, London,” one of
Callaway’s securities when he was elected writer (Court Minutes, vol, xxviil.,
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An Accompt of My. Wm. Callawayes Goods deceased, sold at an
Outery in Hugly, November the 11: 1676, formerly sealed up.

Rupees. Annas.
77: Gold coate buttons poiz [weight] 10

Tollas: 8§ Mase; at T4: rupees per tola - 31500 00
2: pair of gold buttons for wrists 5 mase:
2 Ruttee:r - - - - - - 5 I2
1: pair of Silver buckles and 1: Clasp poiz - 22 3
1: Silver Snuff box poiz - - - - I I3
10: Rupees in a Escretore [writing desk] 10: 00
I: Ten Shilling peece of Gold - - - 4 4
50: Dollars poiz 484 at 210 rup: per 100
Dollars weight - - - - - I0I: X4
1: Silver meddall Oliver Cromwell - - oo: 15
Rupees 276: 13:
{Purchasers] h, s d.
Mr. Nurse 1: Painted [printed
cotton] Cap, - - - o0 5 6
Still 2: Silk Coates - - - 0: 5 O
Summerland 2: Coates x: pair of Briches o: 71 6
Still 2: Coates 1: paire of Breches o1 2: o
Binny 1: Coate and a pair of
Breches - - - 0 30
Mr. Sayon 6: old shirts - - - 0 3 0
Still 1: Coate and a paire of
Breches - - - o 3 oo
John Lodge 3: old white Coates - - o oo
Mr. Littleton 3: paire of Drawers and four
shirts - - - - o O oo
Mr. Peachy 1: Pallampose [ palangpaosh,
bed-cover] and one old
sheet - - - - 0o 6 o
Carried forward - -z o2 o

fol. 74). His father’s calling accounts for the number of * hatts’ in the list of
effects sold at ‘outery.” William Callaway probably brought them to India as
an investment on behalf of Callaway senior,

1 B8 yatti = 1 masha, 12 mdsha == 1 told of 180 grains.
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| Purchasers] h. s, d
Brought forward - -2 2t o
John Lodge 1: Parcell of old Linnen - o: 8 o
Chrs. Tifford 1: Parcell of old Linnen - o 1: 6:
Mr. Yale 1: pair of silk stockings,
cravat and Scarfe - - o & o
Mr. [Samuel} Puckle 2: paire of thread Stockings o: 4 6:
Mr. Douglas 1: China Escretore - - 1I: O
Mr. Nurse 1: China Standish [ink-
stand] - - - - oo
Mr. Reade 3: paire of Shoes - - o 3 o
Mr. Smith 1: pair of Buckles sett with
stones. .- - - - Io2r o
Mr. Clavell 2: pair of “Golcondah
Slipers - - - - o 6 oo
Mr. Sayon 2: Dt Slipers - - - o 8 o
Mr, Clavell 2: ditto Slipers - - -0 6
Mr. Nurse 1: small empty box - -0 2 2
Mr. Peachey One Felt Hatt - - - o I0r o
Mr. Smith One Hatt - - - - o I4 o
Mr. Hall One. Caster [rabbit’s fur]
Hatt - - - -2 I oo
Mr. Reade One Dt Hatt - - - 2 o o
Mr. Smith One Hatt his wearing Hatt 1 11: o0:
Mr. Peachey One Hatt - - - - I 4 o
Jno: Summerland One Hatt - - - -~ I 8 6
Mr. Harwar One Hatt - - - -2 I O
Mr. Peachy One Hatt - . . - L In: o
Mr. Smith One Hatt - - - - 116 6
Mr, Peachey One Hatt - - - - o9 b
Mr. Guilliam One Hatt - - . - I 5 o
John Lodge One Hatt - - - -0 Iy o
Mr. Hall One Hatt - - - - non oo
Franck? One Hatt - - - -2 0 o
Carried forward - - 28 g 3

L This individual is mentioned in a letter from Thomas Collins at Kasimbazar
to R. Edwards, dated 315t October, 1676 (0.C., No. 4228) : * Wée are very much
troubled with Franck the cofiree [kafir, here, native Christian], who they say is
possessed with the Divill, which if not is starke madd.'
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[Purchasers]

Mr. Carpenter
Mr, Yale
Mr. Peachey

Mr. Peachey
Mr. Clavell
Mr. Reade

Mr. Yale
Mr. Hervey '

Brought forward - -
One Hatt - - - -
A bone Fann and Ribbon
2: Reames Gennoa paper -
One  Hatt  Stolen  from

aboard the Arrivall sloope
Remmants figured Ribbon -
One Empty Chest - -
One  Remnant  Chucollo

[chakla, silk and cotton

cloth] - - -
One pair Laced cuffs - -
One- bone laced Apron and
band, corvett: [? cravat]
lace for falls [ladies’
collars] and Ruffles, in-
dorsed upon the paper

11l 108 - - -

Carried to the IForl by Mr. Master.

One double [width] lace flowred for Cravatt, and lace for
Ruffles, indorsed upon the paper, [i.3 3s.
One Cravatt Lace for Ruffles, indorsed upon the paper

1li. 12s.

28:

[
cw e’
Qo Swa

0: 120 ©
0 3 0O
00 3 o
o 1; 6
11: 10: O
S |
44: 100 3¢
R —

In two boxes, two suites of knotts [sets of bows (for coats)]
and one pair of womens trimed gloves.

One box with two old suites of knotts.

One box qt. [containing | 144 peices of Ribbon.

Ralph Harwar owes an accompt of 4: Chests of wine,
rupees 405: The whole amounted to rupees 644: [? 604],
whereof was paid 299: rupees, soe there remaines, as aforesaid,

rupees 405:

1 Of the above twenty purchasers, fourteen were Company's servants, and
have been previously mentioned in the Diary; one was a native; one (Lodge)
was Master's servant; and the other four were probably seamen from the

Company's vessels.
VOL. IL.

The total amount shonld be £44 7s. 3d.

3
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Mr. Douglas demands due to him, as appeares by attestation
of Mr. Callawayes confession, rupees 300:, Whereof he acknow-
ledged to have recived 18: Remaynes due to Mr. Douglas
Rup: 282:, Which he lent Mr. Callaway to pay Mr. Bonnell for
4: Chests of wine. ,

Ralph Harwar paid the man for watching with Mr. Callaway
n his sickness Rupee 1:

One Bale, marked W C: containeing five hundred and Eleven
peeces of Chints girdles.

One Pattara | patra, a vessel, receptacle|, qt. 174: peeces of
Chints an[d] Sixteen peeces Pallampose.

One Pattarra, contayning 136: Girdles Chint, and foure
peeces of Chint [chint, printed cotton cloth].

Rup: an:
The above mentioned Chint girdles being
647: girdles, sold at one rupee and quarter

per girdle, amount to 3 - - - 808: 12:
Brought from folio (1), being the amount of

plate and money sold for - - - - 2760 13:

Brought from the other side, being the amount

of what sold for English money makes

44li. 10s. 3d., at 2s.: 3d.: per Rupee - - 395: IO:
Received of Mr. Ralph Harwar, being the

ballance of 4: Chests of wine, as appeares

on the other side - - - - - 405 oo:

Rupees 1886: 3

Rup:
Paid to Mr. Douglas, being the
Ballance of his accompt, as
appeares on the other side 282:
Paid Ralph Harwar due to him - I
Paid John Byam for receiveing
rupees 395: I0: annaes, being
the amount of soe much sold
at an QOutcry at five per Cent. 19: I2:

302; 12:

Carried forward - - Rupees ;583 71

/
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Rup: an:
Brought forward - - Rupees 1583: 7
Rup:
Sold for ready money, wizt,
16: Pallampose at 3: rupees
per peece - - - - 48
178: peeces of Chints at 3: rupees
per peece - . - - 534:
582: o

Summe totall Rupees  2165: 7

THE Diary (continued).

Melleeckzendy [Malik Zindi], the Governour of Hugly, son
to Mello-Cossim [Malik Kasim |, endcavoured all he could to
molest us and impede the Honourable Companyes business by
stopping our boates and seizing our goods and servants, and
detaineing them;! and among the rest, he seized the boates
that brought the Cloth from Santapore [Santipur] yesterday,
and refused to give Dusticks [dastak] or passes for any boates
to goe out. And this he had done for some time since, which
stoppage and Denyall of his provoked the young men who
were left in charge with the Companyes business here, whilst
the Councell were at Cassambazar,?to give him some advantage,
with which he endeavoured to justifie himselfe, all which being
considered with -the Councell, it was concluded best for the
Companyes Interest at this time to take up the difference with
a Present.3

November 13th, Munday.—Letters received from Ballasore,
dated the 6th Instant, adviseing that, after the change of the
Moone the 28: last moneth, there happened a very great storme
in that road, all the ships haveing binn drove from their anchors,
and lost most of their anchors and Cables and all their long
boates. The Survatt Merchant and the Companyes two Ketches,
the d#rivall and the Ganges, were forced to cut their mainmasts

U Malik Zindi, the nominal governor of ITugli, was virtvally his father's
representative.

? Henry Carpenter and John Byam seem to have been left in charge of Hugli
Factory, September to November, 1670.

# This only led to further troubles and exactions in the following year,
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by the board, and two Vessells the Ava Merchant and Marrigold !
that were freighted with the Companyes Saltpeter, were drove
out of the Roade and not heard of, The violence of the storme
being from ten or eleaven a Clock in the morning to six or
seaven in the evening; and if it had lasted a few houres longer,
it is sayd hardly any one of the ships had escaped. Praysed
be God for their deliverance from soe great Danger.

This day Monsier Erpin, the Captaine of the French Sloope
which tooke the King of Golcondahs ship out of Metchlepatam
Road .in March last,? came to our Factory and gave us an
account of what had passed with him since that action, wizt.,
That when he had taken the ship, he endeavoured to carry her
to Atcheen [Achin], but was-hindred by Contrary winds and
Streames. Afterward he would have gott her into Tenassaree
[ Tenasserim] or Pegu, but could not attaine either, being driven
up and downe by the streames and contrary winds untill, about
three and halfes monethes since, falling into the bottome of the
Bay [of Bengal] among the sands to the Eastwards neare to
the Arracan shoare, both ship and sloop drove upon a sand and
there broake to peices, and of 36: French and 27: Lasscarrs
that were with him, there was but himselfe and two more
liveing, fifty being dead with the stench of the rice that was
wett in the hold of the ship, haveing no Pumps to pump out
the water (the ship being new they were not put into her), and
those three which survived endured much hardship upon the
sands and on the shoare, but at last gott into the river of
Chattegom [Rogues River] and soe to Dacca, where presented
himselfe to the Nabob who, inquireing of his person and con-
dition, and being satisfied, gave him leave to goe where he
pleased, soe from thence he came to Hugly two dayes since.

This Day Nathaniell Whethames apparell etc. were sold at
an outcry as by the account apart.?

I These vessels belonged respectively to John Smith and Edward Reade.

2 ¢ Wee have . , . little of novelty . . . only that a French sloop from Pudi-
cherry has taken a good new ship of the King of Gulcondas out of Metchlepatam
Roade ; she was laden with Rice &ca. Eateables for Atchin, so he has now only
the Indulgence left’ (Fort St. George to Surat, 18th April, 1676, Factory Records,
Fort St. George, vol. xviit.),

% The ‘ OQutcry ' is among the collected papers at the end of Master’s Diary,
but is placed here for the sake of sequence.
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NATHANIELL WurTHAMS OUTCRY

An Accompt of Mr. Nathaniell Whethan's goods sold at Outery in
Hugly, the thirtcenth of November, 1676.

{Purchasers)

. Hervy

. Reade

. Harwar

. Guilliam

. Peachey

. Bonnell

. Douglas

. Carpenter
. Douglas

. Douglas

. Littleton
. Littleton
Mr.

Smith

Tom Porter
Franck

Mr.

Mr.

Oxinden

Threader

Chrs. Titford
[? Tifford]

Dawson

Tho: Porter

Mr.
Mr.
Mr.

Mr.
Mr.
Mr.
Mr.
Mr.

Bonnell
Clavell
Clavell

Reade
Clavell
Reade
Yale
Byam

One paire of Horsemans Pistolls -

One Rapier - -

One pairce of silk stoc kmgs

One case with 5: knives

One case with three penknives

Two China Teapotts - -

One paire of wooden shoes

One suite [change] of ribbon -

Eight silk Rammals tramal]

One suite of old ribbon

One peice of new ribbon

One peece of new ribbon

One remnant searlett ribbon -

Two remnants of ribhon . -

A parcell of old ribbon -

Four hankercherfes and neck-
clothes

Five combs, two (ombs [? and_]
brushes = - - - - -

One pair of silk stockings - -
Two printed bookes in quarto
Three bookes - - - -
Onc Bible - - -
One jugg and a Pewter l‘mklrd .
Three small voyders [baskets used
for collecting table scraps] -
Six Cambrick hankercheifes -
Four Cambrick Dt - - -
Five small hankercheifes - -
Six Neckclothes - - - -
Six Neckclothes - - - -

Carried forward -
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Mr. Douglas
Mr. Threader
Mr. Yale

Mr. Peachey
Mr. Clavell
Mr. Harwar
Mr. Harwar
Mr. Puckle
Mr. Sayon
Mr. Lodge

Agent [Master]

Agent
Still
Mr. Peachey

Franck

Mr. Clavell
Mr. Reade
Mr. Nurse
Mr. Oxinden

Mr. Nurse

John Lodge
Mr. Clavell
Mr. Littleton
John Lodge
Mr. Peachey
Mr. Peachey
John Poulter
Mr. Littleton
John Lodge
Mr. Nutse
Mr. Smith
Mr. Yale

Brought forward - -
Scaven Dt more - - - -
Eight Caps - - - -
Six small Hdndkcr(,helfes - -
Nine Caps - - - -
Six small Handkercher [5] - -
Foure paire of Sleeves - - -
Five paire of Holland Sleeves -
Seaven pair of Stockings -
Five paire of Breches - - -
Five Shirts - - - - -
One paire of sheets - - -
One Sheet - B - - -
Three Remnants of Callicoe -
Three wastcoates, three paires of
drawers - . - - -
Six Shirts - - -
Twelve Napkings and Towells
Nine Towells and Napkings - -
Foure Pillowbecrs [pillow cases] -
One remnant of Callicoe, and silk
Scarfe - - - - -
Two pair of Taced cuffs and three
Cravatts - - - - -
Foure pair of Gloves, one Cap &c.
Needles, Thread, and silk - -
One Coate, wastcoate and Breches
One Silke Gowne - - - -
One Leather Carpett [rug] - -
One Hatt band - - - -
One Irish plad - - - -
One new Hatt and band - -
One Leather Hatt Case and Brush
Two Pillowes - - - -
Three Quire of Paper - - -
A Table booke and Combe case etc.

Carried forward -
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. s, 4.
Brought forward - - 16: 16: 78
Mr. Peachey A Trunck with drawers . - o3 o
Mr. Peachey A Small Trunck - - - - oI o4
Mr. Harwar One Pint bottle of Brandy - -0 I o
In money halfc a Rupee - - o 1 1}
John Lodge One paire of Silver Buckles - -or 2 3t
More in money 4: rupees - -0 g o
17: I4: 3%
Rupees: An:
Mr. Reade 45 Peeces of Tuttenagg [tutenaga,
spelter], poiz maunds 10: 5% sold
at 25 rupees per maund - - 253 7
Oweing to Richard Dawson for a
swordhlade—1 Rup: 8 an:
Oweing to Robert Littleton for one
pair of silk stockings 12s., upon
accompt 3s., In all 15: shillings.
The Amount of thoese things sold at
an Outcry is I70i. T4s. 33d. at 2s.
per rupee makes - - - - I57 7
Rup: 4710: 142
Paid Richard Dawson 1: 8:
Paid Robert Littleton 15s. is rupees
6: 12:
Paid John Byam for receiveing 152:
rupecs at 5: per Cent, 7: 8:
Rup: 15 12:
Summe Totall Rup: 395: 2:

TuE Diary (continued).

November 16:—This day Letters were received from Cassam-

bazar and Rajamaul [Rajmahal’

, adviseing that the Governour

of Rajamaul would not yett suffer Mr. Knipe with the boate
and treasure to pass there without paying a new exacted duty
of 2: rupees per boate, whereupon the Councell mett and
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resolved to Coyne all the treasure at Rajamaul, and to supply
Pattana Factory with money by exchange; To order Mr.
Edwards to returne to Cassambazar to take charge of the
warehouse,! and Mr. Knipe to continue at Rajamaul to Looke
after the mintage of the treasure, but of this noe entry was
made in the Consultation booke.

November 17: Fryday.—The Dutch sent one of their Coun-
cell to the Governour of the Towne [Malik Zindi], desireing
leave to ship off the rice which they had bought. To whome
the Governour answered that the Nabob had given order that
noe rice should be shipt off, and therefore he could not give
them leave; whereupon the Dutchman replyed that it was
unreasonable to deny them-toship off the goods they had
bought before the order came, and therefore if he would not
give leave, they would carry it off without leave. The Governour
thereupon replyed, if they were minded to use force, he was
ready for that as they could be, and presently gave order to beat
his Drumms. The Dutchman rose up and went home, and the
Governour, haveing gott all his men together, mounted his
Elephant and marcht towards the Dutch Factory, but, upon
second thoughts, returned againe without goeing neare them.

The Honourable Companyes printed orders for the Christian
and sober comportment of their Servants, alsoe that for the
management of their affairs and keeping their bookes, and their
Indulgence of the 16th November, 1674, were all fixed on boards
and put up in the Hall and in the Office.

November 21th.—This afternoone Mr. Clavcll with myselfe and
others visitted the Dutch at their Factory, which is very large
and well built, with two Quadrangles. The Directore { Verburg]
was very obligeing, and shewed us the new built warehouses,
which are three very large, that make onc side of one of the
Quadrangles next to the River side. They are excellently well
timbred, which was all brought from Batavia, and pave[d] with
stone brought from the Coast [¢.e., Madras]. Alsoe he shewed
us other accomodations of their Factory, their Gardens, which
are very spatious, well kept, with Tarrass walks, and full [of]

1 The office of warehousekeeper belonged to the third at Kasimbazar, which
position Edwards now held,
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Lettice and good herbage. And adjoyneing to their Factory,
they have offices for all things ncedfull to them, as a Carpenters
yard with stores of good Timber brought from Batavia, a
Coopers yard where they make many Casks for the Pork which
they kill and Salt ap downe the river [at Baranagar |, a Smithes
forge, a Grannary, an apartment for a great many weavers,
where they have sctt up Loomes for the weaving of saile cloth,
and a feild to make ropes in.)  The workemen in these severall
offices are most of them Native Indians that have small wages,
as onc and a halfe or two annaes per diem, and a Hollander in
every office to oversee and direct them. They farme that part
of the Towne and the feilds next to their Factory of the Nabob.
In discourse with them about their business, they told us that
they had noc full orders from Batavia to breake with these
people, but to demand a Lack and a halfc of rupees of the
Nabob,? and though they had carryed some rice off by force,
yett they did it by frighting the people, themselves being afraid
to kill or wound themn. In a few dayes they intend to dispatch
two ships to Ceylon, and they threatned to goe [to] the Arra-
caners and take rice of them if they were denved here, which
they said these People much feared, Chittegom [Chittagong]
being lately destroyed by a Huarricane [and] an earthquake,
which place was formerly taken from the Arracaners by the
assistunce of the Dutch. Wiltfangh, the Admirall of their
Fleet, was sick and appeared not. They scemed to be cast
downe and not to like the face of their affaire.

November 23d, Thuvsday Fovemnoone and Afternoone.—Att a
Consultation,® Present: —— STREYNSHAM MastER, Esg.; Mg,
WarLTER CLAVELL ; MR, EnwaArD READE ; M. SaMuEL Hirvy.

Mr. Henry Carpenter signed a new Bond for zoooli. to the
Honourable Company as Factor, and nominated {or his security
at home,* Mr, Christopher Sparke, formerly Clarke to the Lord

t Compare Bowrey’s descr:ption of the Dutch factory at Hugli (Countries Round
the Bay of Bengal, pp. 167-160).

% The saum demanded was in compensation for the amount forced from them
to settle the affair of the banive’s widow in 1673,

* There is a duplicate copy of this Consultation in Factory Recovds, Hugli,
vol, i.

4 His securities, when elected writer in 1668, were his mother, Mrs, Lettice
Carpenter, and Henry Jones, of Keevil, Wilts (Court Minutes, vol. xxvi., fol. 172).
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Cheife Barron Turnner; Mr. John Jones, Steward to Sir Andrew

Richard [Riccard], late deceased.! The Bond beares date of

2d: June, 1674.2 Mr. John Byam, as Factor, signed a new bond

for zoooli. dated the 19th day of August, 1676,2 and named for

his security at home, Mr. John Balch, silk Throwster in Spittle-

feilds ; Mr. Wm. Power, Silkman in Cheapeside.®* Both which.
bonds were delivered to Mr. Clavell to be sent to the Honourable

Company by this shipping.

The goods of Mr. Josuah Darley and Wm. Calloway which
were sold at an outcry the 11th Instant, the Goods of Nathaniell
Whetham sold at an outcry the 13th Instant, the moneyes for
the proceed of the said goods is ordered to be brought into the
Honourable Companyes Cash-and advice thereof to be given to
the Honourable Company in the Letter to them.

Upon examination, it appearing to the Councell that William
Calloway deceased was indebted to Mr. Robert Douglas,
Chyrurgeon of the Eagle, the summe of 282: rupees, which he
lent to pay for four Chests of wine bought at Ballasore, for
which wine Ralph Harwar, late Chyrurgeon of this Factory,
owes to Wm. Calloway deceased the summe of 405: rupees,
The Councell did therefore order the 282: rupees to be paid to
Mr. Douglas upon account of Wmn. Calloway deceased.

The Papers relateing to Wm. Calloway and Nathaniel
Whetham deceased were delivered to Mr. Masters to carry up
to the Fort St. George.

Ralph Harwar, late Chirurgeon of this Factory, haveing put
in his petition to the Councell requesting that his sallary for
the time that he served here [from the end of 1672 to 1676],
which remaynes unpaid, might be now paid him, The Councell
thought fitt to grant his request, and doe order that the same

1 Sir Edward Turnor {or Turnour), 1617-76, was appointed Chief Baron of the
Exchequer, 23rd May, 1671. See Hutchinson, Notabls Middle Templars.

Sir Andrew Riccard was Governor of the East India Company 1660-6z. He
died on the 6th September, 1672, and was buried at S$t. Olave's, Hart Street, E.C.
His monument is in the north aisle of that church,

2 Carpenter’s five years as writer expired on the 20d June, 1674, and Byam's
on the 1g9th August, 1676.

* These were the same securities as those given at his election as writer in 1670
(Court Minutes, vol. xxvii,, fol. 69).
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be paid upon his produceing the account thereof, formerly
made up and signed by the Cheife and Councell.

Upon the Councells arrivall at this place from Cassambazar,
they found the Honourable Companyes business here impeded
and molested by the Governour Melleekzinda [Malik Zindi],
sonn of Melleeck Cossim [Malik Kasim], he haveing refused
the usnall present, and denyed to give any Dusticks or
Passes for boates, stopt and seized some with goods and
imprisoned the relations of the Companyes Bannian and Vaqueel
(baniya and vakil], which troubles have occasioned the Councells
stay here longer then otherwise would have binn, they finding
it requisite to compose and end the same before they left
Hugly, that no future Lett or-hindrance may be to the Com-
panyes business at this season, when the speedy dispatch of
their goods is of absolute neeessity for the good of their affairs.
In order whereunto, Mr. Clavell and Mr. Hervy went to the said
Governour at his house, and many applications have binn since
made, but nothing could prevaile upon his ill nature, his private
demand being 500: rupees, and with less then that he would not
be satisfied, which the Councell haveing severall times debated
and considered, at last, out of necessity, for the good of the
Companyes affairs, did condecend to present him five half peices
of ordinary broad cloth, whereof foure for the Governour and one
for his Duan [duwdn], besides the accustomary yearly presents,
which five peices of cloth they were prevailed with to accept,
and thereupon the Governour hath releast the embargoes
[stoppages, prohibitions] and freed the persons he had in prison,
and the accustomary present|s| will now be accepted, and there-
fore they are ordercd to be given as usually.

And whereas, after the Governours refuscing to give passes
to boates, there was some sent away without passes, whercof
one Laden with bettlenutts by John Byam, which he, with
others that he gott to his assistance and help, unadvisedly went
to fetch away by force, of which action the Governour made
great pretence to justifie his undue procecdings by refuseing
passes and stopping of bhoates and goods. The Councell,
haveing taken said action into consideration and the prejudice
the Honourable Companyes affairs have suffered thereby, and
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that others might take warning how they ingage in the like for
the future, have amerced the said John Byam in the summe of
one hundred rupees, to be paid into the Honourable Companyes
Cash, being a third of the value of the 5: half peices of cloth,
the extraordinary Present.

By reason of the late disaster befallen the Honourable
Companyes sloopes and the other vessells fraughted hence with
saltpeter by the stormes which happened in Ballasore Roade
the 28th past, according to advices thence, soe that now there
is great need of vessells to carry the saltpeter and other goods
hence aboard the ships, It is therefore thought fitt that all, or
the greatest part of the remaineing saltpeter be Laden on board
of Boraes [bhar, a lighter] (or boates of this Country) soe soone
as possible that they may be dispatched hence upon the change
of the moone.

A muster [sample] of Tincall [native borax] haveing binn
shewed to the Councell, they thought fitt to bargaine for
130: mds! at 13: rupees per maund, bazar weight,® to pay one
halfe in Quicksilver at 3} rupces per seer, and the other halfe
in ready money.

Ram Jebunn [Rdm Jiwan|, a braman of Santapore, haveing
produced musters of Mullmulls and offered to furnish 8o0: peices
of the same, vizt., 300: peices of 32: covads long and two broad,
at Rupees 54 per peice; 500: peices of 32 covads long and two
broad, at Rupces 4% per peice; And in leiu thereof to take
# in goods and § in money, the § in goods {to] be as followeth,
vizt., 3: peices ordinary broad cloth at rupees 4: per yard, The
remainder of the § devided into ecquall parts, one part thereof
in lead, at rupees 84 per maund, and the other part in Quick-
silver and Vermillion ; The Quicksilver at rupees 3} per seer,
and The Vermillion at rupees 4: per seer. The Councell
thought fitt to accept the same and contracted with him
accordingly.

The Councell haveing sent for musters of severall sorts of

1 The amount of tinkdl ordered by the Company in 1676 was 280 man.

? According to Bowrey, the weight of the Hugli man was 70 pounds at this
period. Marshall, however, says it was 73 pounds. See Countries Round the Bay
of Bengal, p. 217, and footnote 3.
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gaods procurrable in and about Hugly, they thought fitt to
make choice of severall sorts of them to send home by these
ships for a tryall.

The Councell being informed that the Mother of De Soito,
the Portuguez {who hath lately put the Company to great
charge and Trouble at Dacca upon an old pretence),® was
a few dayes since gon to Dacca to gett into the Nabobs Mahall
[mahal, seraglio] to renew her suit and thercby endeavour to
reverse the Nabobs order of haveing that business determined
in Ballasore, Thereupon, Letters were dispatched away to
Dacca to mind them there to be watchfull of her designes.
And alsoe orders were sent to Ballasore to value the horses?
and send them away for Daecea, that the Present may not
longer be detarded. And Sumuell Hervy, who is appointed
second to reside at Dacca, was ordered to goe hence thither,
within fifteen dayes at farthest, and in the interim to gett
together the remainder of the Present not yett sent to Dacea,
which was appointed for the Nabob and his Duan in Consulta-
tion of the 22d: July last.* And ’tis [? not| thought convenient
he should be there long before the Present, which hath binn soe
often promised ; and yett by reason they doe now expect the
Horses, they could not be sooner sent after the raines, the
wayes not being passable.

And whereas, in the Consultation of the 22d: July, The
Present was limitted to 3000: rupees prime cost, it is now left
to Mr. Hervy to endeavour what possibly he can to abate of
the other perticulers in Consideration of the Horses, and
that he doe not present more then two of the three Horses,
if he can avoyd it, though all the three are sent, that there
may not be a pretence of keeping the best and sending the
worst.

Mr. Walter Clavell was desired to draw up Instructions to
Mr. Hervy and Mr. Nedham for the management of the Honour-

1 This was done in accordance with paragraph 49 of Master's Commission.
See ante, vol. i., p. 216.

2 A full account of the De Soito business follows the Consultation of
25th November.

3 See ante, vol. i., Consultation of 14th October, p. 399.
* There is no copy of this Consultation extant.
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able Companyes business at Dacca, and alsoe directions to Mr.
Reade for the business in Hugly in the absence of the rest of
the Councell.

Mr. Hervy representing to the Councell that the Companyes
house in Dacca is very streight [confined] and not capable to
receive and secure the Honourable Companyes goods, by reason
of severall thatcht hovells within and round about the compound,
which are very dangerous in respect of fire, which often happens
in Dacca, The Councell did therefore order that brick buildings
be forthwith erected to secure the Companyes goods, not exceed-
ing one thousand rupees for this yeare, and that due account
be kept of the Perticulers thereof.

November 24th—The Dutch Directore [ Verburg] sent Fensill!
his second and others of their Councell to the Governour [Malik
Zindi] to make a private offer for accomodating their differences
with him, and Fensill goeing somewhat neare to the Governour
to wisper him in the ear, the Governour was soe offended thereat,
being his Ramazan or fasting moneth, now neare expired, which
made him the more nice [fastidious], that he called him giddy
[gadhd, an ass], and bid him keep farther off. Thereupon
Fensell called him, the Governour, Bettychud [betichut], which
the Governour returned to him againe.? Then Fensell, with
the Dutchmen, rose up and went away. The Governour alsoe
went into his chamber, but presently [immediately] sent after
the Dutch, desireing them to returne back to him, which they
refused to doe, but went to their Factory.

November 25th—In the afternoon the Governour came to
our house to give us a vissitt, staying not above halfe an houre.
We gave him no other entertainement then Betle and Rose-
water. He pretended great kindness, and made faire promises
of the Continuance of his freindship. He is a very young man,
about ninetecn and twenty yeares old, and as ill lock’t as he is
evill in his naturall inclination and disposition. He rode into
the Factory upon an Elephant, and came in as much pomp as
he could make.

1 See ante, vol. i, note on p. 327. In 1681 Fentsell is mentioned as *Dutch

provisional Director ’ (Factory Records, Hugli, vol. iii.).
2 The whole story is an extraordinary reflection on the manners of the time.
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November 25th, Saturday Forenoone.— Att a Consultation,!
Present ;—STREYNSHAM MASTER, Es0.; MR. WALTER CLAVELL;
MR. EbpwarD READE ; MR. SAMUELL HuRrvy.

There being houses standing to and fro in Hugly, which are
inhabited by Englishmen, some in the Companyes service, and
some freemen, there being none of the freemen in Towne at
present but John Norton, The Councell thought fitt to send for
him and acquaint him with the Honourable Companyes late
orders :—* That noe Englishmen, but such as are in the Com-
panyes service, arve to be permitted to reside in any part of
India but only at Fort St. George or Madraspatam.” To which
he exprest his willingness to obey, but haveing debts standing
out, he desired some time to-cleare himselfe of the Countrey,
which the Councell did not think fitt to deny bim at this time,
being the first warneing.2

There being a spott of ground part of the Compound of the
Companyes Factory, which lyes conveniently neare the river
side, it was thought fitt to repaire and enclose it, and to sett up
Bungales {bangla. a one storied thatched house] or Hovells for
a habitation for all such English in the Companyes service as
belong to their sloopes and vessells (by name of the Bundar
[bandar, quay, harbour |) ‘as there is at Surratt, and those that
now live out in houses of their owne, by degrees to be brought
in within that Compound, and all others that shall come here-
after to live within the same, and to be allowed to build such
accomodation as they shall desire, if they be marryed; and all
persons soe liveing to be under the inspection of the Purser-
marine, and to live under such orders as they shall receive from
time to time from the Cheife and Councell.

¥ There is a duplicate copy of this Consultation in Fuctory Records, Hugli,
val, i.

3 Early in 1657 Norton made common cause with Richard Moseley against the
Company. For ‘going to the Durbar and takeing out Dusticks to goe to Dacca
and abuseing the Company and their servants ' they were imprisoned in Balasor
Factory in March, 1677. Malik Zindi made a raid on the factory, carried off
Moseley and Norton. and kept them in confinement for eight months, hoping to
extort a large sum from the English by threatening to refer the case to the
Nawab, Matters were eventually arranged by an appeal to Malik Kasim, and
the two men were given up on the 3rd November, 1677. * Norton came deadly
sick,' and died ‘ of a flux ' four days later (Factory Records, Hugli, vol. 1.).
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And the old Factory! lyeing by the river side, being a very
convenient place for the reception of the Honourable Companyes
Saltpeter, Lead, and other gross and bulky Comodityes, That it
is the Honourable Companyes Interest and advantage to keep
it in repaire, and the banck well fenct from the encroachments
of the Freshes [freshets, floods], and there to build some con-
venient place to lay up stores belonging to the sloopes and
vessells.  Wherefore it was thought fitt that the said repairs be
put in execution before the next raines, the last Freshes have-
ing taken away great part of the Banck, and the building of
a new watchouse (if this should wash downe) would be of great
expence.

And by reason that the Cheife and Councell in the Bay will
from henceforward reside in this factory of Hugly, where there
is a want of accomodations and necessary apartments for soe
many married persons,? upon a Surveigh of the buildings, it was
judged necessary to remove the cooke roome, it standing incon-
venient and being covered with thatch was alsoce dangerous,
and to build another with brick to secure the whole, and to sett
up necessary apartments to make the Factory capable of acco-
modating four marryed persons of the Councell, and alsoe to
make a Penthouse to preserve the house to the Southward;
and which are wanting the most hecessary, an office, a Councell
Chamber, and a place for the Registers to be kept in, out of
two of the five upper roomes, all which the Councell thought
fitt to be done out of hand, and that it be managed with all
frugallity, at present judging it may not exceed 1200: rupees,
besides the usuall and necessary repairations of the Factory,
which the late storme hath much dammaged, by blowing the
thatch of the walls.

And there being many trees about the house, which shaded
the ground and kept it moist, and besides have harboured
vermine, they were ordered to be cut downe that the aire

1 The ‘old Factory' was abandoned, and the buildings found by Master
erected in 1664-65. See Bowrey, Countries Round the Bay of Bengal, p. 170 et seq.

? Seven years previously Bridges had urged the enlargement of Hugli Factory,
which, *¢thongh the most capatious . . . containes but seven lodging roomes

besides the Cheif and seconds lodgings and the writeing office* (0.C., No. 3344,
Letter to Fort St. George, 11th September, 1669).
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might have freer passage and the heat of the sunne keep the
earth dry.

There being severall Merchants of this place that offered to
buy Lead for ready money, The Councell ordered soe much
should be delivered as they desired at! rupees per maund, ex-
pressing in the warehouse bookes the partyes names that
buy it.

The orders and Instructions drawn up by Mr. Clavell for
Mr. Reade etc. in Hugly and Mr. Hervy etc. in Dacca,? were
Read and approved. A Letter to Cassambazar was also read
and approved.

Mr. Samuell Hervy, his paper of the state of the business of
De Soito, as he was ordered in Consultation October the fift
last, was read and approved to be a true relation of that affair,
and ordered to be sent to the Honourable Company by these
ships.?

The usuall presents being now accepted by the severall
Officers of this Towne and all business in a quiett and currant
posture, It’s resolved that Mr, Masters and Mr. Clavell, with
their assistants and attendants, doe make all the hast con-
venient to Ballasore, in pursueance to the dispatch of the ships
and other the Honourable Companyes affairs there.

Tue Srtate AND REeration or De Sorro's BusiNess,
ORDERED BY THE CHEIFE AND COUNCELL TO BHE
DRAWNE UP BY SAMUELL HEervy.

In the moneth of September, 1675, Pasquall De Soito, Sonn of
Juan Gomer [Gomez] De Soito, former[ly] a Merchant of Hugly,
came to Dacca to complaine to the Nabob of great injustice
done his father by the English, who, on the yeare 1651
[January, 1652], tooke on Freight a great quantity of Cinnamon
for his accompt, carried [it] to Persia on the Ship May Flower,
there sold it in their Factory, and never since paid him more

1 No amount is given in the original.

2 See ante, Consultation of 23rd November.

# The ' State and Relation of De Soito’s business,” which is among the collected
papers at the end of Master's Diary, is placed after this Consultation.

VOL. II. 4
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then rupees 500: though the goods produced to the value of
6000: rupees.}

This was the Common complaint, though yett noe complaint
had binn made to the Nabob. De Soito endeavoured first, ere
he appeared publicquely in the Durbar, to make as many Freinds
as was possible, in doeing which tw[o] monethes were elapsed.
Mr. Robert Elwes then Cheife, and myselie second in Dacea,
useing all meanes to dive into the matter, were at last by some
about him acquainted with his pretences and their ground, and
gott a sight of some of his papers, among which was one that
seemed more pertinent then the rest, that was written in
Portuguez and signed by [Thomas] Billidge and William
Blake,* wherein advice was-given the said Juan Gomez De
Soito, then in Hugly, that they had payd rupees s00: for his
accompt to Domingo Gensalvez in Ballasore.

About the 1z2: November, 675, the said Pasquall de Soito
complained to the Nabob in manner aforesaid, and the
14: Dt Mr. Elwes and myselfe advised thereof to Mr. Walter
Clavell etc. Councell, as appeares at large by th[at] our letter.®

The Hearing, Examination and conclusion of th{e] business
was by the Nabob forthwith committed to his Duan, Ramunde-
loll {dzwan, Rai Nanda Lalj, before whome severall dayes, many
holurs] contests and arguments where (sic) made on both sides,
wee indeavouring still to dismiss the business of that chargeable
Durbar, and forbearing direct answers, urged that wee knew
nothing of the truth thereof, requesting it might be sent to
Ballasore and inquired into there, where wee knew our Freinds
greater and power greater, and Durbar less. In the meane
time, orders were desired and advices given of the said pro-
ceed[ings], as appeares by our Letter, November the 24th, 1675,
and after the Death of Mr. Robert Elwes, which happened

1 The Mayflower and another vessel, whose name does not appear, sailed from
Balasor in January, 1652, under Henry Cherry, for Persia. Bad weather com-
pelled the ships to put in for some months at Goa, and they did not reach Gombroon
{Bandar Abbas) until the 11th November, Cherry died at Spahaun (Ispahan) on
the 25th September, 1653, leaving his papers in a ‘ confused’ state (0.C., Nos,
2285, 2292, 2339).

2 I have failed to trace this document.

4 None of the letters mentioned by Hervy as having been written and received
in connection with this case can now be found.
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December the 4th following, by my letters dated December the
#th and 25th and January the 12th, 1675-6,

Mr. Walter Clavell about this time goeing to Fort 5t. George,
did then, with the rest in Councell, declare Mr. Mathias
Vincent Cheife till further orders, to whome thence forward,
till Mr. Clavells returne,* T advised all passages of the Honour-
able Companyes business in Dacca.

The z2d January, 1675-6, Mr. Vincent etc. sent their Gennerall,
to which Februury the first I replyed. The following 28th
January Mr. Vincent ete, orders came concerning De Soitos
business, To which February the gth following I made answer,
at which time De Soitos was silent, refused to take the ordered
Phyrwanna [parwana], but haveing made large promises to the
Duans Secretary if his suite was not dismissed, and likewise by
meanes of Nicola a [de] Paiva, a Portuguez, who farmes the
Nubobs customes, imploting Raynundelolls favour, with his
premission adressed himselfe to the Nubob againe, Pettitioning
him that the Cozzee |kazi, judge | might heare and determine
his suite, and that he be not ordered to goe to Ballasore, where
through our Potency he has small hopes of justice. The Nabob
then granted his Pettition. Al which 1 advised by letter the
17th February, 1675-0.

Finding myselfe thus frustrate in a matter that looked
promising but just before, I was not long learning the occasion
thereof, which was the Duans craft, who seeing us besett with
powerfull and resolute enemyes with pretence enough to peruse
[? pursue]a Complaint, vizt., a debt acknowledged by the English
and part thereof paid, now resolves to fish something out of these
ourtroubles,and thercfore demands a Piscash [ peshkash, obligatory
gift] of us, and, to shew he was in earnest, stoped three boates
of the Honourable Companyes Brimstone and one with treasure
at the customme house, as by said letter appeares, and my
severall of the zs5: February to Mr. Vincent ete. and Mr,

Reade etc.

1 did what possible T could to procure their discharge, and
effected the same some time after with small expence to the

1 Clavell remained at Fort St. George until March, 1676, when he returned to
Bengal, accompanied by Major Puckle.
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Duans Mussuddies [mutasadds, accountant] as after is advised;
but thus much however was enough to lett us know what the
Duan expected, and then, in Defence of De Soitos business,
I applyed myselfe to the Cozzee, who upon expectation to be
gratified by me, ordered him to produce his originall papers
whereupon he grounded his demands.

The papers wrote in Portuguez were then produced, of which
I gott coppyes before the Cozzee, and are the same that goe
herewith, No. 1. to 4! at which time, according to [Mr.]
Vincents etc, orders, of January the 28th, 1675-6, I laid the
stress of the matter on Isaacson’s being or not being our Cheife
in Ballasore,? and accordingly Wacka [waka’a, news] or testi-
monyes thereof was there signed by us both, and streightwayes
I urged all possible speed to be made with Mahazar [mahgar,
attested document] or Certificates from Hugly and Ballasore,
by which it might appeare that noe such person as Isaackson
had ever binn Cheife, all which at large appeares in my letter,
dated February the 1gth and 25th, and March the 5th to Mr.
Edward Reade etc. in Hugly.

About the 16th March arrives a Mahazar from Hugly, but of
little use, because not attested by more then one Mussellman
[musalman), as appeares by mine of the 18th ditto to Mr.
Reade etc. And now De Seitos produces for himselfe two
wittnesses for to sweare that Isaackson was our Cheife, the one a
Portuguez, the other a Mogull; soe that hereby 1 perceived
that De Soito had made great Interest with the Cozzee, and
feared what before was reported, that a large summe of money
was promised him on the recovery of this his demand. There-
fore, for reasons urged in my [letters of] 18th and 23rd of
March to Mr. Vincent etc., I proposed the sending the wittnesses
in person to confront his, viva voce.

About this time came the Ballasore Mahazar, which, though
not without a flaw which gave matter of trouble and dispute,
was much hetter then the former, as being attested by the
Shabunder [shah-bandar, harbour master] and other Mussellmen,

1 See infra for the copies.

2 William Isaacson was the first of the Company's chaplains at Fort St. George.
There is no proof existing of his holding any official appoeintment at Balasor.
See Penny, The Church in Madras, pp. 20-33, 37, 38, 661.
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besides divers creditable Hindue Merchants ; vett, by reason of
the Cozzee[’s] carriadge, it was then feared that wee were like
to receive little benifitt thereby, as by my [letter of] 27th March
to Mr. Reade ete.

But, shortly after, plainly perceiveing that the Cozzee
resolved to give sentence in De Sottos favour, T attempted
to bring the Cheife wittnesscs to a recantation, which T knew
the only meanes likely to put a stop to his carcer, and at last
became successfull therein, as by my advices Aprill the s5th,
166, to Mr. Vincent, and Aprill the roth, to Mr. Reade etc.
Notwithstanding all with [? which], the Cozzee was soe fix[ed]
to his resolution and promises made the Fringee [ favangt,
Indian-born Portuguese], and;-as I heard, did privately soe
instruct and advise them, that then 1 feared, and in said letter
wrote, that our Extreamce and only remedy would be to buy
justice of the Nabob himselfe,

De Soito, after this Slurr, sought out for another falce
witnesse, who was procured.  As much of which as I then could
informe myselfe off was advised Mr. Clavell etc. Aprill the
21st, 1676.

But now the Designe was laid Deeper then ever, for De Soito
and his instruments had gott together divers Mogulls and
others, who were all claimers of considerable adventures in the
aforementioned ship that voyage,! many of whome as 1 after-
wards learned he privately brought to the Cozzee, who, with
large promises wrought soc with him, that by a new stratagem
of proposeing a Composition, he indeavoured to render us
equally answerable to all pretenders, which, as farr as 1 then
understood, was advised Mr. Vincent cte. Apnill the 25th. But
my feare of the ill consequences that might attend compounding
the business was such, and my doubts which way was best to
apply myselfe for putting an end to this perplexity soe many,
that, in said letter, 1 then declared 1 should ingage in noe
farther charge and expence without positive and ample orders
thereof from the Cheife etc., soe that, till answer of the said

1 That the cargo of the Muyflower, under llenry Cherry, consisted chiefly of

goods belonging to ‘ private traders’ is shown by a letter from Surat to Persia,
dated 4th October, 1652 (0.C., No. 2285).
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letter came, I stirred little, only advised in what posture the
matter was, by letter dated May 1oth to Mr. Clavell etc.
Councell, and confirmed the same by another, May 22th, 1676.

The 31: of May I received a Gennerall from Mr. Clavell etc.
Councell in Ballasore, dated the 15th of said moneth, impower-
ing me fully to act in De Soito’s business as by said letter
appeares, wherein 1 was not stinted to any summe, neither was
directed to any perticuler way or meanes other then my owne
knowledge of circumstances led and instructed me; so it was
there advised as their oppinions that noe money was to be paid
De Soito, though the charge otherwise should be extraordinary.
In persueance of which orders, T began to deale with the
Cozzee and offered him by degrees up to Rupees 6oo: to send
the matter to Ballasore, and would have consented to anything
more that he should have demanded, rather then not speed in
my desires, well perceiveing that it lay in his power to represent
the business as he pleased, and if to our disadvantage, the
Nabobs order thereupon was to bee dreaded.

But nothing I could doe prevailed with him, haveing
cherished soe large hopes of gaine from De Soito, the present
Plantife, and the other Mogulls etc:, who were afterwards to
complaine against us; soe that speedyly the cause was brought
to a hearing before the Nabob, wherc the Cozzee urged the
matter depended on Isaacksons being or not being our Cheife,
and that he was our Cheife De Soito hath proved by wittnesses,
amplifieing it by divers aggre[vlating circumstances, as that he
was a poore man, and the English rich and powerfull, and had
kept him out of his money many yeares; that he had proved
by severall papers his adventure was sent in our ship and sold
in Persia, and therefore 500: rupees as part thereof had binn
paid him, neither did wee deny the same.

To which our Vackeel replyed that, whether rich or poore,
wee were accountable only for our owne debts and alwayes
paid them without contest; that the Company had never
received his goods, nor paid him any money, nor was Isaackson
our Cheife at any time, as by Mahazars then produced did
appeare.

But the Cozzee, very resolute and violent against us, began
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to insinuate to the Nabob that he might doe as he pleased, but
where positive wittnesses were produced as here, negative
Mahazars import nothing according to Sherah [shar@] or the
law of Mahomet; whercupon the Nabob ordered our Vackeel
to consent to the payment of the money as the Cozzee had
judged, which, according to his instructions in such case given
by me, did indeavour to wave by milder expressions any positive
promise or reply, till, often pressed thereto by the Nabob, he
plainly answered that wee lived and traded in his Countrey by
his favour, and that our Factoryes, Persons, and Estates were
in his power, but we could never consent to the payment of
what was unjustly demanded of us. Whereupon the Vackeel
was much beaten and disgracefully used by the Nabobs order,
and thrust out of his pretence [? presence] by command that
the money adjudged De Soito by the Cozzec should speed’ly
be paid, which was rupees 5300:

When the Vackeel had brought this unhappy news, I began
to consider and take advice which way possible to avoide the
storme, which threatned not only the payment of this, but like-
wise all other demands on foot which would forthwith be made
and pretended due by falce wittnesses, of whome there is noe
want in Dacca, perticulerly two more considerable which were
rupees 36000:.. And, well cousidering the double necessity 1
was under of doeing the best for the Honourable Companyes
Interest and obscrving the orders given in this case by the
Cheife and Counsell, I concluded the casiest and best way left
was, in case of necessity, rather to bribe the Nabob and other
great persons neare him, whereby he and they were like to be
oblidged, then to incurr his displeasure by a stiff but unavailei-
able obstinacy, to the hazzard of the safety of our persons and
the Honourable Companyes Estate in Dacca and every where
elce within his dominions. But before I determined whome to
address to first, 1 thought it needfull to goe to the Durbarr
myselfe, hopeing to receive some more just and reasonable
sentence from the Nabob upon a second reinforcement of the
equity of our cause, and accordingly I did, takeing with {mc]
James Price, sent to Dacca about this business and then newly
arrived, but found alsoe [? all the] passages soe block’t up by De
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Soito’s large promises to all, that my access to the Nabobs Ranga
Mahall [rangmahal, reception-room], where he is usually seen
Publickely, was with great difficulty, and there all persons in
office soe prejudiced, and the Nabob himselfe soe misinformed,
that imediately upon mention of that business, the Nabob
permitted not any deffence to be made on our sides, but sayd
it was a Concluded business, and asked why the money was
not paid, and forthwith did a second time order the same, and
my person to be committed to the Catwall [kotwd!, police] and
other ministers of justice for execution thereof.

Under which disgrace and restraint I thought it fitt to put in
practice what before I designed, and haveing first dealt with
the Catwall and Ameen [amin, judge] 1 proceeded to Secure
the Mahall [palace] Interest, by meanes of one of the Eunuchs
of the Nabobs Treasury (rupees 2000:), in which Mellick Cossim
[Malik Kasim], then in Dacca much befreinded us, and then
addressed to the Hakem [fakim, physician], Munshy [munshi,
secretary |, Arzbeague [‘arzbeg?, usher], and the other inferiour
officers, and accompts of all which charges goes herewith.

By which meanes, to the admiration of all that heard it, the
Nabobs order was reversed, and promisc made us to have the
matter examined and concluded in Ballasore, according as we
have [? had] desired, advice whereof in geunerall was given by
myselfe and Mr, Fitch Needham June the 17th, 1676, and [to] the
end that De Soito might have noe meanes left nor Councell given
from the Cozzee and his officers, they were likewise presented,
and of our enemyes made our Freinds, as by our letter dated
June 19: 1676.

In Pursueance of an order of Consultation of the 5th October
last, this state and relation of De Soito’s affaire was drawne up
and presented the Councell In Hugly the 25th November, 1646,
per me, SAMUELL Hervy.
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AccoMPT oF CHARGES UroN DE Soirto’s BUSINESS AT
Dacca, Jung, 1676,

A perticuler accompt of the chavges of presenting the Nabob and
divers other officers and great Persons, to procure his ovder to
be reversed, after it had binn given twice for the payment of
De Soito’s dewmands, and that Samucll Hervy was committed
to custody till I xecution thereof.

Broadcloth Ordinary Presents, vizt.,
yards

5: To Atcharah [Achraj], Kings Munshy [munshi].
10: To Bagoandas, Muttsudie [Bhagwandas, muta-
saddi, clerk].
10: To Sybram, Muttsudie [Shivram, mutasaddi].

5 To Mahamood a Shroof [ Mahmid Ashraf], Rang
Mahall Mirda [rangmahal mirdah, o sergeant
in the hall of audience].

194 To Raymumdelolls [Rai Nanda Lal] Porters,
Chubdaars [chobddr, macebearer] cte. for
admission at all times to him.

4“9% Estimated in Rupees 3: per yard - - - 148 8
Scarlett Presented, vigt.,
yards

3} To [the] Meiz Tozuck [mer tusak, master of the
ceremonies | of the Nabobs Rang Mahall [rang-
mahal, hall of andience]l.

3% To Sybram, Muttsudie, aforesaid.

6% Estimated in Rupees 8: per yard - - - 54.

Fine Green Presented, vizt.,
yards
2: To [the] Meiz Tosuck aforesaid, estimated 8:
Rup: - - - - - - - - 16:

Carried forward - - ;_18:_8:
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Brought forward - - 218: 8

Cash, Vizt.,

Paid into the Nabobs Treasury - - 2000:
Batta of [exchange on] Ditto money

and other usuall charges - - 30:
To Mellick Cossim [Malik Kasim] -  so00:
To the Nabobs wife, paid in her Mahall

[palace] - - . - 2000:
To the Eunuch that procured that

Interest - - - - zoo:
To Bussurg Omeed Chaan [Buzurg

Umed Khan], the Nabobs Son . - 1000:
To Ditto Duan [diwdn, steward] for

access and acceptance - 200:

To the Cattwall [kofwal] and Ameen
[amin] of the Citty [7.e., chief pohce

and civil officials} - - - 600:
To the Nabobs Jassoalls [? jaswdl, body
guardj? - - - 100:

To Acharash Munshy [Achra) 11mnshz]
our Freind to the R'ly [Rii Nanda

Lal] - - - - 300:
To Hackim Mdhmood Hossim [lmkmn
Mahmiid Hussain] - - 300t
To Ditto Petesdutt [? for Peles
(=Balig) Datt] - - 200:
To Gourdasse [Gaurdas], the N’lbObS
Arzbeague [farzbeg?] - - - 500:
To Bagoandas, Muttsudic [Bhag-
wandas, mutasaddi | - - 50t
Wine 2: pottles of Canary to M[illk]
Cossim [Kasim] - - - 6: 8:
Carried forward - - 8186: 8:
Carried forward - - 218 8

i Jaswal is not in the dictionaries, but Persian jugsa, the body, has been
corrupted in Hindustani into justs, power, strength,
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Brought forward - - 218 &
Brought forward - - 8180: &
Ditto to divers Nabobs rayes [rdi,
officer] and Chubdaars - - - 20
To the Cozzee [kazi]| and his Mushrife
[mushrif, accountant] - - - 6oo:
To Chubdaars and Mirdaars [mirdah,
sergeant, petty officer] of the Durbar
[Court] : - . - - 150: 8gr1: §:

g130:!

CoprYy oF THE PORTUGUEZ PAPERs ReraTEING TO Di
Soiro’s BusiNgss.

No. 1

The Indovcements. Coppy of Mr. Henry Cherries obligation to
Joan Gomez De Soito.  Dated the 28th December, 1051,

Por este por my a Sinada comfeco. En Henrique Chare Ser
Verdade embarcar Jodo Gomez de Soito Portugs: morador neste
Bandell pesolimpo Xahabad vinte maos de canella, maos d’este
Bandell pesolimpo som estiva ne pataxo mayo flor deq: he
Senhore O Mestre Bridgman Evemq: non por Capitdo equall
com offavour de Dseste Presente moncio de Janeiro de 1652:
fus embora Viagem pera a Persia Porto de Comardo aquall
canelha vay ida por vinda correndo a risco do ditto Senho Jodo
Gomez de Soutto do ditto barccat he tornar a este gate de
Ugulim ema entregow pa tha benificiar eo procedido trarey
conforme sua sembrance compontualidade comoq fosse fatomen
edella des contrarey os fretes a oito tangas cada mdo depezo-
limpo edes contrarey mas a respondencia q” montarem osditos
fretes a Resiio decorente edons por centa como dens Melevario
port de Comorio ecisto Semdindanem em baracio nen hum
cportudo 6a Sinadito passar navardade the dey este pera sua
gaurda eminiha lembranca feito neste Bandell de Xahabad oje
28th de Decembro de 1651: annes. Hen: CHERRY.

L The additions are incorrect, The total amounts are 8956: 8: and g174: 8:,
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(Translation.)

By this signed by me I Henrique Chare [Henry Cherry] acknowledge
it 1o be the truth that Jodo Gomez de Soito, Portuguese resident in this
bandel! of Xahabad [Shahdbad), has embarked from this bandel
twenty maos [maunds] of cinnamon net weight without stowage in the
pinnace Mayo Flor [Muyflower], the owner of which is Master Bridg-
man,2?and in which I am going as captain, and which with the favor of
God this present monsoon of January 1652 is duly making a voyage to
Persia to the port of Comarfio [Gombroon], the which cinnamon goes
to go and return, ronning at the risk of the said Senhor Joio Gomez de
Soutto in the said vessel until she returns to this gate [ghdl, landing-
place] of Ugolim [Hugli], and he intrusted it to me to employ it for
his benefit, and the proceed I shall bring back in conformity with his
memorandum with punctuality as if it were my property, and from it I
shall deduct the freightage at cight tangas® for each mdo of net weight,
and shall deduct besides the respondentia that the said freightage
shall amount to, at the rate of forfy-two per cent. when God shail
bring me to the port of Comorao, and this without any doubt or
ambiguity, and in order that all the abovesaid be carried out in truth, T
have given him this for his keeping and my reminder. Done in
this bandel of Xahabad foday, 28th December, 1651. HEN: CHERRY.*

No. z.
A Portuguez Testimony for Manoell Gomes de Soito, 1653.°

Eu Gasper De Breu Cazada emorador neste Bandell de
Xahabad fuy o anno de 51: embarcado nobrarco q’ foy pera
a Persia emq’ foy per Cupitdo Henriqui Cherry de q’ ere Sehora
ce metre Gabricll Boughton e Bridgman edespoise deto marmos
cochinn egoa fomez a Persia cla vendeo o ditto Henriqui Cherry
a cannella de Senhor Jodo Gomez de Soito per minto bom
precoe a mio de lapor corenta ¢ Sinco abassecs ebota hue mio
daquy la’ des maos algua couza mais equando Eu vim commune

t Bandel, the ancient settlement of the Portuguese, a mile above the town of
Hugli, was granted to them in 1633. See the Imperial Gazetteev of India, new
edition, s.v. Hooghly.

¥ James Bridgeman was Chief in the Bay of Bengal, 1650-53. See Wilson,
Early Annals of Bengal, vol. i., p. 381.

3 The tanga at this date was worth about 6d. See the Indian Antiquary,
vol, xxvi., p. 235 et s¢q., and Yule, Hobson-Jobson, s.v. Tanga.

4 T am indebted to the late Mr. Donald Ferguson for this and the following
translations of the Portuguese papers connected with De Soito’s case,

% There is another copy of this ¢ Testimony' among the India Office Recovds,
catalogued as 0.C., No, 2341. It contains even more copyist's errors than the
version preserved by Master.
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fato edenimhas partes ficava odito Henriqui Cherry na {feitoria
mto: doente eja estava pagodas fretes aoitotgas por mio eda
respondencea des fretes a corenta edons per Cento edos dereitos
ades per Cento Eu nfo trouxe este deinhero per mio levar or
dun de Senhor Jodo Gomez de Soutta [equando Cheguey a
Piple onde estave odito Snor Jaos Gomes de Soutto]! me
perguntau de sua canella q° tho desse por escrito por morte
ou vida ejuro aos Sanctos Evanges: que heste hea verdade de
q’ sey de esta Cannell do ditto Senhor Jodo Gomez de Soutta
esemlevara orden do ditto trouxera o Sen deinherio a Sim como
trouxe o men edeontras partes Pzestade declaro ein Piply oje
primerio de outoubre de 1653 annes. GAspER De Breu.

Certifico en Antonio Gli de Brito Sabalifo publico das notas
per sua mage meste Bandell de nessa Snor’a de Gadulpe de
Xahabad em como Osinall a Simaq’ dis Gasper da Breu Ser
o ditto Gasper da Breu porg!®: me justifiquie como dito Gasper
da Breu Ser odito Sinal Seu emsfe doque passey a prezente per
me Sinada a demen publico Sinalg’ tal he come Se Seque oje
3 de outoubre 1657 annog pagon d’ esta Mayatg®2

(Translation.)

I Gaspar dec Breu [de Abren], casado and resiclent in this bandel of
Xahabad, went in the year [16])31 [1652] in the ship that went to
Persia, in which went as Captain Henrique Cherry, of which the
owner and master were Gabriell Boughton® and Bridgman ; and after
we called at Cochim and Goa we went to Persia, and there the said
Henrique Cherry sold the cinnamon of Senhor Jodo Gomez de Soito
at a very good price, and the mdo thercol at forty-five abassis,t and a
mdo here somewhat exceeds ten mdos thered And when | came with

1 The words in brackets have been supplied from 0.C., No. z341.
2 The other copy, 0.C., No. 2341, adds : * Vera Copia—written and examined
per john Threder and Samuell Anthony.

3 If Gaspar de Breu can be relied on, this statement proves that Boughton
was alive in January, 1652, and is, so far, the latest mention of him (see Wilson,
Early Annals of Bengal, vol. i., p. 27, n. 2), Boughton died before Auvgust, 1653,
See 0.C., No. 2336.

+ The abdsi was worth 1s. 4d. at this period. See Fryer, 4 New Account of East
India and Persia, ed. 1693, p, 211.

3 Fryer, op. cit., loc. ¢it., has: ‘1 Maund Tabriz is nearcst 6§.; 5 Maunds
Tabriz is 33¢." Reckoning the Hugli maund at 7o pounds, the statement in the
text is correct. See infra, where the maund of Persia is reckoned at 6 pounds
only, and the Bengal maund at 64 pounds, which is almost the same proportion.
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my goods and those of my partners, the saild Henrique Cberry
remained in the factory very ill, and the freightage had already been
paid at cight tangas [rupees] per mdo, and the respondentia of the
freightage at forty-two per cent., and the [customs] dues at ten per cent. ;
and I did not bring the money, on account of not having an order
from Senhor Joio Gomez de Soutto. And when 1 arrived at Piple,
where was the said Senhor Jodio Gomes de Soutto, he asked me
regarding his cinnamon, [and requested] that T should give it him in
writing, for life or death,  And I swear on the holy gospels that this is
the truth of what I know of this cinnamon of Senhor Joio Gomez de
Soutto, and without having the order of the said {senhor] I brought
his money just as I brought mine and that of other parties. I made this
deposition in Piply today the first of Oclober, 1653. GASPER DE BREU.

I Antonio Gonsalvez [?] de Brito, notary public of deeds for his
majesty in this bandel of Nossa-Senhora de Guadelupe of Xahabad,
certify that the signature above thaf says ¢ Gaspar de Breu’ is that of
the said Gaspar de Breu, inasmuch as I assured myself that the said
Gaspar de Breu was his signature.  In faith of what I have enacted at
present signed by me with my public signature, which is as follows.

Today, 3rd Oclober, 1657,
He paid for this half a tanga.

No. 3.

A Dutch (sic) attestation for Manoell de Sotto for the weight of
Bengal in proportion to the weight of Persia, 1657.

Certifico En Benjamen Yagre Serverdade responder hua

mait. de Bengall na Persia des mios equatro arates per g’
amio de Bengall tem Secenta equarto arates camao de
Persia he de seis arates isto lebomes pelles Mercadoress que la
Temess por Vezes mandar e por Verdade a Sineyme nesse
Xahabad Oje 1. de outoubre. BENJAMENY AGRA.

(Translation.)

1 Benjamin Yagre cerlify it to be trne that a mao of Bengall
corresponds in Persia to ten mdos and four arales [arrater, pound],
because the mdo of Bengall has sixty-four arafes and the mdo of
Persia is of six arales. This we know from the merchants whom we
have sent there ot times. And in truth {thereof] T have signed in this
Xahabad today 1st October, BENJAMENY AGRA.
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No. 4.
Coppy of Mvr. Isaacksons Letter to Jodo Gomez de Soito, 1657.1

SENHOR JoAo GOMEZ DE SOUTTA,

Estimarey avista destas regras goze V. M. perfeita Saude
a companhade de todes osbens Spirituais Corporais com todos
as boas fortunas paramesz Mrs. P, cando a que tempo sempre
prompta eo mandar e Servicode V.M.

Tive porneticia encomo V.M. escrevero a qui minitas
Vozes Sobre hua emcomenda q’ V.M. mandar de canneela pom
Mr. Chari pera a Persia, como a tha agora nao Sebemes
mentemes visto as contas Sobrisco tem escreto o prezedente de
Madraspatio te ja escrito mintas Cartas a Surate Eontras
partes etambem pera Inglatera pera averam demandar as
ditas contas ainda nao chegerao porem como Sebemos de
certo em como levaro ponco ominto offatto de V.M. Seja
V M Servide Dea Seitar por cmentes quinentas Igas: pordar
algum modo de satisfacd a V M isso se intende largando
V M aesses Senhores g’ estas reprezadoes nesse Ugulem p?°
que elles possdo hira Madraspatad der contas desta couzas ao
prezedente q' entdo vistas as contas ¢  he forsa q’ hande vir
pode rio dar satisfacio domais restante q’ ficarem de vendo
a VM esendo V M deste paracer made largar eo Mestre
Estivens Eos mais Senhores q' names mahora the dario la
estas quinestas Rupias E En Sonde parecer q’ tendo V M
aesses Senhores la Retuda nao fas nem fara nem hum negocia
assim que thedigo que he bom Conselho Ecomo de presente
Senfio offerece ontra Couza Deus g® a pessoa V M por largos
annos como dezeja Ballagor 23d de Novembro de 1657 annos,
Amigo de V M, WiLL: IsaacsoN. Transcribed by Richard
Browne.2

1t There is another copy of this letter in the India Office Records, O.C., No. 2640.
The numerous slight discrepancies between the two versions are, no doubt,
attributable to the ignorance of the copyists.

? 0.C., No, 2640, substitutes for this note : * Vera Copia, written and examined
per Jobhn Threder, Samuell Anthony.’



64 PAPERS RELATING TO DE SOITO'S BUSINESS

(Translation.)

Senhor Joio Gomez de Soutto,

I shall be glad if at the sight of these lines you are enjoying
perfect health accompanied by all blessings spiritual and corporeal
with all good fortune in order to do me favours, I continuing at this
time always ready for your command and service.

It was brought to my notice that you had written to this place
many times regarding a parcel of cinnamon that you sent by Mr, Chari
to Persia. As up to the present we neither know nor have seen the
accounts connected therewith, [I] have written to the president of
Madraspatdo. I have already written many letters to Surate and other
parts, and likewise to England, in order that they may send the said
accounts, [but] they have not yet arrived. However, as we know for
certain that he carried, cither little or much, your goods, will you
be pleased to accept meanwhile five hundred tangas, to give
you some measure of satisfaction: it being understood with this that
you release those gentlemen who are defained there in Ugolim, in
order that they may go to Madraspatio to give an account of these
matters to the president, so that, having then seen the accounts, which
must assuredly come, they will be able to give satisfaction for the
remainder that they are owing to you. If you are agreeable to this,
order the release of Master Estivens [Stevenson?!] and the other
gentlemen, who in the same hour will there give you these five
hundred rupees. And I am of the opinion that while you detain those
gentlemen there, no business is done or will be done ; so that what I
say to you is good counsel. And as at present nothing else offers,
God guard yow person for many years as you desire, &c. Your friend,
WiLL: Isaacson.?  Ballagor, 23 November, 1637,

THE DIARY (continued).

November 27th.— Letters were received from Pattana advise-
ing that there was 1800: maunds Turmerick and about 4o0:
maunds Tincall there bought and upon dispatch thence, which
was all could be expected from them this year.

This Day arrived 18: Bales of Cossaes [khdssa] and Mull-
mulls [malmal] from Dacca.

The Ketch Arrivall came up from Ballasore, where she had
binn new masted and rigged since the storme.

1 This was probably Thomas Stevemson, who, with William Taylor and
Timothy Cartwright, was sent to Bengal in 1656-57.

2 There is no further evidence as to Isaacson’s employment in Bengal, or any
explanation of his assumption of c¢ivil authority. In January, 1658, he was at
Fort St. George, and is styled * Minister ' (0.C,, No. 2643).
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This night Mr. Clavell left Hugly, and with his wife etct
went in the Dutch great Bugerow [bajrd] or Pleasure boate
downe the river to Kindoa? intending to goe thence by land to
Ballasore.

November 28ih—This day the Ketch Arrivall was unladen of
the Lead and stone, and alsoe a great parcell of Iron, Bundells
of Cair [rope of cocoa-nut fibre] and bale goods, which were
put on board her by the Governour of Ballasore, for account of
the Governour at Hugly, which upon inquirey I found to be
accustomary and not to be avoided now both these places are
governed by one person?® though it is of great hindrance to the
dispatch of the Companyes business at this season.

November 2gth—This morneing the Ganges Ketch came up
from Ballasore, where she alsoe hath binn new masted and
rigged since the storme.

The Governour sent for the Companyes Vacqueel to day and
demanded the thres thousand rupees, the usuall extorted
present, to be imediatly paid, and upon the Vacqueels answer-
ing that there was a bill lately given to pay it the 25th December
as [ulsually, The Governour ordered that he should be kept in
durance untill it was paid, pretending the Nabob had sent an
ameine [amin, official collector] to gather in all his treasure
and send it to Dacca, and therefore he could not stay.

About 8: a Clock this night I left Hugly and imbarqued on
the Arrivall toward Ballasore,

Since the last disgust between the Governour and the Dutch
(which the latter take as a high affront) their business lyes
still, and I was informed that their Admirall Wiltfang with four
or five of their great ships will stay here untill the arrivall of
the Japan fleet, expected in February or March next. It is
observed that their trade is much decayed in this place of late
yeares, their great and best ships being laden hence for the

1 This was Clavell's second wife Martha, the sister-in-law of Edward Littleton.
The ‘etc.” probably includes their young son dward.

? Kindoa, or Kendoa, is not marked on either Heron’s or Bowrey’s Chart of
the Hugli. It was on the western shore of the river, opposite Saugor Island,
Yule thinks it probable that it is identical with Kontai. See Hedges' Diary,

vol, iii., p. 207.
3 Viz., Malik Kasim, whose son Malik Zindi represented him at Hugli.

VOL. 11, 5
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most part with rice and provissions, and not one fourth part of
the silk and other goods which they formerly carried out of
this Country. And at Cassambazar they are usually indebted
to their Merchants from two to four Lack of rupees, which was
not soe formerly.

From Hugly boates may and sometimes doe goe to Agra.

November 30.~About nine a Clock this morenening (sic) wee
past by Chanock,! and about noone overtook the eight Boraes
[bhar, lighter] that two dayes since we sent from Hugly
laden with saltpeter, and about two a Clock wee came to
anchor at Tanna [Thana}, the tide being spent and the wind
not favourable.

Tannay is distant from Hugly about 4o: miles by water and
twenty miles by land. There stands an old Fort of mud walls,
which was built to prevent the incursion of the Arracaners,?
for it seemes, about ten or twelve yeares since, they were soe
bold that none duarst inhabit lower downe the river then this
place, The Arracanners usually takeing the People off the
shoare to sell them at Pipley [ Pipli].

December 1st.—The morneing tide wee gott out of Hugly
river into the great river,® and found the soundings to be from
three to thirteen fathoms, gradually Deepening.

December 2d.~—Wee sailed by Kedgeree [Khijiri] and the
Island of Ingerley [Hijili], leaving the ile of Cockes and the
Arracan shoare on our Larboard side to the East. At Ingerley
is a Fort that was built by one Captaine Dudson, who came
out in Squire Curteins service, and lost his ship in Ballasore
River, then served the Moores.4

t Chanak, the modern Barrackpore, See Yule, Hedges' Diary, vol. ii., p. g9.

2 See Bowrey, Countries Round the Bay of Bengal, p. 212,

8 The term ‘Hugli River ' was restricted at this period to the river as far as its
confluence with the Rupnarain, opposite Hugli Point. See Yule, Hedges' Diary,
vol. iil,, p. 205,

+ Dudson should probably be Durson or Durston, who came out to India, in
command of the Loyalty, in 1649, in company with the Fleece and dleppo Mevchant,
In January, 1650, Durson was at Goa, and at variance with his men. Robert
Winchester, ‘ his Minister or Chapline,’ who afterwards replaced Isaacson at Fort
St, George, left Durson on account of his * famileratie with witches and Sorcerrers,’
and repaired to Surat. In April, 1650, it was reported that Durson was imprisoned
near Carwar for ‘ paying out of false pagodaes,” was most ‘ unmercifully Dealt
withall,” and was in danger of his life. He is next heard of in Bengal in 1656,
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December 3d, Sunday.—Wee lay upon the sands called the
Braces all this day, haveing small winds and very smooth Sea.

December gth—About noone wee came to anchor in Ballasore
Roade, and this night the Arrivall halled aboard the Eagle and
there delivered her Ladeing.

December 5th.— Haveing dispateht the 4yrivall back to Hugly,
and dirccted Richard Trenchtield, who was sent from Ballasore,
how to distribute the Saltpeter now comeing from Hugly aboard
the ships in equall proportion according to their Tonnage, I
went ashoare with the Commanders, who gave me the respect
of their guns at this time, and alsoc yesterday at my comeing
into the roade. Landing at the Point of sand at the rivers
mouth, there mett me Mr, Clavell cle. Tactory, Mirza Woolla
[Mirza Wali], the Governour of Ballasore,! Severall Merchants
of the Towne, Vankewell Chiefe of the Dutch, and Witbert the
Chiefe of the Danes. From thenee wee went to Ballasore by
land in Pallankeens, The Governour accompanying us to our
Factory.

December 6th.—There was three Englishmen who left the
Datch service in their ships at Hugly, and came to mee for
protection, whom [ brought downe in the Adwrrivall, and they,
without my knowledge, had left her and were come ashoare
whercupon, finding them ‘inclined to ramble, T sccured them
in the Factory to send them home by the ships.

December §.—Letters were received from Hugly and Daccea.
From [Hugly] they advise that all the Companyes goods, at
that time ready there, were sent away, except 362: baggs of
Saltpeter and a Little cloth.  From Dacca they advised that

and in that year accompanied Waldegrave, the Company’s Agent at Balasor, in
his overland journey from Bengal to * Verasheroon.” He musi afterwards have
returned to Bengal, for in a letter 1o Balasor of 11th September, 1658, the Couneil
at Fort St. George wrote: * The Company would bave all the English which
serve them not returned home, But how canne you bee ridd of Captain Durson
and others there wee know not. Sure wee arc twould be well if Such straglers could
be reduced, who have too much already perplexed the Late Companies affaives,’
at Balasor. After this date he disappears from the Records  See 0,C., Nos. 2121,
2147, 2150, 2238, 2579, 27:8, 2772,

! This individual was probably subordinate to Malik Kdsim, who governed
both Hugli and Ballasore.
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the Nabob had confiscated a Dutch ship Laden with Pepper
and Copper that went to trade up the river to Chittegom
[Chittagong], and threatned to cut off the Skippers head. It’s
sayd the ship and goods belongs to a Freeman of Batavia.

December gth.—This evening Mr. Clavell, Mr. Bugden and
myself visited Mirza Wollee [Mirzi Wali], the Governour of
the Towne, who treated us very Curteously. Hee is a
Merchant, and his Father was a great friend to the English,
and lost about 30: or 40: thousand rupees in that ship which
Henry Cherry was Master of that went from Bengala to Persia
anno 1651 [1652].

This night Mr. Marshall arrived from Cassambazar.!

December 11 —Mr. Clavells three Persian Horses were sent
hence toward Dacca, one valued at goo: one at 1200: and the
other at 1400: Rupees.

The Governour invited us toa feast, but we excused gocing,
whereupon he sent his victualls to the Factory,

December 12.—~This day received a Letter from Dacea;? the
Coppy followeth :

Dacca, the 2gth N ovember, 1676 —Mr, Streynsham Master etc.,
Honoured Friends, Yours of the 1oth and 17th Instant have
received, but doe not answer them now because of hast. This
is only to advise you that yesterday night there came orders
from the King to take Custome of all our goods, rupees 2: on
every hundred. They are now writeing Phy{rlwanaes for that
Purpose for Hugly and Ballasore, which will presently be
dispatched towards you. This newes is certainely true; James
[Price] brought it just now from Raynundelolls [Rii Nanda
Lal] mouth with promise. I think it would be better rather
then to be troubled in all our Factoryes upon all occassions with
every pittifull Governour to make some agreement with the
Nabob to pay him yearly here, unless you can gett this order
Revoked by the King who alone can doe it. Further I shall

t He had started, on the 3oth November, to take up his new post of chief
at Balasor,

2 The arrival of Nedham's letter at Hugli on the 6th December, and its
immediate despatch to Master at Balasor, is noted in the Hugli Diary, which
was oegun in a methodical fashion on the 1st December, 1676. See Factory
Records, Hugli, vol. i.
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not adventure to advise, but leave it to your serious Considera-
tion, begging your excuse, 1 remayne, Your assured Loveing
Freind and humble Servant to Command, FiTcH NEDHAM.

December 14th, Thursday—At a Consultation,! Present:—
STREYNSHAM MASTER, Esg.; M. WALTER CLAVELL; MR. JOoHN
MarsaaLL ; Mk, Epmonn BucbEeN.

The Councell haveing considered the Agent and Councells
advice in their Gennerall Letter of the gth October last, wherein
they are pleased to propose the sending of one of the ships to
Bantam, by reason of the want of Tonnage in these parts,? and
upon perusall of the Companyes letters by these ships that they

»

designed ounly the Mary for Bantam, and the other four ships
to rcturne from the Coast and Bay directly to England,® The
Councell did not think 1t safe for them to digress from the
Honourable Companyes directions unless the Agent and
Councell had pleased to have given positive orders for soe doeing.

Lxtract of a Letier jrom Siv William Langhorne and the Council
at Fort St. George to * Mr. Walier Clavell, Cheif &ea. Factors,
dated gth October, 1670, Faciory Kecords, Forl St. George,
vol. xviii,, p. 19.

*Whereas we formerly - promisech o advise you if any hopes of
enlargeing our Investments beyond what then undertaken by our
Merchants, in stead of encreasing, our greate feare is we shall hardly
compleat that ; so that could we finde any Latitnde in the Honoble.
Companies orders of former yeares to supply the want of them in
their last Letters, whereby we could warrant the sending once of the
Ships with 16 or 20 Per 100 of their luding in peter from you to
Bantam, we should gladly doe it; but trnly we have so often sett
before them the want of a provissionsll Authority in cases unprovided
for, and all to vo purpose, and then so little regard shewed to the
very results of consultation, that amongst so muny other Cavills,
where no Claw (séc) for want of such, a want of Consideration shall come
in to make one, as if the severity of their injunction were rather
imposcd to take advantage of the defaalt then for cither the validity or
Credditt of them, so that, as we are faine to tell them, we doe not
know what to think of it.’

1 There is a duplicate of this Consnltation in Factory Recovds, Hugli, vol. i,
2 A copy of the portion of the letter alluded to follows this paragraph,
3 See paragraphs 58, 67, 69, of the Company's General Letter to Fort

St, George, antr, vol. i, pp. 254, 259.
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The Councell finding that there is some quantityes.of goods
to come from the Inland Factoryes, as Tincall and Turmerick
from Pattana, Taffaties, raw silk, tares and Floretta yarne
from Cassambazar, and Mullmulls from Hugly, alsoe Sticklack
[7.e., lac in a crude form], Turmerick, Neelaes and fine Ging-
hams yet to come in at Ballasore, all which goods, as it may
not be convenient for one ship to stay to take in, neither is it
for the Honourable Companyes Interest to keep them all, the
time of the yeare being far spent, it is requisite for some of the
ships to hasten to Metchlepatam to take in those [? their] goods.
All which being considered, The Councell did resolve to dis-
patch two ships, wizt., The Loyall Fagle and Johanna by the
zoth of this moneth and the other two, the Falcon and Survatt
Merchant, to be dispatched by the last of this moneth at the
farthest, and ordered to call at Metchlepatam for what goods
the others may leave behind there.

And by reason of the divideing of the ships in this manner,
it is thought fitt that the greatest part of the fine goods, such
as are in readiness, be laden aboard the Loyall Eagle and
Johanna, and the other ships being likely to carry hence the
greatest part of the gruff and [? or] course goads, It’s therefore
left to the Agent and Councell at the Fort to make an equall
divission of their Ladeings (when the ships meet there) as they
shall think fitt.

And if it shall soe happen that the goods from Pattana and
Cassambazar, through stoppage or other causuality, should not
arrive to be laden aboard the ships by the last of this moneth,
in such case it is thought fitt that either one or both of the
Companyes sloopes or Ketches be sent up to the Fort with
what goods shall be left behind. And if there should be but
a small quantity of goods left behind by the ships, yett upon
late advices from the Agent,! It is thought convenient and for
the Companyes Interest that the said vessells (after the dispatch
of the ships) be laden with rice and provissions for the Honour-

! Beyond the letter of the gth QOctober, 1676, quoted above, and a private
letter of the same purport from Langhorne to Master of the 7th October, there
is mo correspondence extant between the ‘Fort' and the ‘Bay' until the
21st December, 1676.
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able Companyes account and sent up to the Fort some time in
January.

There being a parcell of old Turmerick in this Towne offered
to sayle, The Councell considering the want of tonnage and the
great quantity that was ordered of that comodity,! of which,
notwithstanding all endeavours that have binn used, there will
not be procured one half, and the owner of this parcell being
indebted to the Honourable Corapany, "T'was thought fitt to
accept of it at 13 rupees per maund, and ordered that a bie?
marke be put upon each Bagg.

Whercas there is great quantityes of callicoes in this towne,
espectally of sannoes, which have binn offered to the Councell,
they, considering the Honourable Companves orders that it is
limitted to roooo0: peices-of that sort of goods for this ycares
fnvestment,® and the Agent and Councell not haveing given
any farther directions about any lirger quantity of any sort of
peice goods more then  the Company have ordered, the
Councell did not find it safe for them to inlarge the Investment
in those sortments of goods to which they are limitted, not-
withstanding the great want of goods to supply the dcad
[unsaleable] Tonnage of the ships this yeare.

Whereas in the list which the Honourable Company sent
from England this yearc of goods found wanting in bales and
Chests from the Bay, there is sayd to be 12t treble peices of
Taffatyes wanting in Chest No 160: sent upon ship Lancaster
anno 1674, the rickett dated the 27th December, 1672, and
signed by John Marshall, said Mr. Marshall did now offer to the
Councell to depose upon his cath that the Chests which he
packed in Cassambazar that yearce did containe the full number
of peices, which were exprest in the Ticketts put into the
Chests, for that he himselfc did count the said peices into the
Chests, and sve them nailed and covered with gunny [sacking]
before they were removed out of his sight. And the said
Chests lay but few dayes afterwards in Cassambazar, and

L See paragraph 63 of the Company’s letler to Fort St. George, ante, vol. i,
b '-'zéiie’ is an obsuolete form of ‘buy,’ and the term may either mean a purchase

or a secret mark. See Murray, Oxford English Diclionary, s.v, Buy and Ly.
3 Sec paragrapl 41 of the Company’s letter to Hugli, ante, vol. i,, p. 314.
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allmost two yeares in Hugly before they were laden for
England.

Mr. John Billingsly signed a bond to the Honourable
Company for 2ov0: li., dated the 1oth September, 1676, as
merchant, and nominated for his security at home His
Father Mr. John Billingsly, liveing in Whitechappell.! The
other he refers to his Father to nominate. Which bond was
delivered to Mr. Clavell to be sent to the Honourable Company
by these ships.

December 14th—This evening there came a Portuguez, by
name Manuell Mendiz, to Towne, who acquainted us that he
wias in Mr. Smithes vessell, the Awva Merchant, which was
freighted with Saltpeter and driven out of the Roade in the
late storme, and that he was landed out of her at Bimlapatam,?
The vessell being gone thence towards Metchlepatam.

December  15th, Fryday.—At a Consultation,®? Present:—
STREYNSHAM MasTER, Esg.; MrR. WaLTeErR CLAVELL; MR.
Jonn MarsHALL ; Mk, EpMOND BUGDEN,

The Honourable Company haveing recommended to Mr.
Master in his Commission and Instructions that if any other
sorts of goods may be found out proper for Europe, to advise
with their Cheifes and Councell touching the same, and there
being some Dacca Sashes or: Seerbunds [sirband, turban] and
other thinn cloth made at Dacca in this towne, which may be
proper for England or for a tryall from England to Turkey,
The Councell thought fitt to agree for a small parcell of them
to be sent home by these ships, notwithstanding they are
twenty or thirty per Cent. dearer then they may be procured at
Dacca.

There being offered 10000: rupees upon exchange at 2s. 6d.
the rupee, the Honourable Company haveing given liberty for
20000: li. at that rate, The Councell thought fitt to accept of
the summe now offered, and promised to give bills upon the
Honourable Company for the same in the usuall forme.

1 John Billingsley, senior, * Citizen and Goldsmith,” was security for his son
on his appointment as writer in January, 1668 (Court Minutes, vol, xxvi., fol, 87).

? Bimlipatam, about eighteen miles north-east of Vizagapatam.
% ‘There is a duplicate copy of this Consultation in Factory Records, Hugli, vol., i.



BALLASORE, 1676 73

Upon the 12th of this moneth there came a Letter from
Mr. Fitch Nedham at Dacca, dated the 29th November last,
adviseing that there was an order come from the King to the
Nabob requireing to take two per Cent. custome of the English.
The Councell haveing with sorrow considered the ill conse-
quence thercof, if the King or Nabob should insist upon any
such demand, at present they could not thinke of any way how
to proceed further then to write to Mr. Hervy, who is now upon
his way to Dacca, that he usc all meanes to smooth up
Raynund deloll [Rai Nanda Lal] the Nabobs Duan [diwan],
by acquainting him that the Persian Horses are now upon
their way, and that he doth not delay giveing the Present upon
the first convenient time, and informe himselfe well of the
nature of the affair, and advise thereof. And untill the said
advices shall come from him, or the. Phirwanes [ parwana)
which Mr. Nedham adviseth the Nabob was sending to
Ballasore and Hugly, The Councell did find nothing farther
could be acted thereing (sic), only to send advice thereof to the
Agent and Councell, and expect direction from them as the
Honourable Company have cnordered in their last letter to the
Bay, dated the 24th December, 1675, in the following words i—
[paragraph No. 9] ¢ Wee observe what troubles you mect withall
about the Phyrmand, and the courses you have taken to prevent
paying more Custome then formerly ; in all such cases wee
would have you act with advice and directions from the Agent
and Councell at the Fort.

The Honourable Company haveing ordered four Tonns of
Rice to be sent to St. Hellena upon these ships, that is one tonn
upon each ship, and the Cheife ete. to agree with the
Commanders for the freight thercof, The Councell haveing
treated with them concerning the same, agreed that for every
Tunn of rice laden for the Companyes account and delivered
at St. Hellena, there should be payed 15: hundred weight of beef
by the Governour of the Island to the respective Captaines for
the freight thereof.

The Councell takeing into consideration that the Ministers of
the ships have Preacht in this Factory since the decease of
Mr. Darley the Companyes Chaplaine [on the 11th September,
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1676], upwards of three monethes, did think fitt to gratifie
them for their paines therein, and ordered that 100: Rupees be
delivered to the Commanders to be divided amongst three
Ministers.

Ralph Harwar, Chirurgeon of this Factory,! desireing to
returne for England by these ships, and Mr. Robert Dawglas, the
Chirurgeon of the Eagle, being willing to accept of this imploy-
ment, and Captaine Bonnell his Commander consenting that
they may change birthes, The Counsell did alsoe approve
thereof, and Mr. Dowglas his wages ahoard ship being 3%. 5s:
per mensem, The Councell doe now enter him into the
Companyes service at 3/. per mensem, to be paid in the
Countrey and to commence from this day. And the said
Mr. Dowglas haveing binn with Mr. Masters in the upper
Factoryes [Hugli and Kasimbazar] and taken upon him the
care of Major Puckle,, Win. Callaway, and severall of the
Companyes servants in their sickness, and administred his
owne Physick to them (Mr. Harwar being some time since
out of pay), The Councell thought fitt to gratifie him, and
doe order that 8o: Rupecs be given him in consideration
thereof.?

The Councell being acquainted that there was severall
Englishmen not m the Companyes service in this Towne, some
that came tradeing voyages fram the Coast, and others that
reside in the Bay, they were all sent for and acquainted with
the Honourable Companyes orders that all Englishmen not in
the Companyes scrvice are to reside at Fort St. George or
Madraspatam and are not to be permitted to build or buy
houses in any other place. And in case they observe this
order of the Companyes, then they might make use of the

L See ante, vol. L., note on p. 475. Harwar was re-entertained in the Company’s
service on the 8th February, 1682, was made free of the Company, and was
permitted to take his wile to Bengal with him (Court Minutes, vol. xxxii., fols. 191,
193). His return to Hugli was unwelcome, * hee being little skill'd, and of so i1}
a disposition, every one is prejudiced against him’ (Factory Records, Miscellancous,
vol. iiie.). Harwar, however, remained at Hugli, where William Hedges found
him in 1684 (Yule, Hedges' Diary, vol. i., pp. 156, 165, 167), He died at Hijili
during the disturbances in Bengal in 1686-87.

% Donglas appears again in the Second * Memoriall,” where a short notice
of him will be found.
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Liberty granted by the Company of tradeing to and fro from
any Ports or Places in the Indies excepted to Tonquecn,
Formosa and the Southward of the Line; and then alsoe they
will have the benifitt of the Companyes protection in all places,
which otherwise they will not.  To which they expressed their
willingness to comply ; but some that had houses and Famileys
desired time to sell their houses and cleare themselves of their
ingagements, which the Council thought reasonable, this being
the first warneing.

THe FrEEMENS NAMES.!

Pcter Large? John Bugden® W: Littleton*
John Davis Jno. James Jno: Richardson

1 This list is given in the margin of the Diary.. 3everal of the names occur
later on in the Recorils, These have been traced as {ar as possible.

2 Peter Large, who had been in India sioce 1065, proceeded at once to
Masulipatam, whence, on the 3rd August, 1678, he wrote to Master, then Agent,
desiring leave to make a trading voyage to Bengal. ITe was at Kasimbazar
in October, 1678, and returned to Masulipatam on the 2z5th December in
‘Mr, Hatton’s sloop.’ FHe next went to Golconda, and in May, 1679, was
granted a pass as an inhabitant of Fort St, George. There he lived, probably
in his house in Middle Street, until his death on the 2g9th March, 1604. He was
buried in the compound of St, Mary's Church,  His wife Mary survived him,
and was still at Fort St. (feorge in 1609 {Factory Rocords, Masulipatam, vol. ii.,
Kasimbazar, vol. i., Fort St. George, wols. av., v,, vili, ix., x; 0.C., No. 4548,
Madras Press List, February and May, 1679, Cotton, Inscriptions on Madras
Tombstones, p. 7).

* John Bugden was brother to Edmund Bugden, the Company’s servant. Ile
is first mentioned in 1670, when the Court wrote to Hugli on the 20th November :
‘Here is Mr. Bugden, the Father of John Bugden, whoe he saith is entertained
in our service by you as a Seaman . . . bat wee find him not either in your
bookes or Advices." The next mention of John Bugden is in October, 1674,
when he is described as an * English pilot,’ sent to bring the pink Aduvice from
Balasor to Hugli. Ir December, 1676, he was commanding the Sarah, and in
1678 he was still in Bengal. In January, 1680, he gave evidence at Fort
St. George regarding the murder of John Smith, the dismissed chief of Dacca.
In the same year he was accused of the marder of one of his crew, but was able
to prove that the man had strangled himself. In 1630 and in 1681 passes were
granted to John bugden as an inhabitant of Fort St. George.  In April, 1682, he
was sent to pilot the Company's *new sloop’ from Balasor to ITugli, After this
date 1 have failed to trace him (0.C., Nos. 3071, 4399, 4130, 4816 ; Factory Records,
Hugli, vols. i. and vi,, Forf St. George, vols, il and xxviil. ; Letter Book, vol. iv.,
P 404). '

4 RRobert Littleton (brother of ldward Littleton, the Company's servant) seems
to have returned (o England in 1677, for in July, 1678, Edward Littleton wrote to
Richard Edwards that he expected his *brother Robert by this shipping,” an
expectation that was not verified (0.C., Nos. 4459, 4467).
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Tue FrReEEMENS NAMES (continued).

Vincent Savoury? Tho: Browne* Tho: Pitts
Zep. Hilton Jno: Squire Jno: Jenkins
Dan: Roberts? Tho: Tillum Robt. Hopper
Geo: [S]cott® Tho: Newman

All the English® being withdrawne, the Councell sent for
Thomas Pitts and read the Honourable Companyes order to
send him to England by the first ships and required his
observance thereunto, who promised to comply accordingly.®

This part of the Towne wherein the Honourable Companyes
Factory, the Duich Factory, the English, Dutch and most
part of the Portuguez houses standes, called Dummadapore,”
haveing binn many yeares rented-by Mr. Clavell, and now
lately by Mr. Bugden, by the Councells advice, to prevent the
Dutch who were about to take the Farme of it, The Councell
considering the Conveniency thereof, by haveing the sole Com-

1 This name is given elsewhere as Saffery. Vincent Saffery repaired to
Masulipatam, where, on the roth April, 1078, a son was born to him, and
‘baptiz’d by the name of Thomas,” In February, 1679, Saffery obtained a pass
to reside as a freeman at Fort 8t. George. His wife Llizabeth is mentioned in
the Second * Memoriall * (Fuactory Records, Masulipatam, vol. ii.; Madras Press List,
1679, No. 620).

2 See ante, vol. i, note on p. 452.

* George Scott remained in Bengal. - Master found him at Hugli in December,
1679, as appears in the Second ‘ Memoriall.’

4 Thomas Browne was pilot of the Lilly in 1677. In the following year he was
lent to * Norala Cawne’ (Nuru'llah Khan), the Nawib of Orissa, to act as pilot,
and in 1680 he commanded the Nawab's ship in a voyage from Pegu to Balasor,
His wife Sarah died at Hugli on the 22nd September, 1679 (Fuctory Recovds, Fort
Si. George, vol. i., Hugli, vols. ii. and iv., Balasor, vol. 1),

5 ¢8ajd Englishmen’ in the duplicate copy,

8 Thomas Pitts (or Pitt) defied the Company's orders (given in paragraph 5o
of their letter of December, 1675), for his return to kEngland, although the
order was repeated in 1677. On the 26ih June, 1678, the Council at Hugli
wrote to Balasor that Thomas Pitt, who ' did not proceed to Fort St. George as
ordered last year,’ was to be ‘admonished.” In September, 1678, Pitt went to
Kasimbazar, and on the 15t January, 1680, he married Jane Innes at Hugli. On
the 27th January, 1681, ‘ Mr. Pitt and his wife took thejr passage on the private
ship William and John for England’ (Factory Records, Hugli, vols, ii. and iii.,
Kasimbazar, vol. 1.; Letter Book, vol. v, p. 493). For Yitt's return to India as an
‘interloper,’ and his later career as a servant of the East India Company, see Yule,
Hedges' Diary, vol. iii.

7 Apparently an old suburb of Balasor, not now traceable. Damodarpur is a
common name for villages in Balasor district,
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mand of all the People, and that it is a small rent of about
350: rupees pcr annum with charges and nothing lost thereby,
thought fitt that the said Farme of Dummadapore be taken for
the Honourable Companyes account.!

December 15th.—This day reccived a Letter from Dacca ;? the
Copy followeth :—-

Dacca, 30th November, 1676, Mr. Streynsham Master etc.,
Honoured Freinds, Yesterday I wrote you of the late orders from
the King for our paying custome. This is only to inclose the
Coppy of two Phorwanaes to that purpose. I have just now
gott one for Huglyv, and the other for Ballasore. James Price
hath desired the Ray [r4i] that said Porewanes might be
stopped till our Cheife with our Present shall come, and has
told him that they are in the way hither, but he would not
heare, saying he had heard to much of our storyes already, and
tis feared he will hikewise demand custome for all the time of
the Reigne of this King [Aurangzeb] if his mouth be not some
way or other presently stoped.  Here 1s likewise newes that the
Danes shall have a Formaund from the King as they desired.
This is what I remember at Present, being in hast, beg leave to
remayne, Your very humble Servant to Command,

Fircn NepHAM.

December 16th, Saturday.—At o Consultation,® Present :—
STREYNSHAM MASTER, Esg. ; MR, WALTER CLAVELL; Mk. JouN
MarsHALL ; MRrR. EpMonD BucDEN.

Mr. Clavell haveing drawne up two papers, one an account
and relation of the trade and affairs of Hugly, the other an
account of the commerce of Ballasore, they were hoth read and
delivered to Mr. Masters.

Allsoe Mr. Marshall haveing drawnc up a relation of the

1 The Company approved of this step. In 1697 they wrote to Bengal: * We
apptove of your renting Dummadapore for our Accompt, but let us know whither
those that have houses there ought not to pay us Rent, and whither youn cannot
raise somewhat on them towards that charge ' (Letter Book, vol. v., p. 520},

2 This letter had reached Hugli on the 1oth December. Its arrival is noted
in Factory Records, Hugli, vol, i

3 There is a duplicate of this Consultation in Factory Records, Hugli, vol. i.,
but no copies of the papers drawn up by Clavell and Marshall,
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manner of the trade of Pattana, the same was read and
delivered to Mr. Master.!

The Honourable Companyes broad cloth, Lead etc. English
goods, usually lying in Ballasore Factory long time undisposed,
and the Councell considering how to remedy the same, did
conclude that it might be a means to put greater quantityes off
of those goods (which the Honourable Company doe earnestly
recommend) by sending to every Factory some proportion of
those sorts that are most proper for the place, and according as
they may vend, and to press the persons in the respective
Factoryes to use their utmost cndeavours to put them off, being
much for the nations Interest.

The last night, after the Councell was up, there arrived a
Letter from Mr. Nedham at Daceca, dated the 3oth November,
and there inclosed the Coppyes of two Phyrwanes [ parwana]
directed to the Governours at Hugly and Ballasore, to receive
two per Cent. custome of the English for buying and selling,
whose originalls are not yett publish’t, which the Councell
haveing sadly considered of, can find no way of redress but to
submitt to what shall be impose[d]. Theire only hopes are that
the Persian Horses, being a great rarity in these parts, may
something mittigate the Nabobs displeasure, and therefore doe
conclude to dispatch the letter to Dacca to morrow which was
agreed on yesterday.

?That the Cheife and Councell of the Bay resideing at Hugly
may have more constant and full accounts of all business then
the advices in the Letters from the Subordinate Factoryes, it is
ordered that all the subordinate Factoryes doe every moneth
send a duplicate of their Diary and Consultation booke and
alsoe their accounts of Cash to Hugly, fairly written, which
may be afterwards bound up there, also that the Diary and
Consultation booke of Hugly be sent twice a yearc to the
Agent and Councell at Fort St. George, once to the last of May

1 All three * Relations ' will be found at the end of this Consultation,

2 Only this paragraph appears in 0.C., No. 4231, under the proceedings of
16th December, 1676, which, with the Consultations at Kasimbazar on 3rd and
4th November, 1676, were * Transcribed and Examined per John Thomas,” and

endorsed: ‘Regulations made by Streynsham Master, Esqy, &c®, in the Bay
Bengall, Anno 1676,
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with Coppyes of the Ballance of the bookes, by land, and againe
to the last November, by the Ships, with the other bookes and
Duplicates as formerly directed ; and this order is to be annexed
to the Rules made in Consultation in Cassambazar the 3th and
4th of November last.

Mr. Samuell Puckle haveing desired that he may have some
allowance for fresh provissions in his intended homeward bound
voyage, The Councell thought fitt to grant his request, and
accordingly ordered fifty Rupees to be paid him upon that
account, and that he take his passage upon the ship Johanna'as
he hath desired.*

Accowrr orF Tukr Tkabr oF Hocry.®

To Streynsham Master, Esq:, Worph: Sir, In pursuance of an
order in Councell, directing mwe to draw up a state of the trade
and commerce of Hugly and Ballasore, I have, according to the
little leasure T am master of at present, presented what followeth
to your perusall and Consideration.

Hugly haveing the advantage of Sittuation upon the bankes
of the river Ganges, whose branches come far from the
Country above, and spread wide thereabouts, was in former
times in the prosperity of the Portuguez when in their possesion
sailed to yearly* from India- and Malaya with 60: 8o: to 1o0:
vessells, and since the loss of it to the Moores, which happened
about 42: yeares since,® hath continued to be a Scale [emporium]
of great trade, haveing the Kings Munscebdars [mansabdar] for

t Samuel Puckle reached England in 1677, and his own and his father's
accounts were examined on the sth September of that year (Court Minutes,
vol. xxx,, fol. 156).

2 The copy of this Consultation in Fucfory Records, Ifugli, vol. i, concludes
with the entry; ‘ This fourth part of the Consultation beoke being from p. 253
to p. 346 Inclusive is a true coppy of the Originall, Examined per John Marshall,
Abraham Rutton.'

4 This ¢ Accompt’ is placed, with the appendix of collected papers, at the end
of the Diary. The greatr part of it has been printed by Yule. See Hedges'
Diary, vol. ii., pp. 238-240.

1 This passage appears (o have been transposed by the copyist, and should
probably read : * In the possesion of the Portuguez who, in their prosperity,
sailed to it yearly.'

% The Portuguese settled at Hugli in 1537. The town was besieged and taken
{from them by the Muhammadans in 1632.
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Governours, who were put in by and answerable to the
Nabobs of Bengale, who reside at Rajamaull or Dacca, as they
pleased.

So long as it Continued thus governed by the Moors, justice
was more exactly administred and Complaints made against the
Kings Officers took place, perticulerly in the favour of Strangers.
But since the yeare 1663 or thereabouts [really, 1666] that
Nabob Shasti Ckaun [Shaistah Khan], the present Kings
[maternal] Uncle, became Suba [Sibadar] or Vice Roy of
Bengale and obtained Hugly as part of his Jaggere [ jagir] (or
lands assigned him for his Person), his Servants being made
soe far Governours as to receive all the rents, profitts,
Perquisites, fines, Customes, etc. of the place, the Kings
Governours hath little more then the name, and for the most
paft sits Still whilst the Nabobs Officers oppress the people,
monopolize most Commodityes, even as low as grass for Beasts,
canes, firewood, thatch etc., nor doe they want wayes to
oppress those people of all sorts who trade, whether natives or
Strangers, since whatever they doe when complained of to
Dacea, is palliated under the name and Colour of the Nabobs
interest ; and that the Nabohs Officers may, without controule,
drive the trade of the place, there is sent from Dacca, or
detained out of the rents, twenty or fourty thousand Rupees
yearly to be imployed in Merchandize, which is distributed
amongst the Hindue Merchants of the Towne, to each in
proportion, for which they agree to give twenty five per 100
per annum, but are called upon at six or eight moncthes end to
make up there accompts and pay the principall with advance of
a yeare, by which means, calling in their principall and Interest
so often, it sometimes happens that the Merchants pay 50 per
100 to the Nabob and Governours per annum, draineing them-
selves by this unhappy trade with him and his Minnisters of the
whole advantages they make of their other Traffick.

And vett, as if this were not enought to impoverish them,
the Governour, whenever he hath any goods on s hands calls
for them, and distributes amongst them what quantity he
pleaseth, at 10 to 15: per 100: higher then the marketts for

time, and they pay ready money.



ACCOMPT OF THE TRADE OF HUGLY 81

Nor doth this exempt them from piscashing [peshkash, an
offering] the Nabobs Crewry [karori, rtevenue officer] or
Governour with small presents at all feasts, his or his Sonns
birthdayes, Circumcisions, Marraidges, or his goeing to and
comeing from Dacca, makeing up accompts and Compounding
for his Rogueries. Nay, it hath in my time happened that,
when the Nabob and his Officers at Dacca have Squeezed him
much, and yett he is soe Lucky to returne to his former
imployment, there hath binn a tax laid upon the whole Govern-
ment under hand for the raising of the summe expended, which
some one or two fearefull person[s] have binn brought on to
comply with, and afterwards none of the rest have dared to
withstand.

The trade of Salt hath-alwayes brought a large income into
the Kings treasury, but of late larger then ever. About two
yearcs since, Nicolao De Parteca, a black Portuguez,! farming
the Salt trade of this place and the adjacencies by the name of
Cootecktapore,* it rupees Iooooo: per annum, takeing teu
rupees upon each 1oo: maunds that enters into that Pergona
[pargana, subdivided district], and from thence Merchants
cannot carry it out without a great deale of trouble and most
comonly sell to him.

Bees wax is brought [? bought ] up in the Kings name, of which
great quantityes are secured in the woods at 7: to 12: per maund
[and] sold againe out of the warehouse at rupees 1g: to 22:
rupees per maund.

The Governour doth gett quantytyes of gold and other goods
at under rates out of the Dutch Warehouse ; the gold is either
wrought into peices for presents or sent to the mint to be
coyned [and] The goods distributed amongst the Towne
Merchants at extraordinary rates as aforementioned.

And about Hugly there live many weavers who weave cotton
cloth, and cotton, and Tesser or herba? of Severall sorts, and
from the parts thereabout there is brought silk, sugar, Opium,

1 T have found no other mention of this individual,

2 The name does not now appear to be traceable,

3 Taylor, Cotton Manufacture of Dacea, p. 70 n., defines fusar as coarse indigenous
silk of India. See the article on this material in Indian Antiquary, vol, xxix.,
P- 339 ¢ seq.

VOoL. IL &
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rice, Wheat, Oyle, Butter, course hempe, gunnyes [gons, sacking |
and many other Commodityes. ‘The way of procureing these
is to agree upon Musters [samples] with the Merchants
of Hugly, or to send Bannians who can give security
to buy them on our accounts in the places where they
are made or procurable at cheapest hands. And whether wee
use one way or other, wee give passes in the English name for
the bringing those goods free of custome, and all those places
have soe great a convenience that most of the goods are brought
by water, unless from the places neare unto Hugly, which lye
thwart [across] the Countrey.

The Goods wee sell in Hugly, to Merchants there, are upon
time or ready money; but which way soever it is that wee sell
them, wee give passes and send them out in our names to
avoide the merchants paying customs,. which otherwise they
would doe, and wee are forced to abate in the price propor-
tionable.

Of the severall sorts of goods procurable in and about Hugly,
I gave you a list,! and musters will be sent home and the prices
specified. Besides those goods, wee can procure almost any
sort of Course Cotton, or Cotton and herba stuffs that wee had
but once the muster of.

Our Ships, if wee had more Pilotts whome wee could oblige
to stay after they had obtained some experience, either by
ingageing them in famileyes, or by giveing them good wages,
might with much more ease goc over the braces and come up
Hugly river then they can goe out of the Downes into the river
of London, and one maine incouragement would be that the
ships should sett out of England soe as to be here the begining
of June, by which meanes they will have true tides to carry
them up and avoid the freshes. They may alsoe goe up if they
come the last of the Moonzon, comeing from the coast to the
Bay in September after the freshes are abated. If any such
thing be designed, it will be good to advise by the first ships,
that a sloope and Pilott may attend for them at Ballasore,
And both these wayes the ships avoid the hazard of the storme,
and it would be a great ease and advantage in the timely

! There is no note or copy of such list.
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supplying of the Inland Factoryes [Kasimbazar, Dacca and
Patna] with Stock, to pay off what is oweing at Interest, and
dispatching the goods that come thence in good season. This
way the Dutch bring up ships of six and seaven hundred Tonns
to ride before their Factory [at Chinsura], and to take in the
greatest part of their ladeing near it, und fow yeares, unless in
the time of the late wars with England [1665-1667], but they
have upward of twenty saile that came into the river. They
formerly came to Pipley for Pilotts, but that being to neare the
braces is found inconvenient, and one cause of removeing their
Factory thence to Ballasore, where now, at the begining of
June, there lyes in the roade three or four Sloopes with Pilots
to attend the comeing of the ships and to carry them into the .
rver.

The Dutch have a very advantageous trade in Bengala, and
commonly a great stock, the Transport of a paire of their
gennerall bookes upon the last change of a Directore, anno 1674,
amounting unto 24: Tonn of gold. The goods they bring hither
are, vizt., Gold from Japan, Copper of Jupan, Tuttenag [tutenaga,
spelter], Tinn from Malaya, Pepper, Chanck [sankh, conch
shell], bettlenutts, Elephants and Elephants teeth, Cloves,
Mace, Nuttmegs, Gaunce [ganza, bell metal] (all which turne
them to great accompt); alsoe Brimstone, Quicksilver, Vermillion,
and some cloth, which scll not soe well.

They carry hence Rice, Oyle, Butter, hemp, cordage, saile
cloth, raw silk, silk wrought, saltpeter, Opium, Tuarmerick,
Neclaes [ntla], Ginghams, Tapits [O.E., carpet, hanging],
Brawles® or Slave clouts, achee Beagues,® Sugar, Long pepper
and Beeswax as much as they can gett.

Had I time, 1 could give a neare guess how much they vend
of all sorts that they bring ; what they cost in the place whence

1 Probably an error for 1672, when Frangois de Hase became head of the
Dutch affairs in 33engal.  See Valentijo, Oud en Nicww Qost Indien, vol. v., p. 174.

2 The Oxford English Dictionary defines < brawl’ as an obsolete term for a Dlue
and white striped cloth manufactured in India. Quotations are given as late as
1778, The derivation of the word—H. bira/, open in texture, fine—is given by
Mr. W, Foster wn his Letlers veceived by the East India Company, 1616, vol, iv.,
p. 306, In this volume ‘brawl’ occurs (pp. 32, 50) as * burrall * and “borall.’ See

also Yule, Hobson-Jobson, s.u., Piece Goods.
3 Possibly for achhi b7, seeds of the nevinda citrifolia, used in dyeing red loth,
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they bring them ; the prices and quantityes of what they carry
out, and towhat parts they distribute them, and what advantage
they make by them, which are great, and soe must there whole
Commerce be, and much more then it is, did not the charge of
the Souldiers, Garrisons, and Fleets cost them soe much, At
some better Leisure I may, if 1 have my health, render an
accompt at Large of these things.

The Portuguez, though numerous in. Hugly, yett are reduced
to a very low and meane Condition,' their trade not worth
mentioning, their Subsistance being to be entertained in the
Mogulls pay as Souldiers. Your Humble Servant, WALTER
CrLAVELL. Decentber the 15th, 1676.

ACCOMFT OF THI TRADE OF DBALLASORE.?

Sir, Ballasore begunn to he a noted place when the Portuguez
were beaten out of Angelin [Hijili] by the Moores, about the
yeare 1630, at which time the trade begun to decay at Piply,
and to have a diminition in other places of these parts; and
the Barr opening and the river appearing better then was
imagined, The English and the Danes indeavoured to settle
Factoryes here [in 1633],% to be out of the troubles the
Portuguez gave to other nations and had themselves, the
rather because the Cloth of Harrapore [Hariharapur], where
our first Factory was settled [in 1632], was without much
difficulty to be brought hither by land, and the River where
our vessells usually had laine at, being stop’t up, it was noe
casy matter to bring the Cloth by Sea, nor soe safe to have
vessells ride before that placet as here in the roade of Ballasore.
And the Raja of Tillbichrumbung his countrey lyeing neare the
place where the greatest quantity of Tester [fassar] or herba

1 See Bowrey, Countrics Round the Bay of Bengal, pp. 191-195,

2 This * Accompt ' is placed at the end of the Diary with the * Accompt of the
Trade of Hugly.” Yule, Hedges’ Diary, vol. ii,, p. 240, has extracted the first
paragraph.

4 See Wilson, Early Annals of Bengal, vol. 1., pp. 17-19.

4 By ¢ the River’ Clavell may mean the Alanka at Hariharapur, or the mouth
of the Patali, or Patua, where the English ships first anchored ; and * that place’
may either indicate Hariharapur or the ancient harbour of Harispur. Harihara.
pur is in Katak district in lat. 207 20/, and long. 86° 17",



ACCOMPT OF THE TRADE OF BALLASQORE 85

is procurable, a Settlement was thought the more Convenient,
because Ginghams, Herha Taffatyes, Herba Lungees [lunggi,
lom-clothj and other sorts of Herba goods might be made neare
and brought hither, and noe where so good Herba goods pro-
curable, The waters of Casharry?! giveing the most lasting dye
to them, and within two dayes journey of this place.

And in this place there being in those times little or noe
money, but cowries the common pay, there begun a trade of
Barter, first of goods, and in the interlopeing times?® a trade
of Barter for money and goods, each Factor of the perticuler
ships endeavouring to out doe the other, whereby the whole
wis brought to o necessity of Driveing either this trade or a
trade for ready money.

Since Broad Cloth hegan first to be out of request in these
parts, and yett the Company are still sending great quantityes,
enjoyneing us to put off as much as wee can of the manu-
fuctoryes of England, wee are constriiined to continue the same
way of Bartering and the Governours forbiding Lead to be
transported into the Rajaes Countreys [? Northern Circars
and Orissa chicfships|, on pretence of hindering them from
warlike supplyes, though it really be to gett himselfe halfe a
rupee upon every maund of Lead for conniveing at its sending
away into those parts, And the broadcloth the merchants take
from us they scll at underrates to the Kings Officers at Cateck,
the Capitall Citty of Orixa, or elce to those armies that come
from Cateck, upon the alteration of a Nabob, in whose traine
there alwayes pass merchants under their protection, who pass
all the Country over with their goods, buying and selling
without paying custome.

There is alsoe another Shift the merchants are put [to] to
putt of Lead and Broadcloth, which is to allow the Kings
Officers soc much per Cent. for takeing of their goods on the
Kings accompt, and takeing cowries i lieu thercof, which
practices, though wee would, wee are not able to make use
of, because the Kings and Nabobs officers are afraid of our

* Kasiari in Midnapur district, in lat. 22° 8 and long. 87" 16',

? Clavell appears to allude here to the period from 1635 onwards, when the
ships sent out by Sir William Courten were formidable rivals to the Company’s
trade,
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Testimonyes against them, if wee should have any difference
with them, whereas they have no€ cause to have any such
jealousy from the Hindue Natives.

The present Contracts with the Towne Merchants are to give
them upon the arrivall of the ships one halfe money and one halfe
goods, to provide these Country goods against October upon
Musters agreed, upon which we are to make such abatements
as we shall judge reasonable, and the Goods are Gennerally
comeing in soe late upon the dispatch of the ships, that wee
cannot make the abatements and adjust the accompts before
the ships saile. Wherefore the goods are gennerally invoiced
home at the contracted price, and the Merchants Credited at
the adjusting the accompts for the price concluded on, and the
difference carryed to profitt and loss.

Could the difficulty of putting off our Europe Commodityes
be once removed, and the feare of the want of a Phyrmaund
[farman], it were much for the Companyes advantage to
send servants to Mucktapore, Harrapore, and Mohumpore? to
provide with ready money the goods that come from those
places, and to Danton or Jellasore,?[? for | Oremara and Cashary
goods.®

And in case Chimcham [ Khém Chand, the Company’s Hindu
broker] should decease or remove hence, the weavers of Suro*
that live in the skirts of Ballasore might be treated withall in
the same mnature that we deale with the Cassambazar weavers,
and as Chimcham now doth. And this being now made a
distinct Factory, whereby there will be more leisure to attend
a business of that nature, it is my advice at present that there
be a tryall made of money given out to weavers for Suro
Sannoes, and that at the next Mantry [mantar?, private con-

! Mucktapore may possibly be intended for Matkadpur in Midnapur district,
The location of Hariharapur has been given above. Mohunpore is probably
Mohanpur in Midnapur district, sitnated in lat, 21° 50/, and long. 87° 29/.

¥ Dantan, in lat, 21° 58’, long. 87° 20’, in Midnapur district, is on the main road
between Balasor and Midnapur. Jellasore (Jaleswar) lies south-west of Dantan
in Balasor district, lat. 21° 44/, long. 87° 15",

3 Oremara may represent Ulmarra in Midnapar district, or Urmullah in
Balasor district. For Cashary (Kasiari), see above.

4 Apparently Sora {or Sohroh) in Balasor district, lat. 21° 16/, long. 86° 49,
a station on the Bengal-Nigpur railway, is meant, but it can hardly be called
the * skirts of Ballasore,’ as it is twenty miles distant.
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sultation] which will fall out about February next, some persons
be sent to Mucktapore and others to Harapore to inquire into
the nature of the trade of those parts, by which time it will
be knowne whether the Nabobs Sonn!of [? from] Dacca will
come to Cateck, or whether Mellick Cossim [Malik Kasim],
Raja Mansing [Min Singh], or either will manage the business
of this Province. If the latter doth, there is great hopes of a
suceessfull begining of the alteration of this trade, which the
Honourable Company have often advised is managed to dis-
advantage, and all the white Cloth procured here comes out
twenty five or thirty per Cent. dearer then at the Coast.

One way to help this Factory and Hugly is, if Pattana,
Cassambazar and Dacca, will take of a proportion of English
goods suitable to the treasure they have, and then the direct
trade of each place may be perticulerly scep:

Whilst Boremull [Puran Mal} was Governour, who was my
peculiar freind, 1 began to attempt to bring in goods in the
Companyes name as we usually doe at Hugly, and with good
success, but was interupted by the comeing of Mellick Cossim
[in 1672] with whome I found it noe discretion to contend for
the attempting of it againe ; and alsoe [? as to] the tradeing with
one or more merchants, in my oppinion noe Certaine rule can be
given, but things of this nature are to be undertaken at the
descretion of the Cheife and Councell, according as the times
and Government will beare tt. Your Humble Servant, WALTER
CLAVELL. Decemnber the 15th, 1670,

AN ATTESTATION GIVEN BY THE CUSTOMERS AND BROAKERS
OF BALLASORE CONCERNING THE ENGLISH PRIVELEIDGES
IN THE IMPORT AND EXPORT OF THEIR GOODS AND Dis-
POSEING OF THEM IN THAT Port.2

An Attestation given the 27: day of the third month in the
one thousand cighty one yeare of the Hegira [July, 1670]
by Bunwalled [¥ Banwali] as the Substitutc of Rajeeb Ray,
Conoongvoy [Rajab Rai, kaningo | or Cheife Customer | customs

' ? Buzurg Umed Khan, died 1694.

® This Attestation is placed at the end of Master's Diary with his Appendix of
collected papers. The document is torn and words are missing,
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officer] of Orixa [Orissa], and Debaullsdass [ Debal Das], Sub-
stitute of Kissindew [ Kishn Dev], Cheife farmer of said Province
and f{torn], Chowdry [chaudhart, district revenue officer], and
Ancoor Mehtur and Kisso Mehtur [Ankar Mehta and Kishn
Mehta] [torn], under Customers, alsoe Sebram Cullaun
[Sibram Kalyan] and Sebram Coor {Sibram Kiar], broakers
of the Port Towne of Ballasore, Sheweth that the English
for many yeares have used this port of Ballasore, and that
they have all along used to unlade their goods from aboard
their ships in the Roade and to send them on Purgoes [barges]
to their Factory in this place without being opened or Searcht
by any Officer or person in Government whatsoever; but as
soone as they have unladed their ships and got their goods
ashoare into their Factory as aforesaid, they are accustomed
to give notice that their goods are all safe ashore. And when-
ever the Merchants of this Port bought any of those goods of
the English they allwayes carry along with them one of the
Governours Servants, who wrote downe the Perticulers of said
[goods], but if the English were minded to send any of those
goods to Hugly, or any other place by land or by sea, without
Disposeing of them in this place, they sent one of their Servants
to give the Officers or persons in Government notice of it, on
which they went away as they came in, without being opened
or Searcht or perticulers taken by any one. This has all along
binn the custome of the English in their importing and exporting
their goods into or from this Port ever since they have traded
in these parts. In testimony wee, the abovesaid persons, have
hereunto sett our hands the day and yeare above writen etc.

ACCOMPT OF PATTANAL

Ballasorc, the 16: December, 1676.—Worshipfull Sir, According
to your Commands I have here given you an accompt of some
perticulers relateing to Pattana [Patna] and Singe [Singhiya]
Factoryes.?

I This * Accompt’ follows Vincent's report of the silk manufacture at Kasim-
bazar in the Appendix to Master's Diary. Part of the second paragraph is
given by Yule in Hedges' Diary, vol. ii,, p. 240 ¢ seq.

2 Marshall was employed at Patna under Job Charnock for two years, 166g
to 1671,
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Pattana lyes in the Latitude of 25: degrees and minutes
inter Gangem, and in Pleasant place. The Honourable Company
have noe Factory here. but what hire, nor doth the Cheife
usually reside there, by reason the Nabobs Pallace is in the
Citty. and hig servants and officers are constantly craveing one
thing or another, which if not given, though they have not what
they desire (sic), yett they are not satisfied therewith but creat
trouble, and if give[n] what they desire will be very chargeable,
Which inconveniency is prevented by Liveing at Singee, which
Iyes North of Pattana, about ten or twelve miles Extra Gangem,
and 1s Scittuated in a pleasant but not whole[some] place, by
reason of it’s being most Saltpeter ground, but is convenient
by reason thereof, for Saltpeter men live not far from it.!
Besides, the Honourable Company have a Factory at Nanagur
[Nanagarh or Naunagar], which lyes to the east of Pattana
{extra Gangem) about four or five miles.? There remaynes
generally a banlan [baniyal, or sometimes only Peons, to receive
the Peter from the Peter men, which lyes there abouts, to avoid
carrying it to Singee, which would be chargeable.  And when
what there is received in, it’s weighed and put aboard the Peter
boates there. There is alsoe another place about 15: or 16: miles
to the westward of Singee, whether js brought all the Saltpeter
neare that place and put aboard the boates there.®

The manner of giveing money to the Petermen and the
number of them, being thirty or fourty, is not necessary to
acquaint you with, being 1t is mentioned in the Pattana Bookes ;
but those Peter men have others subordinate to them, and the

1 See Yule, Hedges' Diary, vol, ik, p. 241, for the identification of Singee with
Singhiya near Lalganj. Rennell, Benga! Atlas, marks the place as Singeah.

* I cannot identily this place.

3 Tn his Notes and Obscrvations of Fast India, Havi. MS., No. 4254, fol. g, Marshall
gives the following account of the Company’s settlements in the 1'atna district
* At Hogipore [Hajipur, on the opposite side of the river to Patna] the Company
have a house for which pay 34 Per Month ; from thence South Easterly
about 4 Course is Nanagur where the Company have a house of their owne
which stands pleasantly by a River side which comes out of the River Ganges,
and when Ganges is high, but at other times is dry; this Nanagur is a very
pleasant place being scituated amongst Topes of trees, and the way from thence
to Hogipore is very pleasant; Nanagur is also esteermed a very healthfull place
being scituated upon a hord clay ground.  From Nanagur to Jonabad {? Shah

Jahanibad] is ¢ Course, Vizt., 4 to Hogipore and thence to jonabad 5 Course
more,’
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Honourable Companyes Peons are kept with the Peter men to
see that when the Peter is made they sell it not to the Dutch,
which, notwithstanding the greatest care to prevent it, they
sometimes doe. But 1 think Mr. Charnock is even with them,
being they have binn falce and broaken their ingagement first,
which was not to bay Peter of our Peter men, as wee were not
to buy of theirs. But if the Dutch would be as reall [honest ]
as the English it would be of great advantage to both, for by
the ones Peter men selling Peter to the other party, remaynes
are thereby made ; alsoc there are great remaynes made by the
Nabobs forceing from the Petermen what he pleaseth, whereby
they are disinabled to comply with their ingagements, and when
they cannot meet with it readyly, or the quantityes desired, he
breaketh our store house at Nanagur and forceth it thence.
English Cloth will but little vend there, and Lead would sell
well, but that it is farmed out by the Nabob to one person to
buy it and none elce, and he is not responsible for any con-
siderable quantity, being lately much indebted to the Honourable
Company. Tincall [borax]is procured from the Rajayes Country
[probably Bihar] from the hills, about six dayes journey N.W.
from Pattana, and when brought to Pattana, Oyle is putt to it
to preserve it.

English Cloth would vend well towards Casmeer [Kashmir]
and in Cabbull [Kabul], but that there is a sort of Cloth very
course and thick made at Lahore and sold at Pattana for about
5: rupees per peice of 1I: covids 18: inches long and 13 covids
broad, and Suppose is sould neare Lahore much cheaper.

This is what at present remembred by Your most humble
Servant, JOHN MARSHALL.

BaLvLasoRy, 1676,

December 18th.—In the morneing, about g: a Clock, Mr. Clavell,
the Commanders! and myselfe left Ballasore and went by land
to the rivers mouth; and after dinner went aboard the Eagle.

Decemnber 1gth—The Awrivall Ketch came into the Roade

! These were Captains Bonnell, Stafford, Johnson, and Bendall, commanding
the Eagle, Falcon, Suvatt Merchant, and Johanna,
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full laden from Hugly.! The goods [were] distributed to the
severall ships. Letters received from Dacca and Hugly by the
said Ketch ; the Coppyes whereof followeth :

Dacca, the 3d December, 1676.—Mr. Streynsham Master etc.,
Honoured Freinds, Yours of the 16th: 17th: and 2zth: of last
moneth have received. All the cloth I have bought for the
Honourable Company I sent from hence the 15th of last
moneth, which [ hope is arrived before now in Hugly. James
Price hath mett with the Governour of Rajamaulles Vackeell
[Rajmahal’s vakil] and threatencd him, and shewed him a
Coppy of an old forwane [ parwana |, who hath now promised to
write to his master about us that wee should have no more
trouble there.

The widdow of Jaco [Juan] Gomes and mother to Desoito
arrived here the last night, who begins already vehemently to
throw out their upbraiding speeches against us, but noe
endeavours shall be wanting to prevent their designes.

The accompt of goods remayneing here of the Honourable
Companyes have sent you here inclosed, as you desired, save
their prizes which are not all knowne to me.

The two Phyrwanaes [parwana] whose Coppyes I sent you
in my last I have with much trouble and bribing of the Nabobs
Cullumdar [kalamdar, secretary | with 150: rupees, and Mella
Cassimes Vackeel [Malik Kasim’s vakil] with 50: rupecs,
stopped here from this day till seaven dayes more before they
shall goe hence, which I hope you will like off. I doc it in
hopes you will have dispatched all the Honourable Companyes
goods from Hugly and Ballasore before the said forwanaes
come to your parts, or elce you will pay custome for them,
which will likewise stopp the business mightcly,

The Dancs are granted a Phyrwand In every perticuler like
as owms. It is now in the Rayes [#@] hands who will not
deliver it without a Present. When it is delivered, T will gett
you a copy of itt.  ‘This is what offers at present. I am, Your
assured Loveing Freind and humble Servant to Command,

Frren NEDHAM.

! The ketch was despatched from Hugli to Balasor on the 1jth December
‘with a lading of 1000 mds. of saltpetre and 05 chest of Cassimbuzar goods,
Romulls, Decca and Santapore Cloth ' ({Factory Records, Hugli, vol. i.}.
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If this Letter comes in five dayes to you, pray give the bearer
Rupees 1: bucshees [bakhshish, gratuity]. Guggutsing [Jagat
Singh], your Ballasore writer, is comeing to you with all his
Familey.

Mr, Streynsham Master etc., Honoured Sirs, Since my other
letters was sealed, the inclosed came from Dacca, and now wee
may hourly expect a stop to our business, and it was well done
of Mr. Nedham to gett a respite of seaven dayes, elce possible
none of the goods gone on the Arrivall had gone home this
yeare. I shall endeavour all possible, though with some
expence, to gett cleare the Honourable Companyes goods, about
which attend your orders, and remaine Your Humble Servant,
EnwArRD READE.  Hugly, December 13th, in the Evening, 1676.

December 2oth.—The Ganges Ketch came into the Roade from
Hugly and brought thence 28: Chests of Taffatyes and 19: Baggs
Turmerick, which was all the goods then ready in Hugly,! and
these were ordered aboard the Surratt Merchant.

The Dutch have left their Factory of Pipley, pulled downe
their house there, and built an new one at Ballasore, which is
a handsome square building. Under the Directoreship of
Bengala they have six Factoryes, wizt.. Hugly [Chinsurah},
Cassambazar, Ballasore, Pattana, Dacca, and Maulda.

Bengala is at Present in a very bad condition by means of
the great exactions on the People. The Nabob [Shaistah Khan ]
being ancient (75 years old] and extremly covetous, and his
Officers long experienced in the business of these Countreys,
there are noe wayes of extortion omitted whereby to gratifie
their masters humour ; and Hugly being in his Jaggeer [jagir,
assignment of land] for his owne pay, and that and Ballasore
both under one mans Government [i.e., Malik Kasim] make
Merchants business very troublesome.

The houses in Bengala are all made of mudd, dug out of the

! In the Hugli Diary or 14th December, 1676, we read: * Wee had notis of
the Sloope Ganges being at Tannah, and expecting our busines houerly to bee
Stopped, wee got boats and sent downe all the Goods of the Honble. Company
that were come in, in charge of Henry Carpenter, with order to lade them on the

Ganges and dispatch her immediately for Ballasore Roade ' (Factory Recovds, Hugli,
vol, i.},
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ground, by which almost every house hath a holefull of water
standing by it, which may be one reason why the Countrey is
unwholesome,

December 21: Thursday.—In the morneing, about three a Clock,
the Eagle and Johanna sett saile out of Ballasore roade, leaveing
the Falcon and Surratt Merchant to take in the rest of the Goods
and to follow in few dayes.

There were some men aboard the Arrivall Ketch that were
souldiers at the Fort, and were brought thence by Mr. Clavell
in March last to be bred up in the river, but not being likely to
come to any proficiency therein, and were rather a charge then
a help, three of them were now taken out and returned to the
Fort.

Captain Bonnell spared a young man, one of his Quarter
Masters, to serve the Company, who we made a mate of the
Arrivall Ketch, and gave the Captain a note for his discharge
as followeth :—These are to certifey that, upon the desire of us
the Subscribers, Captain James Bonnell, Commander of the
ship Eagle, in complyauce to the Honourable Companyes orders,*
hath spared out of his ship onc man, by name Thomas Nevin-
son, to serve in the vessells in the river Ganges in the said
Companyes service.* STREYNSHAM Master; WALTER CLAVELL;
Joun MarsHALL. December the 2oth, 1676.

The said Thomas Nevinson was entred in the Companyes
service the sth day of September last.  per S M=

December 23d~—Wee sailed in sight of the black Pagoda® and
the white Pagoda. The latter i1s that place called Jaggerenat
[Jagannath], to which the Hindues from all parts of India come
on pilgrimages.*

December 28:—Wee mett a great Dutch ship neare Nassapore
[Narsapur] point. He® wore a Flagg, and comeing neare,

' See paragraph 8 of the Company’s Letter to Hugli, ants, vol. i,, p. 310

* Thomas Nevinson's appointment as pilot in the Hugli River proved satis-
factory. He wasg commendaed to the Company, who, in their letter of 12th Decem-
ber, 1677, replied that they were glad he *answers expectations’ (Letter Book,
vol. v., p. 520).

3 The temple at Kanarak on the Orissa coast, so called by sailors.

4 See Bowrey, Countries ound the Bay of Bengal, p. 12 ¢t seq. and footnote,

5 The use of both *he’ and ‘she’ for ships scems to have been quite comumon
ap to the eighteenth century, and to have arisen out of a confusion of the vessel
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saluted us with 5: Gunns. Wee answered him with threc;
afterward he tackt and stood towards Metchlepatam [ Masuli-
patam] as wee did.

December 29:—In the morneing, wee see a small Datch
vessell rideing at anchor  ~ ais boate to speake with the
Dutch ship in our Company. Afternoone wee came to an
anchor in Metchlepatam roade; the wind blew soe fresh that
boates could not come from the shoare. In the Roade were
rideing four ships, vizt.,, The Indulgence belonging to the King
of Golcondah, The Triplicane belonging to Mr. [Henry] Car-
penter, a small vessell belonging to the Danes, and a new ship
built by an Armenian at Metchlepatam.

December 31:—Mr. Mainwaring, Mr. Chamberlaine, and Mr.
Arnold came off to me, and I went on shoare with them this
Forenoone.

The Ava Merchant, that was freighted with Saltpeter and
driven out of Ballasore roade, 1 was informed was safe arrived
at Fort St. George; That the Swrratt Merchants maine mast
was taken up at Bimlepatam, and her maine yard at Due [Diu]
point, {and] was brought hither.!

Senior Peter Smith, Cheife for the Dutch of this place, lyes
very dangerous sick. Senior Hartsinck their Cheife at Gol-
condah, Mr. Smithes half brother, i1s coe downe to see him,
being to succeed him in this place.?

with its master or its master’s nationality ; this confusion being itself caused by
the slipshod colloquial method of literary composition then in vogue. Another
source of confusion was the ase, till 1690 ail any rate, of *his' for “its.” The
ship itself seems to have been ‘she’ all along, but to have been converted into
* he’ when the master or his nationality was in mind, or when simply the neuater
form of the possessive pronoun was used.

1426. Poem on Agincowrt in Hazl., E.P.P. (1864-66) ii., 197.
1588, Kyd, Household Philosophy, Works, 1go1, p. 278,
1613, Beaumont and Massinger, Honest Man's Fortune, Act iv,
1022, English Garner, Stuart Tracts, p. 261,
1627. John Smith, Ses Grammar, ch, xiii,
1635. Hakewill, 4pol. (ed. 3), Argt.
Iam indebted to Sir James Murray and Mr. W. G. Perrin, Librarian,
Admiralty, for the data on which this note is based,
! These ships both sustained damage in the storm of 28th October, 1676.
2 Pieter Smit had succeeded to the chiefship of Masulipatam in Angust, 16706,
See ante, vol. i., note on p. 297, for a note on Smit and Hartsinck, The latter
was Chief at Masulipatam from 1677 to 1679, and again from 1681 to 1685.
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METCHLEPATAM, 1676-7.

January 1st, Monday. — Att a Consultation,! Present:—
STREYNSHAM MasTER, Eso.; MR, MATHEW MAINWARING ;
MR. GEORGE CHAMBERLAINE; MR. JOSEPH ARNOLD.

A good part of the fine goods which were contracted for with
the merchants the 8th of August last, haveing some time since
binn brought into the Factory, alsoe of the goods for the 6ooo:
Pagodas imprested to Vinco Bramanah [Venka Brihman] at
12: per Cent. abatement the 26: February last, but noe pro-
gress hitherto made in the sorting of the said goods, which the
Councell takeing into Consideration and debate, that noe more
time may be lost, but all convenient hast made for the farther-
ing the dispatch of the ships, therc being now but ten dayes
time left for their stay, both here and at the Fort, according to
their Charterparties, It"was resolved that to morrow morne-
ing all the Councell should goe downe to the sorting place, and
call the Companyes Servants in the Factory to their assist-
ance, that they may proceed upon the sorting of the said
goods with all possible dilligence, and that notice thereof
should be given to the Merchants this night, that they might
give their attendance early to morrow morneing accordingly.

Mr. George Chamberlaine being minded of 2250: pagodas
remayneing with him of the 5oco: Pagodas which was de-
livered him the 24th August to be invested at Muccapate
[Makkapet] in ordinary Long cloth and Sallampores? he
;Sromised the Councell to deliver the amount of the said
summe in those sort of goods, agreeable to the Companyes
muster, within three dayes next ensueing, which the Councell
accepted off, he complying therewith,

The Agent and Councell haveing ordered in their Letter of

I There is a duplicate of this Consultation in Fuactory Recovds, Masulipatan,
VO'}'i'.here had been a deadlock between Chamberlain on the one hand and
Mainwaring and Arnold on the other ever since Chamberlain's return from
Makkdpet on the 1gth October.  Chamberlain was accused of retaining
2,000 pagodas of the Company's money for his own use, and he retaliated by
demanding the production by Mainwaring of the Company’scash and cash-book,

and stating his conviction that the same could not be balanced (Factory Records,
Masulipatum, vol, ii., pp. 58 ¢t s¢¢.).
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the 21: December last* Pagodas 1000: to he imployed in this
place in Paddy [rice in the husk], rice etc. sorts of grain, and
alsoe wood for fewell to be sent to them, either by the ships ot
by Vessells freighted, The Councell ordered the said summe to
be invested as followeth, vizt.,

Paddy at 2: pagodas per Candy [about 500 lbs.]
Pagodas - s5o0:

Rice at 16: rupees per Candy - - - - 400
Grain to the amount of - - - - - 6o
Wood for fewell to the amount of - - - 40t

Letter from the Agent and Councell at Fort St. Geovge To the
W orshipfull Streynsham Master, Esqr., Cheife while present, &c.
Commissioners, dated 2y December, 1676. Factory Records,
Fort St. George, vol. xviil., p. 20.

“This is to acquaint you that we continnue blockt up by Poddala
Lingapa [Podela Lingappa] as well from Cloth as provisions, to which
expect remedy from Gulcondah, but the length of its continvance
causing uncertainty, and the Security of the Honorable Companies
Fort and Interest not being to be dallyed with, we hercby enorder you
to make what provision of Paddy Rice &c: Sorts of graine, and allso
of wood for fewell, besides the Timber allready wrote for, and to send if
up with ail Convenient Speed, if not by the Ships, by smaller Vessells,
not exceeding pagodas onc¢ Thousand, till further order ; and one the
first Arrivall of the Shipps frontthe Bay to give us the Speediest advice
that you can, how things goe; the Timber for the Standard, as well s
the wheat and Grain and packing Stuff we likewise recommend to
your care.'

Mr. Richard Mohun sent the following address to the
Councell, vizt.,

Honoured Sir etc. Councell, Sirs, How frequently, though
ineffectually, both here and at Madrass I have prest the
Examination of a charge exhibited against me by Mr. Mathew
Mainwaring is manifest from my Severall papers delivered the
Commissioners of this Factory, with the Agent and Councell at
Fort St. George, which now to insert, [ conceive unnecessary,
and shall therefore wave its rehearsal, untill incouraged by the
opportunity requireing it. Nor have 1 binn less Sollicitous or

L A copy of the letter is given below.
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more lucky in prefering a Charge against Mr. Mainwareing,
since an inquircy into either would not be admitted.!  But the
method of Commissioners being now altered here to a Cheife
and Councell as formerly,? I doe tender my readiness in appear-
ing before you to justific and condemne, as agrecable to both
charges, if you will insist upon them, which I entreate you will
satisfie in an imediate answer to, Honoured Sir etc. Sirs, Your
Servant, Kion: Mowun.  Jauuary the first, 1676-7.

The Councell haveing considered thercof, thought fitt to give
this answer, That an affaire of that weight and concerne as the
examination of Mr. Mainwarings charge against him and his
agaimst Mr. Mainwaring would require more time then can
be spared uat this season of theyeare. when the dispatch of the
ships is s urgent that, according to their Charterparties, they
have but ten dayes time to spend at this place and at the Fort,
and doc now lye upon demurrage at neare 100: . per diem.
Besides, a business of that nature doth require the constant
assistance of all the Councell, which it is not possible for them
to attend at this time, In regard many other things lye upon
their care for dispatch.

The Councell then sent for Mr. Mohun to give him their
answer, which he desired to bhave i writeing, whercupon the
precceding clause was ordered to be coppyed and delivered
to him.

Mr. Christopher Hatton advised the Councell® that there is
150: Bales of cloth ready at Maddapollam, for which he desired

¥ The respective charges of Mohun against Mainwaring and Mainwaring
against Mohun were ordered to be drawn up * breifly and methodically ' on the
29th july, 1075 (Factory Records, Masulipatam, vol. 1.).  Mainwaring’s charge, con-
sisting of sixteen articles, was delivered in at a Consultation on the 4th Angust,
1675. Mohun's answer, denying all the charges, dated the 7th following, was
produced on the gth August, and on the roth the case was referred to Fort 8t.
George, where it diagged on until the end of 1676, when, as is here shown,
it was still unsettled.

? The management of aflajrs at Masulipatam was vested in Comimissioners,
holding equal rvank, by orders from the Company dated 23rd December, 1674
(Letrer Book, vol. v., p. 116). A year later the old order was reverted to, and
Puckle was appointed Chief at Masulipatam (see antr, paragraph 51 of the Com-
pany's Letter of December, 1675), ['uckle’s death at Kasimbazar in October,

1676, left affairs at Masulipatam as they were previous to his appointment,
3 By a letter dated 29th December, 1676 (Factory Records, Madapollam, vol. ii.)

VOL. 1L 7
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order for to ship them off. It was thought fitt that an order be
forthwith sent for the I.adeing an equall proportion of each
sort of fine and course goods upon boates to be sent aboard the
Eagle and Johanna now in this roade, and the Falcon dayly
expected, keeping the proportion for the Swrratt Merchant untill
farther order, and that the proportion be made according to the
Tonnage the shipps are lett for, vizt.,

The Eagle - - - - - . - 525: Tonns
Johanna . - - . - - sIg
Falcon - - - - - - - 380:
Surratt Mevchant - - - - - 390:

1810:

And the said proportion of goods being dispatch’t for
the Eagle, Johanna and Falcon, that he repaire to this place
to assist in Councell, leaveing charge of what remaynes to Mr.
John Tivell, his second.

And Mr. Hatton adviseing of the want of 1500: pagodas
to compleat the Investment of that Factory, the Councell
ordered the said summe to be sent with the advices afforesaid.
STREYNSHAM MASTER.

Mr. Mainwarings Exception—1 declare that the reason why
noe progress has hitherto binn made in the sorting the goods is
occasioned by Mr. Chamberlaines neglecting his duty in doeing
it since his returne from Muccapat [Makkapet] which was the
19th October last—~MATT: MAINWARING.

My. Chamberlaines I xception.—] doe declare that the occasion
why the goods was not sooner sorted was by Mr. Mainwarings
means, as I shall make appeare.—GE0: CHAMBERLAINE.

Mr. Arnolds Exception—The true reason that the cloth was
not sorted was because Mr. Chamberlaine neglected doeing of
it, whose place and duty it was, by the Honourable Companyes
peculier appoyntment.}  Yet Mr. Mainwaring and myselfe, with
all the rest [of the] Companyes servants here did sort, till

1 The Company had expressly ordered that three of the Council should
be present at the sorting of the cloth (see ante, vol. i,, Master's Commission,
paragraph 37, p. 211), and, as Hatton was at Madapollam, Chamberlain’s presence
Was necessary.
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there was some implicit misinterpretations by Mr. Chamberlaine
of our doeings.? Therefore, not to intermedle to much in
another mans business, wee left off. By Esq: Master|’s]
approbation wee began againe.— Jos: ARNOLD,

January 2d.—In the morneing, after Prayers, I went to the
sorting place and sent for all the Companyes Servants, which
were not otherwise necessary imploved, and by noone we had
finished the sorting of the fine Sallampores.

Agga Geloll [ Agha Jalal], the Governour of the Towne, with
the Shabundar [shahbandar, harbour-master] and others, came
to the Factory to see me. He was very civill in his expres-
sions, and noe pretence would serve to excuse recelveing an
entertainment at his house, he was soe earnest in his invitation.

Senior Smith, Cheife of the Dutch, sent Outhoorne,? his
second, and two others to excuse his not visiting me by reason
of hig indisposition.

January 3d.—In the morneing I went from Prayers to the
sorting place, and sent for all that could be spared from other
imployments  and  proceadled] upon  the sorting  Oringall
Beetelaes.

January 4.—-The Sayvsunnnutt [sair samat, revenue collector]
or Deputy Governour of the Towne, with Meer Jamaul
Mahmud [Mir Jamil Muhammad] and other Mogull merchant:
came to mee at the Factoryand acquainted me that Mr. Robert
Fleetwood, late deceased,? was indebted to them to the amount
of 10000 Pagodas, for the greatest part of which summe they
now produced bills under his hand and seale, for which they
desired satisfaction, and made many pretences that the Company
or the surviveing English ought to sce them paid.  To whome
Lanswered that Mr. Fleetwood lately received neare ten thoasand
pagodas of the Companyes money, the greatest part of which
he was indebted to them, and wee could not find effects of s
to pay it, The Governour haveing by force taken away all that
did appeare, to pay himselfe 3000: Pagodas that was oweing to

1 Chamberlain was at variance with Mainwaring, Hatton, and Arnold.

¥ Henrik van Onthoorn became chief at Masulipatam in 1679 in succession
to Hartsinck, who followed Swit in 1697, sSee Valentijn, Qud en Nieww Qost
Indien, vol. v., p. 27,

" I'teetwood died at Madapollam on the srd September, 1676.
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him. At last they concluded that, rather then loose their
money, they would appeale to the King of Golcondah, to the
Mogulls Gennerall, nay to Oramzeeb [Aurangz&b] the Mogull
himselfe, therefore wished us to consider of it.

This evening Mr. Mainwaring, Mr. Chamberlaine, Mr. Arnold
and myselfe gave the Governour a visit at his house, where
Hee entertained us at supper with musick and Dancers, The
Principall men of the Towne being with him. At parting, he
presented me with two peeces of stuff, I haveing found meanes
underhand to lett him know that I would not receive a Surpaw
[sarapd, dress of honour] or Tascherefe [tashrif, present], it
being not usuall to receive such, but from the King, the Nabob
or the great Umbrawes [umard, noble]l. The Governour
acquainted me he had binn at the Dutch house this day, his
eldest son being to goc to Persia upon their ship, which is now
takeing in goods on freight thither, and I was informed that
they abate him 1o per Cent. for the Freight of his goods of what
they take of others.

Acconpt of bills under My, Fleetwoods hand [and) seale taken from
Meer Jamonle Mahamud | Mir Jamal Muhammad ] in Metchie-
patan the 4th January, 1676-7.

Pagodas

On« bill to Mulla alle [? the Mullah, 'AlT}, dated the
4th July, 1675, payable in 4: monethes, Interest

included for - . - - - - - - 2440
One bill to Mulla alle, dated the 112 September, 1675,

payable in 4: monethes, Interest included - - 10802
One bill to Meer Nasheer [Mir Nasir], at 2: per Cent.

per mensem, dated the 4th May, 1676, for - - 375t

One bill to Hogge amber [Hajl ? 'Umar], dated
12: August, 1696, at 2: per Cent., payable 1o
6: monethes, for - - - - - - - 6oo:

Carried forward - - 4495

1 Xgha Jalal's peons invested the widow Fleetwood's house and carried off
what they could find almost immediately after Fleetwood's death (Factory
Records, Madapoilam, vol, ii.).
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Pagoilas

Brought forward - - 4405
One bill to Annes Meer [Indyat Mir]' dated the
12th August, 1670, at 2: per Cent., payable in six

monethes for . - - 4o0t
One bill to Meir Abdalla Baker rMn Abdulldh Balur]
at 2: per Cent. per mensem, dated the zor Aprill,

1676, for - - - - - - - - 2000
One bill to Meir Jamaule [Mir Jamal] dated the
3oth August, 1676, to keep 4 monethes Interest

free, and after that to allow 2} per mensem for - 1483:
One bill to Meir Puckardeen [Mir Fakrw'ddin] dated
the Tgth December, 1674, ut 2: per Cent. per mensem,

payable m 6: monethes - - - - - - Goo:
Upon which bill there isindorsed as-followeth @ 1675-76,
March 8th paid i purt Pagos: 200: 1670, August 26:

paid in part Pagos: 200:

One bill to Hogge Mahamud { Haji Muhammad] which

was not produced, but sayd to be for - - - 5o
One bill to Meir Anna Tollae | Mir Indayatu’llah] which
was [not]| produced, but sayd to be for - - - oo

Pagodas 9780

January sth.—-The Councell matt upon prizing the Sallam-
pores, and made the following entry thercol in the Consultation
booke:2 The fine Sallampores being all sorted, the Councell
proceeded to make the prizos thereof with the merchants,
Mr. Wynn takeing 25: pecces of each sortment of severall mens
goods. The same were compared with the musters [samples|?
and none comeing to the first muster of pagodas 1§ per peece
or 32} pagodas per corge [score], they being sorted by the
three next musters, were now compared and valued by them as
followeth, vizi., 3523 peices, the muster was 28: pag: per Corpge,
now agreed at 27: pagodas per Corge.  3044: peices, the muster
was 26 pag: per Corge, now agreed for 25: pagodas per Corge.

1 Probably Mir Ingiyatw’llal.  See below, the last entry in the list.

2 There is a duplicate of this entry in Fdrmry Recovds, Masuiipaiam, vol. 1,
3 See paragraph 37 (2) of Master's instructions, wife, vol. i, p, 211,
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1679: peices, the muster was 24} pagodas the Corge, now agreed
at 23; pagodas per Corge. The said goods haveing binn
measured browne [unbleached] are now to be measured by
Mr. Wynn, and what they are found to come short of the
contract, to be abated out of the money to be paid; alsoe two
peeces for musters of the said goods were ordered to be sealed,
and oneof them to [be] sent for England with Labells annexed
of the price, the quantity of prizes and No. of Bales wherein
they are packed according to the Honourable Companyes
orders.}

Mr. Arnolds Charge agawnst Streynshaw Master.

I, Joseph Arnold, know nothing of the pretended assertion,?
but Mr. Masters doth as he pleaseth, 1 will not excuse him
impartially, he haveing reccived a bribe from Mr. Mohun at the
same time. Mr. Mainwaring only and mysclfe secured the
Honourable Companyes estate as honest and just men should
doe, because wee doe not promise to oursclves the riches of this
world, but the promise of the world to come~—JosSErPH ARNOLD.

January sth-——Received advices from Mr. Hatton at Mada-
pollam?® that, according to the late order sent him, he had
proportioned the 172: Bales of cloth provided in the Factory as
followeth :—s50: Bales for the Eaple; 49: Bales for the Johanna ;
36: Bales for the Faulcon ;- 37: Bales for the Surratt Merchant.

January 6.—Mr. Hatton came to Towne [i.c., Masulipatam]
from Madapollam. The Honourable Companyes printed orders
and Indulgence were fixed upon boards and hung up in the
Hall and in the Office.

Jamuary 8: Monday.— At a Consultation,* Present ;—STREVYN-
siAM  MasteRr, Eso. ; Mr. Matuuw Mainwaring ; Me.
CurisToPHER HaTTON; MR. GRORGE CHAMBLERLAINE.

Mr. Master delivered a paire of Sucratt Bookes, Letter M.,

L The signatures here, aml at the end of the following Consnltations, have
been omitted.

% 1t is not clear to what the ‘pretended assertion’ refers.

4 The letter is dated gth January, 1677, See Fuctory Records, Madupollum,
vol. il

* There is a duplicate of this Consultation in Fuctory Recovds, Masulipatam,
vol. i,
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that a Coppy thereof might be taken to remaine in this Factory
for the better explanating the method proposed the 10: August
last,! and alsoe directed the following rules to be observed .

The accompt of Sallary to be eatered in the bookes on Lady
day yearly.

That the bills and attestations for all moneyes paid out of cash
(as Directed the 1o: of August last) be read and passed in Councell
every week, and the same noted in the Consultation booke.

The accompt of cash to be Ballanced in the Ledger monthly
as in the Surratt Bookes.

That the Purser Gennerall, in the Bookes formerly appointed
to be kept for a register of the wills and Inventoryes of the
deceascd, doe alsoc therein keepe a register of Marnagoes,®
Birthes, Christenings, and Burialls.

That the Third in-Madapollum or in the Subordinate
Factoryes doe take charge of all expences of the same, and to
keep the accompt thereof, as the Purser Gennerall® is appointed
in this Factory, and such assistance to be appointed him as shall
be necessary.

That upon occassions of treating the Dutch or other Strangers,
the young men of the Lactory at stich times doe cat apart by
themselves, and those only to come to the table whome the
Cheife shall think fitt to call, as is practised at Surratt.

That all Qutcryes of Japparell and  necessaryes of the
deceased be made in Eaglish money and reduced into Pagodas
at gs. or into Rupees at 2s. 0d., to he paid in ready money and
not charged in the bookes to the accompt of the buyers.

That the Letters and advices to the Honourable Company be
adressed with a becoming respeet in a Submissive stile, and
directed, To the Honourable the Governour and Company of
Merchants of London tradeing to the Hast Indies,

Whereas in the Consultation of the 12th of August last, [it]
was directed that the Coppyes of all Consualtations should be sent

L Seeante, Consultation of 1oth August, and also Consultation of 3rd November,
at Kasimbazar,

2 Mrs, Penny's Muayriages al Fort St Geovge begin in 1680, The earlier
registers both there and at Masulipatamn appeac (o have perished,

3 According to pasagraph 15 of Master’s Instructions, the Council at

Masulipatam was to consist of a Chief, Bookkeeper, Warehousekeeper, and
1 rser-General,
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to the Agent and Councell at Fort St. George by every con-
veighance after they were transacted, It is now thought more
convenient that a Duplicate of the Diary and Consultation
booke, and alsoe a Coppy of the accompt of cash, be every
moneth fairly transcribed, signed and sent to the Agent and
Councell at the Fort.

That Madapollam or the Subordinate Factoryes doe observe
the same method that is there prescribed in the keeping their
accompts, and alsoe in their Diary and Consultation booke,
and that every moncth they send two Duplicates thereof, and
of their accompts of cash, one for Metchlepatam, and the other
to be thence forwarded to the Agent and Councell at the Fort,
and alsoe Treble coppyes of their bookes every yeare to be
Superscribed, one for Metchlepatam, one for the Fort, and one
for England ; and that there be keptin that Factory one Coppy
of their bookes of accompts, one coppy of their Diary and Con-
sultation booke, and Cappyes of their Letters received and
sent, which are not to be carcyed away upon the removeall of
any Chetfe.

FREEMEN SENT FOR.
Mr. Peter Radelife [ Radcliffe ]!
Mr. John Fejld?

Mr. George Uriell [Vriell PP

1 Peter Radcliffe and bis brother Thomas are mentioned between 1672 and
1681 as trading on their own account at Fort St, George, Masulipatam, and in
Bengal, On the 2nd December, 1678, they applied for passes to be granted
thern as inhabitants of Madras. They both, however, remained at Masulipatam
until January, 1680, when Thomas went to Madras. In December, 1680, Peter,
who was still at Masulipatam, was warned against having dealings with
*interlopers,” and in March of 1681 be too repaired to Fort St. George (Factory
Records, Masulipatam, vols, ii. and iii, ; O.C., Nos. 4218, 4385; Madras Press List
for 1698, No. 548).

¢ John Field went out to India in the Expedition in 1655, entered the Company’s
service in 1662, and was commended to the Court of Committees in 1669 (Factory
Records, Fort St. George, vol. i.; 0.C, Nos. 3242, 4136). In 1675 he left the
service because Joseph Arnold was placed above him at Masulipatam. He was
readmitted in 1677 as fourth at Masulipatara.  Ile is mentioned again later on,

3 George Uriell appears again (as George Vriell) in the Second ' Memoriall.’
He remained at Masalipatam until August, 1678, when, ‘ with one servant and a
Trunck of Apparell,’ he was allowed a passage in the Willigmson for Balasor. In
September he was at Kasimbazar, and later in the year he went to Golconda

with Peter Large. His death is recorded in vol. ii, (Factory Recovds, M asulipatuin,
vol, ii., Kusimbazar, vol, i. ; Mudsas Press List for 1679, No. 623).
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FREEMEN SENT FOR (continued).

Mr. John Slade! Joseph Henderson
Edward Greenhill2 Phincas Brewester®
Francis Brough? Thomas Davis®

Anthony Ticknall* Andrew Gill7

! This individual may possibly be the John Slade mentioned by Yule, Hedges'
Diary, vol. ii., p. 341 among the sufferers at Pulo Condore in 1707. His name
appears in the list of those missing and *supposed gone to Cochin China.’

# There are allusicns to Edward Greenhill in private letters of 1678 and 1670,
Tn 1680 he wus commander of the A ppearance, bound from Madras to Porto Novo
(0.C., Nos. 4393, 1303, 4530 ; Factory Recovds, Masubipatam, vol, iii.).

* Francis Brough, with his wife and daughter, was still at Masulipatam in
1678, In August of that year he was *fetched to the Fort,’ but he was at
Masuolipatam again in 1679 and 1680 (0.C., Nos. 4428, 4436, 4471; Fuciory
fecords, Masulipatum, vols. ii. and iii.),

* Anthony Ticknall {or Tickner) remained at Masulipatam until the 24th July,
1680, when his death is thus recorded : * Anthony Tickner, an English Freecman,
who dwelt severall years in Golcondah, act now of late yeares in this Towne
of Metchlepatam, departed this life about noon’ (Fuctory Regords, Masulipatam,
vols. i and iii.).

5 Phincas Drewster was at Port St George 1n 1679 and 1680, In March of
1680 he caused a scandal by his marriage with a T'ortuguese Roman Catholic,
and the priest who performed the ceremony ‘fled to avoid punishment,” In
August of 1682, Phineas Brewster returncd [rom DBengal and brought ‘a
Portuguese’ (possibly his wife) from Balasor * without order,’ In April, 1687,
his name appears in a list of men recalled from the King of Siam’s service
{Fuctory Recovds, Fort 51, Grorgy, vols. il and xx.; 0.C., No, 4835).

¢ Thomas Davis was keeper of a tavern at Masulipatam. He came out as
cooper of the Royal C.uries, under Captain Barker, in 1661.  He acted as cooper
at the Fort for eighteen months, and cventually went to Masulipatam (in 1603),
where he settled down, and kept a ¢punch house’ without, however, cbtaining
any licence for su doing. In October, 1675, the chaplain, Thomas Whitehead,
reported to Major Puckle and the Council at Masulipatam that Davis was an
‘abominable prophancr of the name of God,” and his house a place of ill-repute,
inasmuch as excessive drinking was there encouraged to the detriment of the
health of the Compary's servants and the danger of their lives. Davis was
further charged with grossly insulting the  Padres’ and John Tivill, factor at
Masulipatam, Ior these offences he was imprisoned, and was forbidden to sell
liquor of any kind for the future, On the 4th November, 1675, Major Packle
wrote to Sir William Langlorne that he intended to send Davis to Fort
St. George.  When the Court received the repart of the innkeeper's ill-doings,
they wrote (on the 13th December, 1670) that he appeared 'to be a very pro-
phane Person, and one that debauches our People.' ‘They ordered that, * if not
reclaimed,’ he should be sent o England. However, in 1678, 1679, and 1680
Davis was still living as a freeman at Masulipatam, and there he died on the
24th January, 1684 (Factory Records, Masulipatam, vols, ii., iii., iv., Fort St. George,
vol. xxviii, 5 Lettey Book, vol. v., pp. 367, 360).

" Andrew Gill had also served in the Company's ships (from 1635 to 1660}
before settling down at Masulipatam as a tavern keeper. He, too, was reported
to the Council at Yort $t. George in October, 1675, for allowing drunkenness on
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FREEMEN SENT FOR (continued).

Henry Tillam
Benjamin Broomer!
William Faulkener

OTHERS ABSENT,

Mr. George Everard?® Peter Dod?
Wm. Mallett James Horner*

his premises, and was forbidden to sell intoxicants. He petitioned against the
prohibition, and was eventually, in November, 1675, granted a licence, renew-
able upon his good behaviour, to sell * punch’ for one year, His name appears
in the list of freemen at Masulipatam up to 1680 (Factory Recovds, Masulifatam,
vols. i., ii., iil., and Fort St. George, vol. xxviii.).

! In paragraph 19 of their letter of December, 1675, the Court had sent strict
injunctions for the return of Benjamin Broomer, who had gone to India as a
soldier in 1672. Broomer went to Eugland in January, 1677, and his arrival
is noted in the Company’s letter of t4th December, 1677 (Letter Book, vol., v,
p. 493).

¥ George Everard, mariner, is first mentioned at Balasor in October, 1666,
when he signed a protest against Captain Eastgate for not taking his ship up
the Hugli River. In October, 1675, he was at Masulipatam, and was warned by
Puckle not to accept the command of the King of Golconda’s ship Indulgence.
He was then married to Christopher Hatton's ¢ wife's sister.” In 1678 * Madam
Everard ' was a purchaser at the ‘outery’ of the widowed Margery Fleetwood's
goods at Masulipatam. In December, 1678, Gearge Everard, with Messrs, Field
and Scattergood, was in attendance on the King of Golconda when he visited
' Divy Island.” In Januwary, 1679, he commanded the King of Golconda’s ship
in a voyage to Gombroon. In May, 1680, be was master of Hatton's sloop, the
Princess, bound to Achin.  On the 25th December, 1680, news was received at
Masulipatam that the Princess, * after four months' tossing,’ was < forced upon’
an island on the Arakan coast; that the ship was injnred, and the cargo spoiled ;
that three men were devoured by tigers, and others * seized for slaves.” George
Everard himself ¢ died of griet, and lay three dayes aboard,” but was eveatually
buried ashore. In April, 1681, his widow married Fenry Croon Colborne
(Factovy Recovds, Musulipatam, vols, ii. and iii,, Fort St. George, vol, xuviil, ;
0.C., Nos. 3192 and 4436).

* Peter Dod served as mate in Robert Ileetwood’s ship, the Recovery, in
1675-76. In September, 1678, he is described as a ‘marriner and inhabitant’
of Masulipatam. He was then building a ship for George Chamberlain at
¢ Gingerlee,' and was at variance with Matthew Mainwaring. In September,
1684, he sailed to Pegu, and, according to orders from Fort St. George, reported
on the advisability of a settlement there. On the 25th March, 1686, the Fort
8t. George Diary records that * Peter Dod, Master of Ship Providence, weighing
anchor, in order to his going for Pegu, was accidentally kill'd by a Barr of the
Capstern’ (Factory Recovds, Maswlipatan:, vols. i. and ii., Fori St. George, vol. iv.,
Miscellaneous, vol, ilia.).

* James Horner, who had left Masulipatam in 1675, returned there from
Queda on the 1zth March, 1678, * with Nyne Elephants,’ and sailed again for
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OTHERS ABSENT (continued).

Richard Wilson John Crossley
Francis Barnes? Phillip Noden*
Bryam Hanslap George Wildley
Peter Large?® George Carden
Vincent Saffory? Wm. Cammecll
Robert Freeman? W, Vicars

John Benson

The said Persons being sent for before the Councell, the
Honourable Companyves orders were read to them: ¢ That all
Englishmen not in the Honourable Companyes scrvice are to
reside at Fort St. George or Madraspatam, and they are not to
be premitted to build or buy houses_ in any other place nor to
enter into the serviee of the King of Golecondah or any other
Prince in these Countryes,’

And then they were acquainted that if they gave observance
to these rules by mukeing their residence at Madras, they
would Reccive the benifitt of the Companyes protection in all
places whither they went, otherwise they would be esteemed
contemuers of those orders and conld expect noe benifitt of the
Companyes protection and countenance.  To which they made
noe answer.

the same port on the -oth May. In October, 1678, he obtained a ‘Pass to
Vaoyage to Queda’ npon condition that he and his wife shouk! come and reside
at FFort St. George in January, 168o. The time was afterwards extended until
1681. In 1687 he was ut Porto Novo, where he appears to have died. See
Bowrey, Countries Round the Bay of Bengal, p. 203 and footnote,

! Francis Barnes was still at Masolipatam, living as a freeman, in 1678
(Fuctory Recovds, Masulipatam, vol. i1},  After this date T have failed to trace him.

? See ante, note on p. s,

# Robert Freeman was elected a writer in November, 1667, arrived in India
in 1668, and was employ:d ar Masulipatam until 1675, when he left the service
because John Tivill was placed above him, On the sth July, 1673, he married
Robert Fleetwood's daughter (0.C., No. 3810). Ile traded on his own account
for some years, and accompanied Master unofficially in the journey of inspection
of 1679, as appears later on.

! Like Benjamin Broomer, Philip Noden had gone to India as a soldier in
1674, and, by the Conrt's letters of December, 1675, and December, 1677, was
ordered to be sent back to England. The orders were disregarded, and Noden
remained as a freeman at Masulipatam, where Master found him in April, 1679
(Factory Records, Muasulipotam, vols, ii. and iii.; Letter Book, vol. v., p. 493;
0.C.. Nos. 4215, 4397)
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Benjamin Broomer was acquainted with the Companyes
orders for his returne to England by these ships, who answered
that he was makeing himselfe ready to comply therewith.

January 8.—The Councell mett upon the prizing the Oringall
Beteelaes [ Warangal veilings], and made the following entrey?
thereof in the Consultation booke:—The Oringall Beteelaes
being good part of them sorted, the Councell proceeded to
make the prizes thereof with the merchants.  Mr. Wynn
haveing taken out 15: peices of cach sortment of the goods of
severall men, the same were compared with the musters, and
none comeing neare the musters by which the contract was
made at 25} pagodas per Corge, nor to the first muster of last
yeares sortment, they being this yeare sorted, vizt,, The first
sort by last ycares Second muster, The 2d sort by last yeares
third, and a 3d of this yeares a sortment lower, which being
now examined and Compared, they were valued and agreed for
as followeth :—

435: peices of the first already sorted. The last yeares second
was at 23: pagodas per Corge; these now agreed for at
204 pagodas per Corge.

2273 peices of the Second already sorted. The last years third
was at 21} pagodas per Corge; these now agreed for
at 194 pagodas per Corge.

4137: peices of the third already sorted, now agreed for at
174 pagodas per Corge.

6845 Peeces.

The said goods to be measured by Mr. Wynn, and what they
are found to come short of the Contract, to be abated out of
the money to be paid ; alsoe two peeces for musters of the said
guods were ordered to be scaled, and one of them to be sent for
England with Labells annexed to them of the price, the quantity
of Peeces, and Numbers of the Bales wherein they are packed,
according to the Honourable Companyes orders.

Meir Jamaul Mahmud [Mir Jamal Muhammad], with other
of Mr. Fleetwoods Creditors, came to the Factory againe this

¥ There is a duplicate of this *entrey * in Factory Records, Masulipatom, vol, i,
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afternoone and desired to know what care was taken concerning
the moneyes Mr. Fleetwood owed them,! and with whome I
would leave that husiness in charge, that they might apply
themselves accordingly.  To whome I answered that the
Company was in the same condition with them, and wee were
to looke for the Companyes moncy as well as they did for
theirs, and had nobody to apply oursclves to, except his wife
and Children. At last they threatened to goe to the King and
Great Mogult for releife, and parted angry.

Januwary 8.—The Faulcon and Swurratt Merchant arrived this
day from the Bav, from whence they were dispatched the 3rst
of last moneth.

Senior Hartsink, the Dutch Cheife of Golcondah, came to
vissit me this morneing, and in the eveneing Mr. Mainwaring,
Mr. Hatton, Mr. Arnoldand myselfe vissited Scnior Smith, the
Cheife of their Factory heree  He was very weak and kept his
bed, but upon good hopes of recoverv.? Their [the Dutch]
Iactoty is very large, and'they have bought and are still a buy-
ing in the houses adjacent to them, which they lewvill, the better
to preserve themselves from fire, and, it is thought, to make
their Factory defensible.. They had ten or twelve souldiers a
gaurd at the doore. who fired three volleyes and some Chambers
ov ordinance at our goeing and comeing.

January g.—Tuesday, Att @ Consaltation ® Prosent :—STREYN-
sHAM MasTuir, Eso: [and Council as before].

Mr. Chamherlaine haveing brought in a parcell of ordinary
Sallampores, prized at 81 pagodas per Corge, upon accompt of

1 See ante, p. 90, for a previous application.

: He died, however, two months later, at the age of thirty-nine, on the

215t March, 1677, and was buried in the Dutch cemetery at Masulipatam, The
inscription on his tombstone, as translated by Mr, J. J. Cotton, is as follows:

' The dry bones of Smith rest under this slab,
In the bloom of his days and the prime of his lile,
He hath ziven back his worthy soul to the Creator,
Relinquishing straightway all earthly vanities.
Now freed from the plagues of this world, he lauds and
praises CGod.
No man 13 happy before the end of his days.”
Inserrpiions on Tombstones or Monwments in Madrus, p. 237 ¢ seq,
% There is a duplicate of this Consultation in Fuctorv Records, Masulipatam,
vol, L
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the 2250:; pagodas mentioned in the Consultation of the first
Instant, The Councell accepted the same, he declaring that
they were his owne proper goods and the Company not
responsible to any other person for the same.

The Companyes servants, the younge men of the Factory,
representing to the Councell that their Sallaryes is hardly
sufficient for their maintenance, and yett, out [of] that, they
pay for washing their Linneing, The Councell considering
thereof, and that such allowance is customary m other Factoryes,
thought fitt that a rupec a moneth be allowed to every one of
them for washing their Linnen, that being the common rate
they pay.

There being a sort of fine Beteelaes, commonly called
Comerweley, made at a place of that name neare Golcondah,}!
The Councell thought fitt to order a few peeces of the same to
be sent the Company by these ships for a Tryall, Mr. Master
haveing directions in his Commission, ‘ If any sorts of goods
may be found out proper for Europe to advise with the Cheifes
and Councells touching the same.’

Aga Jellala [Agha Jalal] Governour of the Towne, haveing
lately presented a horse, and upon a vissit to Mr. Master at the
Factory, Invited him to a treat at his house, and there, besides
his entertainement, according to the custome of the Countrey,
presented him with two peeces of stuff, The Councell consider-
ing that these civillityes are designed in expectation of a
reciprocall returne, and not thinking fitt, in respect to the
Companyes Interest to disoblige him by a disappointment,
resolved that he be presented to the value of 200: Pagodas
privately, or Publicquely in money or goods, as hec shall
intimate his owne Inclinations thereto.

Mrs. Jane Cole, widdow of Robert Cole, Dyer, late deceased
in Bengala, presenting her petition? to the Councell that they

1 The place intended appears to be Komaravolu, the Komaralu of the Indian
Atlas in lat, 17° 43" and long. 88° 44", It is near Golgonda, in the Vizagapatam
dlbticgopy of the petition is given below. See ante, vol. 1., p. 206, for Master's
previous business with the Widow Cole. 1In 1677 she appears to have gone to
Bengal, where she married Daniel Roberts, pilot in the Company’s service. In

1678 her daughters followed her to Kasimbazar (Factory Records, Masulipatam,
vol. i, ; Kasimbazar, vol, i.; 0.C,, No. 4483).
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would commisserat her condition, she being left with three
Children destitute of any meanes for her Subsistance, The
Councell considering thereof were very sensible of her de-
plorable condition, yett could not find it proper for them to
assigne her any releife upon the Companyes account, not well
knowing what provission is usaall for such persons, and therc-
fore doe refer her and her Condition to the Consideration of
the Agent and Councell.

Mpys. Jane Colc’s Petition, dated Metchlepatam oth January, 1676-7.
Factory Records, Masultpatam, vol, 1.

To the Worshipful Streynsham Master, Ksqr,, Chief &ca. Councell
for Affaires of the Honowrable  English Kast India Company lo
Metchlepatam,

Honored Sirs, By the Honble. Companys Order and permission
1 came into these parts toomy hushand. Roburt Cole, their Servant,
whose Death hath left me and o charge of children without uny
meanes of Subsistance.  Fhis great affliction was the less insupportable
unto me, being encournged to hepe that ou consideration of my late
husbands Services done his Masters (which received the approbation
of his Chief) some regard would be had and care taken for the releif
of his Wife and Children, and L was also informed that there was a
provision made by the Honorable Company for the maintenance of
such unfortunate persons as my sclf. - But since you have becn
pleased to lett me know the Conirary, 1 humbly present my
Condition {o your scrious -cousideration ;  Looke upon me, attended
with afl the miserable consequences which wail upon poverty, farr
from my Native Countrey and those Freinds whose kindness would
contribute to the releif of my nccessityes, and exposed to those
incoaveniences which T never yet was acquainted with.  And all-
though the Honcrable Company has determined nothing for your
Direction in this case or others of the like Nature, yet, with your
permission, T am confident their picty will approve what yon shall do
in Favour of me, since [it is] animediate Act of Charity to the widdow
and the Fatherless, whose prayers to heaven for yvowr preservation and
happiness shall be continually offered up by, Honoured Sirs, Your
very humble servant, Jang CoLx.

The Fauwlcon and Survatt Merchant being yesterday arrived to
this Port from Bengala, and the Eagle and Johanna haveing
taken in the greatest part of the goods that are in readyness at
this place (which is an indificrent proportion of the whole
Investment), The Councell considering that it is prejudiciall to
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the Companyes Interest longer to detaine them at this place,
doe order that the ships Eagle and Johanna be dispatched for
Fort St. George this Evening, and that the Fawlcon and Surratt
Mevchant doe stay to take in the remainder of the goods. And
whereas there hath binn some misunderstandings about sorting
of the goods, It is now ordercd, for the speedy and more
certaine dispatch of the same, That every morneing, imediatly
after Prayers, Mr. Mainwaring doc send for the other Com-
missioners and all other the Companyes servants to the sorting
place, and himselfe, with such of the Cominisstoners as shall be
present, to appoint all those persons, as well themselves as
others who are not upon urgent Employment in the Honour-
able Companyes business, to sort the cloth untill dinner, and
againe after dinner untill night; #ill the same be finished. And
that therc may be noe pretence for any lett or hinderance to the
Speedy dispatch of this affair, It is ordered that noe messages
or Papers of any differences upon accusations, recriminations
or other matters between the Commissioners or other the
Companyes servants be received or sent by one or other untill
the ships be dispatched.

January the oth.—The Commissioners, upon my inquirey,
acquainted mee that the bonds taken last yeare of Davis and
Gill, upon Licence given them to sell Punch,® might now be
cancelled, the time heing expired,

The Saysummutt [sair samat, revenue collector] of the Towne
sent to me to desire passage for a servant of his upon our ships
to Madras, which 1T granted.

About ten a Clock this night I left Metchlepatam, and
embarqued aboard the Fagle,

AccoMPT oF THE TRADE OF METCHLLEPATAM.Z

Metchiepatam, January ogth, 1676-7,— To the Worshipfull
Streynsham Master, Esq:—Sir, T shall Confine my discourse

! See ante, note on p, 105, There is no record of any licence being granted to
Davis after his release from prison,

® This * Accompt’ is taken from thie collected papers at the end of the Diary,
It is placed here for the sake of chronelogical sequence.
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concerning the Traffick used in this mart of Metchlepatam
within the Limitts of my owne Experience, haveing now neare
overpassed 20: yeares in these parts.!

Arriveing first in the yeare 1657, at which time I found this
place in a very florishing condition, zo: sayle of ships of
good burden belonging to the natives Inhabitans here con-
stantly imployed on voyages to Arracan, Pegu, Tenassery
[Tenasserim], Junceeloan { Junkceylon], Queda, Mallaca, Johore,
Atcheen [Achin |, Moca [ Mocha], Persia, and the Maldiva Islands,
and to all these parts the goods and Merchandize were of the
production of the parts here Circumjacent, as all sorts of Cal-
licoes, Cotton varne, Paintings [printed cotton goods] of divers
sorts, Iron, Steel, and all sorts of Graine, and all Commodityes
againe imported where (si¢) hence dispersed in the Dominions of
the Mogull, Visapore [ Bijapur}, and Golcondah [Haidarabad].
And in this state it continued for many yeares, untill the Nether-
landish Company settled their Factory at Golcondah [in 1661},
where, keeping stores of all sorts of commodityes, they furnished
those Merchants that usually came downe every yeare to this
place, and thereby first occasioned a decay of trade here. The
next and fatallest prejudice this place reccived arose from the
corruption of Government at Golecondah. The last King, Shaw
Abdalla [Abdullah Qutb Shah, 1624-5 to 1672], leaveing the
management of his Kingdome to a Persian, Sayed Meer Jasfar
[Sayyid Mir Jafir], who rent{ed] out his Countrey to such as
would give most; and they, to raise the summes, by which meances
growne double to the former rents, oppressing the People, have
now reduced this piace and indeed all the Countrey to this low
Condition it now appeares in. For at present the whole trade
and support of this place depends on the Honourable Companyes
negotiation, and alsoe those of the Netherlandish Company,
whose usuall Investment consists in long cloth, fine and course
Sallampores, Beteelaes | Port. beatilha, veiling] of Divers sorts,
Morees [mir], Ginghams, Percollaes [ parkald], Allejacs [aldchah ],
etc., and all these Commaodityes of the groweth and Manufacture
of this province of Narsinga [ Vijayanagar ], not to say anything

1 Hatton was in India for fourteen years before he entered the Company’s
service.

VOL. Il 2
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of the Diamond mines, which is much dispersed to other parts
since the declineing estate of this.

The manner of makeing Investments and contracting with
Merchants is soe obvious that it will be heedless [? needless]
to say any thing thereof, as varrying in divers Circumstances,
according to the Judgement and Experience of those that have
dealings with them (and whereof you may have plenary satis-
faction in our Consultation booke, where all Circumstances
relateing thereunto are recorded), only thus much in Gennerall:
—noe considerable quantity of any sort of Callicoes can be pro-
cured without given (sic) money out some monthes before,
which requires care and circumspection concerning those soe
intrusted, and this great deffect manifest[s] the declention of
trade, for, at my first arrivall into these parts, the Towne was
soe well stored with able Merchants, that many ships Ladeings
of Divers sorts of Callicoes might and were procurable in the
space of two or three dayes.

In this breife description I have laxd downe the state of this
place and trade, which, if hereafter you will please to Command
to have more amply dilated, It shall be carefully obeyed by, Sir,
Your very Humble Servant, CurisToOPHER HATTON.

January 10.—The Boates thut were Laden with goods yester-
day could not gett aboard untill this morneing, and the sea
breese being come in before they were delivered, the ships
could not saile this day. There was now ship[t] off from this
place :~—43: Bales of fine Sallampores; 36: Bales Oringall
Beteelaes ; 20: Bales browne Long cloth; Corne and wood for
the releife of the Fort being beseidged by the Natives,! besides
the Madapollam goods aforesaid.

! See anle, p. g5, for the letter notifying the siege of Fort St. George by
Podela Lingappa. This individual, ndysk of Poonamallee (Pindamalli), had
been a thorn in the side of the English since his appointment, early in 1675,
In their ‘ Generall’ to the Company of December, 1676, and January, 1677, the
Council at Fort St. George wrote at great length of their sufferings from
Lingappa’s extortions. He had stopped their provisions from the 6th September,
1676, and on the 16th December * Callicos and all other things’ The Council
expostulated, and appealed to the King of Golconda, but all in vain. Soldiers
were therefore enlisted to ‘encrease our In and out guards,’ and Lingappa
promptly raised ‘his Bloccus.’ On the 13th Januvary, 1677, he paid a peaceable
visit to the English factory, when an interchange of presents took place. See
0.C ., No. 42135, pp. 22-26,
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January 11.—In the morneing, about 4: a Clock, a letter from
Mr. Mainwaring, by a Cattemaran, adviseing that the natives
had raised the Scidge at the Fort, and the Agent and Councell
had sent to revoke their order for corne and wood. About
5: a Clock this morneing the Eagle and johanna sett saile from
Metchlepatam Roade.

The Dutch have nine places and Pactoryes upon this coast
and in the King of Golcondahs dominions, under the direction
of their Governour at Pollicat,! vezt., Pollicatt, Metchlepatam,
Golcondah, Pollicull [ Palakollu]? (which place and Towne they
rent of the King, at 1000: old pagodas per annum, though the
last yeare, by reason of their great present,® they paid but a
thousand pagodas new:* and at this place they did usually
invest 70: or 8oooo: pagodas per annwm in cloth, but this last
yeare they provided but 5o: bales); Naglewanche [Nagelwanze |®
which is Cheifely for Tron that they send to their new built
worke house by Nassapore [Narsapur] under the care of Polli-
cull; Sadraspatam,® and Tegapatam” to the Southward of
Madrass; Dasheroon® and Bimlepatam, to the northward of
Metchlepatam; in all or most of these places they are indebted
to the natives, the Merchants with whome they deale, and have
not wherewith to pay them. This yeare their investments have

! Pulicat, in Chingleput district, was the earlicst settlement of the Dutch in
Southern India. They had a factory bere in 1609, and erected their fort of
Geldria in 1619.

2 See ante, vol. 1., note on p. 297.

3 The allusion appears to be o the offerings made by the Dutch to Abu'l-
Hassan Shah, King of Golconda, on the occasion of his visit to Masulipatam in
January, 1676. See Bowrey, Countries Round the Bay of Bengal, p. 28 and footnote.

4 The old pagoda was worth r2s, at this period, and the new pagoda 8s.
See Bowrey, Countries Round the Buy of Bengal, pp. 114, 115,

5 See ante, vol, 1., p. 266, for a note on this factory.

% Sadras (Seven Pagodas), in Chinglepnt district,  The Dutch settled herc
in 1647.

7 Tegnapatam, the old name for Fort St. David, in South Arcot.

8 Dracharam, as the place is called on the modern maps, Dasheroon in the
seventeenth-century British records, Datchaveram, Daatzerom in the Duich
books, are all corruptions of Drakshirama or Dakshirima, the name of a very
old village seventeen miles south-west of Cocanada, where there is a large temple
to Bhimeshvara. Twa carved Dutch tombs, the remains of the old seventeenth-
century Dutch factory, are still in existence at Dricharam. The identification
of Dasheroon with Jazannidhapuram, close te Cocanada, by Morris (Goduvery

District Manual, p. 197) is an error. See Indion Antiguary, vol. xxxvii., p. 355,
n. 1.
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binn very small in the other places, soe well as att Pollicull, at
which place, by reason of the advantage of the Command of
the People, great numbers of weavers have shrowded [sheltered
themselves under their protection. They make the best Long
cloth and Sallampores, but if they faile of giveing them imploy-
ment, they must seek it of others elcewhere. They have severall
great Boates upon this Coast, with which they supply all their
Factoryes and places with Rice and graine.

The Towne of Metchlepatam stands about halfe a mile from
the sea, a small Creick with a barr to it going up to it, and
every spring tide the water overflowes round about the towne,
soe that there is noe goeing out but upon two wooden bridges,
and when it raines there is a noisome smell in the Towne.!

The 13th of November last there happened a very great
storme about Metchlepatam and Nassapore, which did great
dammage to the Countrey by blowing downe houses and trees,
and by the report of the English here was more violent then
any that had happened of late ycares.?

January 16th.~~Wee made the high land of Pollicatt.

January 17.—~In the morneing wee sailed in sight of Pollicatt,
saw two ships rideing in the roade. In the afternoone, about
5 a Clock, came to an anchor in Madrass roade. About an
houre after [ went ashoare and was recetved with much kind-
ness. In the roade there was rideing the Triplicane and the
St. a Cruz® belonging to a Portuguez, a new ship belonging to
Mr. Jearsey,* and the Ava Merchant that escaped in the storme
at Ballasore. Before 1 went on shoare I sent a letter to the
Agent and Councell, the Coppy whereof followeth :—

Honourable and Honoured Freinds, The gth Instant at night
I imbarqued at Mctchlepatam, the roth the ships tooke in
goods, and the 11th, about 5: in the morneing, ships Eagle and
Johanna salled (sic) thence. Haveing mett with small and Con-

1 For contemporary descriptions of Masulipatam, see Bowrey, Countries Round
the Bay of Bengal, pp. 61-63 and note,

? This cyclone does not appear to have been recorded elsewhere.

3 See Bowrey, Countries Round the Ray of Bengal, p. 172, . 3, for the history of
the Sancta Cruz.

4 See ante, vol. i., p. 248, for a note on William Jearsey.
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trary winds, our passage hath binn thus long. The Faulcon and
Surratt Merchant wee left in Metchlepatam roade, where they
artrived the 8th. Mr. Mohun is come upon the Johanna.

Inclosed is the two bills of Ladeing for these two shipps from
Metchlepatam, whence they sent noe gennerall Letter, but this
herewith sent I received from Mr. Chamberlaine. You may
please to observe there is a quantity of corne aboard the Eagle
and wood on the Johanna, which will require boats to cleare
the ships by the First! Your Humble Servant, STREYNSHAM
Master., Aboard Ship Loyall Eagle, January 17th, 1676-7.

January 19th-—The Bull, a ship belonging to the King of
Bantam, Captain Holleway Commander, arrived in this place
from Mallacca.

Janwary 20.—At a Consultation? 1 delivered to the Agent and
Councell the following papers, vizl., The Companyes papers
that were in Major Puckles custody as by the Lists. Coppy
of Metchlepatam Consultation booke for may time.  The Papers,
Inventary, and Will® of William Calloway deceased.

January 23.-—

A List 0¥ THE HONOURABLE COMPANYES SERVANTS AT
Forr ST. GEORGE,

Reduced under theiv severall Degrees, tn theiv due Sentority,
according to the Honouradble Companyes late Rules.?

Arrivall m Present Present

Iudia, Degree, SKallary.
1: Sir William Langhorne, Barrt:,
Agent and Governour, came
out to succeed Agent Fox.
craft,® present 3allary 200 /i
gratuity roo /. per annum,

arrived <. June x4, 1670 — 300:

! Viz., by the first opportunity, as soon as possible,

% There is a copy of this Consultation among the Records at Madras, See
Madras Press List fov 2oth fanuary, 1677.

# See ainte, pp. 30-35, for the inventory, The will has disappeared.

¢ ‘There is a duplicate of this list in 0.C., No. 4262.

® Langhorne was appointed in 1669, and his three securities approved on the
2z2nd October in that year (Cowrt Minutes, vol. xxvi,, fol. 185). He sailed for
England in the Bengell Merchant on the 22nd March, 1678 (Factory Records,
Kasimbazar, vol. i.). For a notice of his life see the Dict, Nat. Riog. and
Mrs. Penny, Fort 81, George.
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Arrivall in Present Present
Iadia, Degree. Sallary.
2 Mr, Streynsham Master,

Second in the Agency, came

out to Succeed Sir William

Langhorne, arrived . July 7th, 1696 — 300
3: Mr, Joseph Hinmers, booke-

keeper, came out 4th of the

Councell at 50/i. per annum®  June 14, 1670 — 100
4: Mr. Edward Herrys, ware-

house keeper, came out a

Factor? at 20 /i, perannum  Aug. 1s(, 1662 — 70
5. Mr. john Bridger, Gennerall

Purser or paymaster, came

out of Councell® at 40 4, per

annum, arrived . Aug. 21, 1668 — 50
G: Mr. Timothy Wilkes, Choultry

Justice or Customer came

out a Factor? at 335 /. per

annum, his Sallary made 40

per annum, 1674 ... . Aug. 20, 1668 — 40
7: Mr. Jacob Smith, Choultry

Justice or Customer, came

out assistant to Sir Wm,

Langhorneat §: per annum,8

his Sallary made 40 %, per

anunum 1674, arrived? ... June aq:, 1670 — 40:

! Joseph Hynmers was appointed factor at a Court of Committees on the
2oth October, 1669 (Court Minutes, vol. xxvi., fol, 283),

* Edward Herrys, Herries, or-Herris, was elected factor at a Court of
Committees on the 4th November, 1661 (Court Minutes, vol, xxiv., fols, 211, 212).
In 1666 Herrys was imprisoned by Sir Edward Winter on account of his
adherence to George Foxcroft, and during ‘his confinement ‘all his pursers
bookes ' became * utterly rotted and eaten with ratts and cockroches,” In 1668
he was accused of private trading, and fell into disfavonr, but in 1671, ‘upon
the good character received’ of him, he was readmitted of Council at Fort
8t. George. In 1674 he was made warchonsekeeper. When Master became
Agent, in 1678, Herrys resigned his post, and he and his family sailed to England
in the Casar (0,C., Nos. 3193, 3248, 3992, 8171 ; Factory Recovds, Fort St. George,
vol. xvi., Kasimbazar, vol, i. ; Letter Book, vol. iv., p. 495).

* John Bridger was entertained as a factor at a Court of Committees on the
6th November, 1667 (Court Minutss, vol. xxvi., fols. 59, 67).

* Timothy Wilkes was entertained as a factor at a Court of Committees on the
13th November, 1667 (Court Minutes, vol, xxvi., fol. 62).

§ Jacob Smith was entertained writer, at Sir William Langhorne's request,
at a Court of Committees on the 2gth October, 1669, and was appointed special
assistant to Langhorne, who, on his own responsibility, admitted him as
member of Council at Fort St. George in 1673, The Court refused to ratify
the appointment, and, by orders dated 16th November, 1677, ordered Smith to
be sent to Masulipatam as third. He, however, died at Fort St. George soon
after the receipt of the Company’s letter, on the 17th July, 1678 (Letter Book,
vol. iv., p. 287, Factory Recovds, Miscellaneous, vol. iiid. 3 Court Minutes, vol, xxx.,
p. 103 Mastey Papers, No. 10).

% These first seven names are bracketed together as of * Councell.’
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Arvivall in Presont Present
. India, Dogree, Sallary.
8: John Nicks! came out an Ap-

prentice at 5 {, per annum,
arrived . .- Sep: 8, 1668 Factor, 1676 20:

. John Davis! came out an ap~

prentice at 5/, per annum,
arrived Sep 10, 1668 Factor, 1676 20:

10: John Thomas! ¢; came out an Ap-

prentice at 5/i. per annum,

('~}

arrived . Sep: 1o, 1608 Factor, 1676 20!
11: Elihu Yale came out a Wntcr,-

arrived ... June 23, 1672 Writer 10;
12: Vincent Sayon came out

Writer 2 arrived ... . June z4.% 1072 Writer 10:
13: Francis Ellis? came out a

Writer . June 23, 1672 Writer 10t
14: John Wilcox came out a

Writer+ June 27, 1673 Writer 10:
15: John Pounsett came out tor

Surafit® . e June 27, 1673 Writer 10!
16; Francis Manse l“ a,rrwed <o June 24, 1675 Writer o
17: Richard Frowne? arrived - ... = June 23, 1675 Writer 0:
13: Charles Eyers7 (Eyresjarrived  June 28, 1675 Writer 10:
19: James Wheeler? arrived .5 June 24, 1675 Writer 10;
20: Johnathan Prickman? arrived ~ June 28, 1675 Writer 10:
21: Richard Milton came out an

Apprentice8 .. .. June 27, 1673 5¢

1 Nicks, Davis, and Thomas were all Christ’s Hospital lads, who were pre-
sented to a Couart of Committees on the rzth September, 1667, and bound as
apprentices to serve the Company for eight years from the 1yth January, 1668
(Court Minuies, vol. xxvi., fols, 37 and 87).

¥ Yale, Sayon, and Ellis were elected writers on the 24th October, 1671
{Court Minutes, vol, xyvii,, fol. 181).

* June 23rd in 0.C., No. 4262.

4 John Wilcox was elected writer on the 19th September, 1672, In 1678-81
he was Steward, and in 1681-82 Secretary at Fort St. George. On the gth October,
1682, he was appoinied Chief of the newly-established factory at Conimere.
He was twice marriei] © on the 14th February, 1681, to Susanna Ratcliff, and on
the 22nd September, 1683, to Catherine, daughter of Robert and Margery
Fleetwood, He died at Conimere on the gth June, 1688 (Cowrt Minufes,
vol. xxviii., p. 44| Pringle, Consultation Book of Fort 5t George, 1681-83; Factory
Records, Fort St, George, vols, v., xxi.; Mrs. Penny, Marviages at Fort St George).

5 John Pounsett was elected Wl’lt(‘l on the 1oth September, 1672z (Conrt Minutes,
vol. xxviii,, fol. 4.1).

6 Francis Mansell was elected writer on the 14th October, 1674 (Court Minutes,
vol, xxix., fol, 61). After 1677 he disappears from the Records, and I have been
anable to discover whether he returned to Ingland or died in India.

7 Browne, Hyres, Wheeler, and Drickman were all elected writers on the
14th October, 1674 (Conrt Minutes, vol. xxix,, fol, 61).

8 Milton, a Christ’s Hospita! lad, was bound appreutice to the Company on
the 8th November, 1672 (Court Minuies, vol. xxviii., fol. 69).
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Arrivall in Present Present
India. Degree. Ballary.
Richard Portman, Chaplaine,?
Sallary 50 /i, and gratnity
50 /i, arrived ve  July 7th, 1676 —-— 100
John Waldo, Chirurgeon,? ar-
rived ... . June 14, 1670 -— 30:
Bezaliell Sherman, Chirur-
geon,? arrived i .. Aug. 7th, 1676 -— 30:
Nathaniell Keeble, assistant in
the mint,% arrived here .., June 14, 1670 —_ 20:

January 27th~—~The outcry was made of such things as
Nathaniell Whetham left behind him at this place,® amounting
to Pagodas 16:

The Faulcon and Surratt Merchant arrived from Metchlepatam,
haveing binn eight dayes in theif passage. Upon the Faulcons
comeing into the roade, Captain Bonnell in the Eagle struck
his Flagg and tooke it downe from the maine topp, and after-
wards put it upon the fore top; Captain Stafford tooke his
from the foretop and put it on the maine top, according to the
Honourable Companyes orders to them upon my leaveing the

Fleet.
STREYNSHAM MASTER.
Transcyibed by Richard Browne.

! See ante, vol, i, note on p. 246,

1 have found no entry of Waldo's appointment. In November, 1677,
¢ John Waldo, now eldest surgeon of this Fort,’ was allowed a passage to
England in the Cesav. In 1680 he returned to India in the ‘interloping ship,
formerly the Expectation, now the Commerce,” and is mentioned by Hedges as
carrying on illicit trade in 1683 (Factory Records, Fort St George, vol. xviil.,
Yasulipatam, vol. iii.; Yule, Hedges' Diary, vol, i., p. 04).

9 Bezalie] Sherman was elected surgeon for Fort St. George on the
24th November, 1675 (Court Minutes, vol. xxix., fol. 190). See also the allusion
to him and his wife in the Company’s General Letter, anfe, vol. i, p. 254,

4 See ante, vol. 1., note on p, 251, for Keeble's appointment as ‘ essayer of gold.’
For his quarrel with Herrys, his arrest and subsequent forgiveness by the
Council, see Notes and Extracts, 1st Series, p. 49. He was drowned on the
13th August, 1678, ' comeing ashore in a Mussoola [surf-boat}’ to Fort St, George
(Master Papers, No, 10). His widow, Mary Keeble, was living at Fort St, George
in January, 1679 (Notes and Extracts, p. 102).

5 See ante, pp. 37-30, for the ‘outery ' of Whetham’s property in Bengal.
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INTRODUCTORY PAPERS TO STREYNSHAM
MASTER'S ‘MEMORIALL/

MARCH-MAY, 1679

Extracts of the Minutes of a Consultation at Fort St. George, on
the 3d Mavch, 1679. Mackenzie MSS., vol. lii., pp. 8, 9.

It was resolved to be necessary and for the Honble. Com-
panyes interest for the Agent to visitt those Factorys sub-
ordinate to this jurisdiction . .. in the Agents absence, that
Mr. Joseph Hynmers, Mr. John Bridger and Mr. Timothy
Wilkes doe take charge of the Companyes affaires at this place
... and that Mr. Richard Mohun, the Minister, Secretary and
some of the young men doe accompany the Agent in his
Journey which is to be commenced assoon as befitting prepara-
tions can be gott ready, it being necessary for the reputation of
the Nation to goc in a handsome Port and Equipage.

Extracts of a Letler from Streynsham Masier and Council at Fort
St. George to Christopher Hatton and Council at Masulipatam,
dated 5 March, 1679.  Faclory Kecords, Fort St. George,
vol. xvili.

Upon consideration of the state of the Honble. Companys
affairs at Metchlepatam and the Adjacent Factorys, and in
respect to the 8: Article of the Honourable Companys orders
made the 18: day of December, 1667: It is thought fit that the
Agent doe visit those Factorys now there is vacancy in business,
and that some of the Councell, the Minister & some others doe
accompany him in this Journey, which he hopes to begin upon

! Thess orders do not appear to exist. See ante, val. i., note on pp, 201, 202,
123
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the roth: or 11: Instant, & therefore we desire you to prepare
the Factory for his reception and to accommodate those that
goe with him; and in regard "twill be necessary for him to take
a veiwe of Pettepolee | Peddapalle]and the Island of Dio [Divi],
he desires that Mr. Hatton and Mr. Wynne and whome else
you thinke fit may meet him at Pettepolee, and that care be
taken to send befiting accommodation of boates for his passing
to the Island of Dio, and a Tent to lodge in there. By reason
of this visitation we shall not enlarge, but refer all to a personall
conversation, and at present remaine, Your very affectionate
freinds, STREYNSHAM MASTER; JosePH HYNMERS; JOHN
BRIDGER; TiMoTHY WILKES; RICHARD MOHUN.

Abstract of a Geneval Letter from Fort St. George to the Court of
Comumittees, dated 10th March, 1679. Iactory Records,
Miscellaneous, vol. 1iia.

Paragraph 4. [This journey] may be performed in six or
seven weeks ; from the experience of this undertaking they may
be the better enabled to direct the Companys affaires in those
parts,

The Agent Sca. commenced thety Journey for Metchlepatam. Fort
Si. George Public Consultations (at Madras), vol, 1L, p. 39.

11th March, 1679.—The Right Worshipfull Streynsham
Master, Esq., Agent and Governour, with Mr. Richard Mohun,
and Mr. Richard Portman commenced their Journey overland
for Metchlepatam, and Mr. Timothy Wilkes accompanying the
Governour part of the way.



A MEMORIALL! OF STREYNSHAM MASTER, Esowr,

AGENT OF THE COAST AND BAY &ca, HIS JOURNEY

FROM FORT ST. GEORGE, MADRASPATAM, TO

METCHLEPATAM &ca. PARTS TO VISIT THOSE
FACTORYS &ca,

FORT 8T. GEORGE--TREVITORE, 1678-9.

THE Diary.

Thwrsday, the 11th March.—In the Evening we sett out of
Madraspatam?and lodged that Night at Trevitore | Tiruvatiyir J*
(5 miles),* where we tooke leave of the rest of the Councell® and
other friends that accompanyed us soc farr on our way.

12th March.—We sett forward and dined at Waloor [Vallar]
(5 miles),’ which 1s halfe way between Madrass and Pollicat
[Pulicat], having in our company the following Persons:—

L Fort St. George Public Consultations, vol, iiL,, pp. 142-185. The only complete
version of this * Memoriall ' is among the records at Madras, where the copy here
reproduced was made. A transcript of the whole of the Diary and of the
greater part of the Consultations held at Masulipatam and Madapollam is
contained in vol. li. of the Muchenzie MSS. at the India Office.  Portions of this
*Memoriall ' are also to be foand in Factory Records, Musulipatam, vol. il ; in
Mackenzie’s Manua: of the Kistwa District; in Morris's Godavery District,; and
in Notes and Extracts from the Gouermment Records ab Fort St. George, 2nd Series,

* Madraspatam was the Hindustani, and Channapattanam the Telugu name
of the place then called by the English Fort St George, and now Madras.

3 Tiruvatiyir is a place of pilgrimage in Chingleput district (Saidapet (@)
with an important festival in February., See Mudras Mawndl of Administration,
vol. iii., s.. Tir,

¢ The mileage, given in parentheses after each stage of the journey, appears in
marginal notes in the original.

® The Council at Fort St George at this date consisted of S. Master,
J. Hynmers, J. Bridger, T. Wilkes, and R. Mohun, Hynmers and Bridger
returned to Fort St George, whither Wilkes followed them three days later.

% The distance from Tiruvatiyiir to Valliir is really six miles.

125
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STREYNSHAM MASTER, Agent ; MR. TiMmoTHY WILKES, of Coun-
cell ;t MR, RicuarD MoHUN, of Councell ;2 Mr. RicHARD PorT-

1 See ante, note on p. 118, Timothy Wilkes became Second of Council
after the dismissal of John Bridger in November, 1681, but the Court refused to
allow him to retain that position. In consequence, he resigned the Company's
service in February, 1683. He and his wife sailed for England in the Josia on
the 31st January, 1684 (Pringle, Consultation Book of Fort St. George, 1681, note 10
on p. 63). In their General Letter to Fort St. George of the 3oth September,
1684, the Court wrote: *‘Mr, Wilks wee have bid welcome home with that
kindness that is due to an old and faithfull servant, with which hee is well
pleased ' (Leiter Book, vol. vii., p. 365)., Wilkes, who retired to St. John's
parish, Hackney, did not long survive his return, His will, dated on the
3oth September, 1684, was proved on the 16th October following, His wife,
Anne, the daughter of Francis and Margaret Burt, was left his sole executrix
(Wills, P.C.C., 132 Hare),

¢ Richard Mohun, whose name has already appeared in 1676-7, had
spent many years in India. From 1658 until 1663 he served the Company
in the ‘South Seas,” and held posts at Jambi and Macassar, He returned to
England vid Surat in 1664. TFive years later, in October, 1669, he was re-
entertained as Chief at Masulipatam, and was nominated as one of the Com-
missioners empowered to reduce Sit Edward Winter to obedience, and reinstate
George Foxcroft, the imprisoned Agent of Fort St, George. Before long Mohun
made enemies, who reported to the Company that he was engaged in private
trade ‘much beyond the bounds of his own Abillitys.” The Court, however,
*had a great confidence of Mr. Mohune,’ and did not at first * give creditt’ to
what was 'alledged against him.” From 1673 till 1695 there was a serious
disagreement between Mohun and Matthew Mainwaring (see anfz, vol. i.,
PP. 247,287). The latter charged Mohun with misappropriation of the Company’s
goods and general misgovernment, and Mohun retorted by accusing Mainwaring
of equally serious malpractices, In June, 1675, the Council at Fort St. George
suspended Mohun, and in July, 1676, his dismissal by the Company took effect,
as previously narrated, In 1677 he sailed for England, and in November of
that year, ‘having made humble acknowledgment of his miscarriages to the
Company . . . and having satisfied his debt,’ he was readmitted as factor at
a salary of £100 per annum. For a few months, in 1678, he was employed in
Bengal, and on the 17th February, 1679, was made Fifth of Council at Fort
St. George, in which capacity he accompanied Master on the two visitations
described in the * Memorialls.’

In January, 1680, Mohun was again suspected of illicit trading, and was
finally discharged the Company’s service, and ordered to return to England.
He was accordingly dismissed in July, 1680, but it was urged by the Council at Fort
St. George that ' to send him home this year would ruin his Affayrs, they being
so dispersed.” Mohun therefore remained in India, trading on his own account
from Fort St. George to Bengal, and even to Surat, until 1683, when he went on
a voyage to Achin, In March, 1684, he petitioned to reside in the Company’s
deserted factory there, and was permitted to do so *till any of the Honble.
Companys Servants come thither.' In return for this privilege Mohun was
‘to keep the Factory house, the Godownes and Compound in good repair.’
In September, 1084, he was ordered to ‘resigne up the Honble. Company’s
factory ’ to Messrs, Ord and Cawley (accredited agents from Fort St. George
to Achin), the Court having refused the request of his friends in India, and his
wife Mary in England, to re-entertain him in their service, In March, 1686, he
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MAN, Minister ;' Mg, BEzaLiELL SHERMAN, Chyrurgeon ;2 MR.
RavLpu Orp, School Master ; Jorn Nicks, Secretary ;* RICHARD

died at Achin, ‘very poor’ (Letter Books, vols, iv., v., viil.; Court Minutes,
vols, xxiv., xxxi.; Factory Recowds, Fovt St. George, vols, xviil., xxvill,, Masulipatam,
vol, 1., Miscellaneous, vol. iil, and iiia, ; Pringle, Consultation Book of Fort St. George,
1681-85).

1 See ante, p. 120. Richard Portman sailed for England in the Casar on the
1oth February, 1682 (Pringle, Consultation Book of Fovt St. George. see also
Penny, The Church in Madras, p. 665).

2 See ante, p. 120. Bezaliel Sherman died at Fort St. George on the 16th
August, 1680 (Fuctovy Records, Fort St, Geovge, vol. ii.).

3 Ralph Ord was elected as schoolmaster at Fort St. George at a Court of
Committees on the iz2th December, 1677 (Court Minutes, vol. xxx,, fol. 204). In
their letter of that date, the Court wrote to Fort St. George as follows:
*And now that you have so many married Families, and children increase,
for their due education, wee send one Mr. Ralph Ord to be Schoolmaster
at our Fort at the Sallary of {£so_per annum, to commence from the time
of his embarqueing here, who isto teach all the children to read English, and
to write and cypher gratis ; and if any of the other Nations, as Portuguez,
Gentues or other will send their Children to School, wee require that they may
be taught gratis, and you are to appoint some convenient place for this use.
And he is likewise to instruct them in the principalls of the Protestant religion,
and he is to diet at our Table? (Letter Book, vol. v., p. 496). In their letter to
the Company of 16th Decembher, 1678, the Conncil at Fort St. George reported
Ord to be ‘very diligent’ (Factory Records, Miscellancous, vol, iiia.). From 1680
to 1682 Ralph Ord, with Clement King, farmed the ‘petty Land Customes,’
On the 13th February, 1682, he married Gracia Colborne. In August, 1682,
Ord resigned his post as schoolmaster, On the 28th September following, his
request to become a factor in the Company’s service was granted. In 1683 he
was appointed Third of Cuddalore and Porto Novo factories. In 1684 he was
sent, with William Cawley, on an embassy to the Queen of Achin, and succeeded
in obtaining permission jor the re-establishment of the Company’s factory at
Priaman (Priyaman) in Sumatra. In recognition of his services, Ord was made
Chief at Priaman in January, 1685, He sailed for Sumatra in May. A year
later, on the 11th June, 1686, news was received at Fort St. George *per the
Huppy Delivery, advising of the death of Mr. Ord and the unhappy casting away
of his Wife and Children upon Indrapoora Barr.’ Later reports stated that
Ord died of fever, * not without apparent symptoms of being poisoned’ (Pringle,
Consultation Book of Fort St. George, 1081-85; Fuctory Records, Fort St Geovgs,
vols. ii., iv,, xxx. ; Mrs, Penny, Marriages al Fort §t. George),

1 See ante, note on p. mng. John Nicks had been Secretary at Fort
St. George since the 22nd September, 1674, On the 4th November, 1680, he
martied Catherine Barker. In 1681 he became Dlurser at Fort St. George, in
1682 Mintmaster, in 1083 Fourth of Council, and in 1686 was * Sea Customer.’
In 1688 he was appointed Chief of Conimere (Kanyimedu) Factory. [n 1691 he
incurred the Court’s displeasure by the wrong sorting of calicoes, and was dis.
missed the service as ‘an expensive and unjust person.’ The sentence took effect
in May, 1692, and Nicks was imprisoned for the debt said to be owing to the
Company. From 1693 till 169y he lived at Fort St George as a freeman, but
under surveillance. Then he obtained permission to sail to England in the
Mavrtha in order to settle his affairs with the Company, In December, 1700, his
accounts were adjusted, and the Court, *forgiving him a great part of his Debt,
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BrownE! and RosBerT BowyYER,2 Writers; THoMmas LoTT, En-
signe ;* 6 Soldyers Mounted, and a Trumpeter ; [being]17 Persons
in the Companys service. MR. NATHANTALL CHOLMLEY;*

in respect to his long continuance in our service and present great poverty,'
permitted * his residing a Free Merchant at Madras.’ John Nicks accordingly
returned to Fort St. George, where he lived as a freeman until his death on the
14th March, 1711.  His wife, notorious for her private trading and for the scandals
she cansed in Madras, predeceased him on the gth December, 1709 (Mrs. Penny,
Marviages at Fovt St. George ; Pringle, Consultation Book of Fort St, George, 1681-85 ;
Factory Records, Fort 5¢. George, vols, iv.-xiii. ; Letter Book, vol. x,, p. 386 ; Cotton,
Tuscriptions on Tombstones at Madras, No. 54).

L See ante, note on p, r1g, for Richard Browne's election as writer. In
May, 1682, he was appointed Second at Cuddalore (Kidalar) Factory; in
November, 1682, Second at Masulipatam ; and in April, 1684, Chief at Vizaga-
patam, In 1688 various charges were brought against Browne by the merchants
of Vizagapatam. In consequence, he resigned his post, *being sensible of the
Councills dissatisfaction of his late ‘management,” and desired ‘other employ-
ment.” The Court of Committees dismissed him from their service, a sentence
* he humbly submitted to,” on the 4th November, 1689, He died at Fort St. George
on the z7th January, 1691 (Pringle, Consuitation Book of Fort St. George, 1681-85;
Factory Records, Fort St, Geovge, vols. iv.-viii.: Cotton, Inscriptions on Madras
Tombstones, No, 21).

2 Robert Bowyer, whom Master had intended to take with him to India in
December, 1675, was, at the Agent’s special request, sent out in 1677 to replace
Nathaniel Whetham, drowned in the Hugli. Bowyer was elected writer on the
14th September, 1677. He married Mary Gainsford on the 1oth Aungust, 1681,
In 1682 he was ordered to succeed Richard Milton as Steward at Fort St. George ;
in November, 168z, he was sent as Fourth to Masulipatam, where he died in
March, 1683 (Cowrt Minutes, vol, xxx,, fol. 1583 Mrs. Penny, Marriages at Fort
St. Geovge ; Pringle, Consultation Book of Fort St. Geovge, 1682 ; Madvas Press List,
1683, No. 2065).

3 Thomas Lott was promoted from * Marshall’ to be ‘Ensign and Serjeant’
on the 6th February, 1679 (Madras Press List, No. 611), He is mentioned in a
Consultation on the 14th March, 1681, when some buildings were bought of him
for warehouses (Factory Records, Fort St. George, vol, ii.), After this date he
disappears from the Records.

¢ Nathaniel Cholmley had been in India for many years. He probably arrived
before 1665, for he is mentioned as being associated with Sir Edward Winter,
and ‘also as abusing ‘the Companys indulgence’ by ‘becoming factor at
Golcundah for prohibited goods’ (Factory Records, Fort St. George, vol. xvi,
12th November, 1668, and Miscellansons, vol, 1., p. £131). On the 30th December,
1604, the Court granted the petition of John Cholmley that his brother Nathaniel
might remain at Golconda * to traffique in Diamonds,” on condition that he should
trade in no other *Commoditie to the Companies prejudice’ (Cowrt Minutes,
vol, xxvi., fol. 83). In their letter of the 2gth November, 1670, the Court wrote
that they were informed that Cholmley was carrying on private trade, and
ordered that he should be 'admonished to forbeare any such practize.’ If he
refused ' to reforme,’ he was to be sent to England (Lefter Book, vol, iv,, p. 304).
Cholmley continued to trade in diamonds, and acted as the Company’s accredited
agent at Golconda for the purchase of the gems from 1644 uatil July, 1679, when
orders for his dismissal were received. He at first declined to obey the summons
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MR. ROBERT FREEMAN ;* MR, THOMAS Lucas;? MR, WiLLIAM
BerLramy ;* [being] 4 Freemen that goe in our company for
their pleasure and at their owne charge.

for his return to England, but eventually sailed in the George in February, 1682,
After his return the Company instituted a suit in Chancery against him, See
Pringle, Consuitation Book of Fore St. George, 1682, n. 2.

1 See ante, note on p. 107, for Robert Freeman's earlier career in India.
In April, 1681, he was employed by the Council at Fort St. George ‘ to view the
Ports and places ' at Porto Novo and the neighbourhood, with reference to their
suitability as a site for a factory. In July he petitioned for readmission into the
Company's service, and was sent as Third and Warehousekeeper to Masulipatam.
In May, 1682, he was appointed Chief at Cuddalore Factory, but in September
following was transferred to Masulipatam as Chief, on the death of Vincent Sayon,
He held this post urtil February, 1687, when his health failed, and he requested
to be allowed to return to Madras. He took bis place as Fifth of Council, and
acted as Paymaster and Captain of the Train Bands at Fort St. George until his
death ‘of a dropsy, after a long and painfull illness,’ on the 7th February, 1689
(Letter Book, vol. v.; Pringle, Consultation Book of Fort St. George, 1681-85; Madras
Press List, 1687; Factory Recovds, Fort St Geoige, vol. vi,).

2 Thomas Lucas went to India in the Humplhrey and Elizabeth as a soldier,
circa 1669, and was taken into the Company’s service by Sir William Langhorne
on his own authority Fuctory Reeosds, Miscellancous, vol, iii., pp. 100-114) in 1671.
He was commended by Langhorne as of great assistance, ‘and able and modest
withall ' (0.C., No. 3729). The Court, however, refused to ratify Langhorne's
appointment, and ordered Lucas to be dismissed the service and sent home, ‘or
reduced to the quality of a soldier.”  Therefore, in November, 1674, he was ‘ laid
aside.” Langhorne agiin urged his claims and his wish to remain in India
{0.C., No. 4045}, but the Court remained obdurate, and in their letter of
December, 1675, insisted on Lucas's return {anée, vol. i., p. 249). Lucas, how-
ever, evaded obeying the Company's orders, and remained as a freeman at Fort
St. George nntil February, 1682, when he and his sister sailed for England in the
Cusar, He speedily made his peace with the Company, was taken into their
service, and in June, 1683, returned to Madras as Fourth of Council at Fort
St, George. In December, 1683, he was appointed Chief at Madapollam, but
in July, 1684, was recalled to Fort St. George, and succeeded Bigrig as Third of
Council. In 1686, by their letter of the 220d October, the Court discharged
Lucas for being concerned in sending “ China goods' to England at * excessive
rates,’ especially ‘half hose or Stockins as you call them, which would scarce
reach above a man's Ankles, and some of them had the Clocks where the Heals
or Instip should be . . . can Mr. Lucas send us an affidavit that he ever saw
any such wore in this Country ?' TFrom the date of the arrival of this letter
Lucas’s salary was to cease, and he was not to be provided with * habitation in
the Fort,” but was allowed ' the liberty of a Freeman’ at Madras, a privilege
which he accepted until October, 1688, when he sailed {or England in the Bengai/
Merchant. His wife Dorothy, whose first husband was Charles Proby, died at
Fort St. George on the 8th April, 168y (Factory Records, Misceliancous, vol. iiia.
Court Minutes, vol. xxxv,, fol. 210; Letter Book, vols. v,, vii., viil.; J. ]J. Cotton,
Inscriptions on Tombstones at Madras, No. (o).

3 William Bellamy had been permitted, on the 1rth November, 1678, to ‘lay
down' the Company's 'arms and live as a freeman in the town' (Muadras Press
List, No. 519).  On the 7th January, 1679, he and John Barker were allowed to

vOL. IL. 9
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The Chief People of the towne of Waloor came to visit us and
invited us to dine at their charge, and then presented us with
4 goates, a Hogg, 7 hens, spice, wood and Grass for our Horses,
to whome we returned a Present of 4 knives® and a small looking
glass, having brought with us for such occasions the following
particulars =—g yards scarlett Cloth; g yards Redd Broad Cloth;
6 Amber hafted Knives; 6 silver hafted Knives ; 6 small looking
glasses, Cedar frames.

This night we lodged at Chena [Chinna, little] Pollicat
(18 miles), about two miles short of Pollicat [Pulicat],? the
Agent sending Mr. Mohun and Mr. Cholmley before to the
Heer Caulier,® Governour of Pollicat, to excuse the Agents
giving him a visitt in his way downe, promiseing to give him
that trouble at our returne, and desireing the assistance of his
Boates to pass us over the river to morrow morning before day.
To which he returned answear by the same persons, who re-
turned to us about midnight, that he was very sorry he should
not have our company now, for which he had made prepara-
tion, intending to have mett us himselfe in Person. For
Boates, he ordered all that they had to attend us the time
appointed and treated the Gentlemen sent at supper with guns
at drinking the Agents health &ca.

13th Mayvch.—In the morning, by day light, we came to
Pollicat River {the Arani], where were severall Jarge Boates,
which passed us and all our Company over by halfe an houre
after 6, Then we travailed to Chycaracoat* (22 miles), which

farm the licences ‘to utter liquors by retail’ (ibid., No. 577). His death is
recorded later on in this volume,

L The copy in the Mackenzie MSS, has * 2 goates . , . 2 knives.’

¢ See ante, vol, i., pp. 296, 297, Pulicat (Hind., Palayaghit; Tam., Palaverk-
kidu) is twenty-four miles to the north of Madras,

¥ See ante, vol. 1., note on p. 297.  Jacques Caulier was Governor and Director
of the Coromandel Coast from 1676 until his death, at Pulicat, on the
5th November, 1679, See J. J. Cotton, Madras Inscviptions, No. 1,023. Caulier
was succeeded on the r3th November, 1679, by Willem Carel Hartsinck (Factory
Feecovds, Masulipatam, vol, i1,),

4 Sriharikét, in Gudir tafuk, Nellore District, is meant. It is on the island of
Sriharikat (situated in latitude 13° 29’ to 13° 59" and longitude 8¢° 117 to 80° 21'),
a long, low bank of alluvial deposits lying between the Bay of Bengal and
Palicat Lake. Valentijn, in his map, spells the place * Sicericoerde.” See also
Indian Antiguary, vol, xxx., pp. 350, 351.
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we reached by noone, all our People tyred. The Governour, or
Havaldar [hawaldar], a Braminy under Podela Lyngapa [Podela
Lingappa), came to visitt us and desired us to accept of such as
he could gett, then brought us 3 goates, 6 hens, a fatt sheep
and a kid, a spotted young deer, Rice, Butter, Eggs, &ca., and
vited us to Hogg hunting. We gave him thanks and promised
to see him againe in our returne, which excused the returne
of his kindness now as to a present.  Also at this place Chena
Vincatadrys® people (he having the command of the watch
of this towne) brought us goates, hens, Coconutts, Spice, Rice,
Butter, grass for our horses, Toddy [{ari], &ca., and offered us
men, that is Tarryars,? to goc along with us if we wanted any.
All this day we travailed by a great lake of salt water [Pulicat
Lake], which communicates with the sca at Pollicat, by which
a great deale of wood is carryed in Boates from Chycaracoat
to Madrass and other parts upon the Coast.?

14th March.—-At two a clock this worning we departed from
Chycaracoat, Mr. Wilkes, Mr. Ord and Mr. Bellamy returning
from hence back to Madrass, by whome we sent the Metchle-
patam Packett received upon the way yesterday, with the
Diary, Consultations, Aeccompts Cash for FFebruary. By about
8 in the morring we reached Armagon, alias Duraspatam
(18 miles), where the Havaldar pat in by Verona (who rents
the towne), and the Townes people came out to meet us and
conducted us into the towne with musick. The Havaldar
brought us two sheep, a goate, a Hogg, 2 Turkeys, 10 hens,
a great deale of rice, butter, spice, Toddy, Corne and grass for
our horses, and gave all the Pcons rice. In the Evening we
walked round the towne and viewed the English old Factory
houses The walls, two storeys high of one part of it, and

1 Chinna Venkatéidri, one of the Company’s merchants at Fort 8t. George.

2 Tarryar, or taliar (Tam., faleiyar), village watchmen, whose duty it is to
guide travellers, etc. See Madras Manual of Adwinistration, vol. i, s.v, Tala,
and Indian Antiguary, vol, xxx., p. j20.

i There is a marg:nal note here, ' 45 miles,” but, by Master's own reckoning,
the distance traversed between Madras and * Chycaracoat ’ was 50 miles,

+ The English trausferred their factory from Masulipatam to Dagarazpatnam,
called by them Armegon (properly Armegom, Ara-mukbam), in 1628. A settle-

ment had been made there two years previously, The factory of Armegon
was abandoned in 1640 in favour of Fort 5t. George,  Sec Pringle, Consultation
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a round Bulwark, built single by itselfe hard by one end of the
house, are yet standing. The people of the towne were in great
hopes we would settle a Factory here againe, bringing us two
letters in Gentue [Telugu], which Sir Edward Winter! sent to
them, and ’tis by information a place much better scituated for
trade then is Madrass, there being many great townes not far from
it inland, and the soyle much better then that about Madrass.
The true name of Armagon is Duraspatam [ Dagarazpatnam],

15th March.—By one a clock in the Morning we sett forward
from Armagon. By 4 a clock passed through Cotapatam?
which is a towne rented alsoe by Verona [ Viranna], and stands
in the road a gow? or a Gentue league (i.e., is 3 English leagues)
distant from Armagon. Both which townes Verona rents for
1200 Pags. per annum for all the ground and customes by sca
and lands, as his servant told us. = The customes being soe
inconsiderable as comes not to more then 60 pag. per annum,
and Cottapatam [Kottapatnam] yeilds near goo pag. of the
1200. By six a clock we came to the River of Cooler [the
Kollerut], about 2 miles from Kishnapatam [Kistnapatnam).
At g a clock we lighted at the towne of Kishnapatam (18 miles),’
where Verona’s peeple that accompanyed us from Armagon
provided all things needfuli for our selves and our horses, and
they tooke leave of us here this evening, to whome and to the
Principall men of Armagon 'we presented :—2 yards Broad
cloth; 1 looking glass; 4 knives.t

16th March.—At onc in the morning we sett forward from
Kishnapatnam, a gentue league and a halfe from which we

Rook of Fort St. Geovge, 1683, D. 140, 0. 74 ; Indian Antiquary, vol. xxx., pp. 346,
347 ; and Foster, Founding of Fort 5t, George.

1 Governor of Fort St. George, 1661-68. He died in 1686, and was buried at
St. Mary’s, Battersea. See Mrs. Penny, Fort St. George,

2 Kottapatnam, the northernmost port in Nellore District.

% The Gow (Dak. H., gan), an ancient measure of distance, varied from
24 to g miles, See Yule and Burnell, Hobson-Jobson, s.v. Gow.

4 The Kollru is one of the many affluents of the River Kundléru.

o Master overestimates the distance between Kottapatnam and Kistnapatnam
(which is really only about 12 miles), but the party probably made a détour to
cross the river. Kistnapatnam, in G&dir ¢aluk, Nellore District, has a fine back-
water, with good anchorage.

% Here is a marginal note, * 81 miles,’ but, according to Master's reckoning,
the distance traversed between Fort St. George and Kistnapatnam was g5 miles.




OUDCORE-—-GUNCULLPALLEE—YUELLDINDY, 1678-9 133

passed through Gangapatam [Gangapatnam], where is a great
Tope or grove of Mangoe trees. Near a mile further we passed
the river almost dry (which formerly was a great river and
occastoned a good trade at Gangapatam), and two miles further
the River by Oudcore [ Utukiir], which, it being near high water
and spring tides near the full moone, we forded with some
trouble. The River is Called Penna [Penner] and comes far
out of the country,}! runing by Neloor [Nellore], which is
12 miles from Oudcore. Then we passed through Oudcore,*
the Havaldar of which Towne came out to meet us, lent us a
Boat to bring over our lumber [cumbrous baggage], and
brought the agent a present of 4 or 5 peaces® Redd Callicoe
[cotton cloth] and some Bectle [hetel], inviting us to stay at
his towne.  The Beetle was accepted, the Redd cloth returned,
and our stay excused, we proceeding forward by a great tanke,
and soe through a village called Weranee [ Varini] to Guncul-
pellee,® a small village, where we lodged that day and night, our
prople comeing in all weary about noone, and noe water or Rice
at this village, haveing this day trayailed 3 gentuc leagues, is
27 miles.

17th March.—About midnight we sett forward, and by 3 a clock
in the morning went threaght Juelldindy,® a Gentue league
from Guneullpellee. A league farther lyes Tummullpenta
[Tummalapental® and at 9 a ¢lock we reached Ramapatam
[Ramayapatnam] (27 miles), which is one league from
Tummullpenta and 2 Gentue leagues from Juelldindy, and
reckoned the midway” between Madrass and Metchlepatam

1 The Penner River, the bed of which is nearly dry during nine months of the
year, is liable to sudden freshes. It has a course of 355 miles. See Madras
Munual, vol. ii., s.v, Pen,

2 Utukir, in Rapar talk, Nellore District.

% The copy in the Mackenzie MSS. has ' 2 or 3 pieces,’

4 Gogulapalli, 17 miles from Nellore, seems to be the village which Master
calls Gunculpellee.

3 In 0.C., No. 4584, a document entitled *Str. Master’s Account of the
Places between Fort St. George and Metchlepatam, 1679, Juelldindy appears
as ‘Juellinde,” really Zuvvaladinne or Juviladinne, in Kavali taluk, Nellore
Distriet, a village and port 26 miles {rom Nellore,

8 ¢Tummalsenta’ in O.C., No, 4584, Tummalapenta, in Kavali tiluk, is
6 miles from Gogulapall.

7 0.C., No. 4584, has * 135 miles.’
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[Masulipatam]. At this place? the English have formerly had
a small house, and the Dutch afterwards, both which have
been forsaken.? But the Dutch have now lately, about
3 or 4 yeares since, builded them another mudwall thatcht
house, which stands in the midle of the towne, and serves to
receive Iron and saltpetre, which they buy in those parts, the
former much abounding here out of iron stone under the
sands,? which covers the ground about the towne, and store of
wood nigh to make it into Barrs, This day we travailed 3 gentue
leagues or 27 English miles, our whole travaile hitherto being
135 miles, or 15 Gentue leagues,t and 'Tis reckoned to be
30 Gentue leagues in all to Metchlepatam.®

18th March.—Before midnight we journeyed from Ramapatam,
and about 3 in the Morning went through Careda [Karedu],
above a Gentue lcague distance 10 miles], which is a sea port
and the best towne on the road hitherto. Severall Boates were
in the River, which we foarded, and ’tis allmost steep to.
Thence, more then one league further, we passed by Yelliga-
pounde [Velagapidi], and then allmost a league and halfe
further [about ¢ miles] to Alloor [Alldr],® where are large
Topes of Tamerine trecs sett in order. Here we came by 8
in the morning and dined. * The people are rich in corne and
Cattle, which are very good, but they sell none. In the after-
noone, ahout 4, we sett forward againe, and after allmost a
league travaile, foarded a narrow but deep river [the Gundla-
kanamal,” it being then low water, and then went forward and
lodged at Humlae Mooll® (45 miles), where are alsoe very fine

1 Rimayapatnam, in Kandakir /#uk, Nellore District.

2 The Dutch factory-house at Rimayapatnam was abandoned in 1668, See
Valentijn, Oud en Nigww Qost Indicn, vol. v., p. 3o.

3 The process of working the iron-sand here referred to is described in the
Nellore Distvict Manua!, p. 66.

4 [.e., an average of 19} miles per day.

% This estimate of 270 miles is fairly correct. See Madras Manual, vol. iii., p. 479.

6 Allir, in Ongole taluk, Nellore District.

7 A deep, rocky stream 7 miles from Allir.

8 Mr. Robert Sewell suggests that * Humlae Mooll,” which is like nothing be
ever heard of in the Telugu country, may be intended for the village of
Ammanabroju, abont 2 miles from the Gundlakanama River northwards, on the
road to Vitapilem. If, as Mr. Sewell conjectures, Master made a hurried note
of the place when he was both tired and sleepy, the confusion of the ‘1’ and
*n’ either by him or his secretary is easily understood.
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Topes of Tamerine Trees, at which place, and allsoe at Alloor
we could gett noe grass for our Horses. This day we compute,
by the Country Accompts, we travailed 5 gentue leagues, which
is 45 miles.

19th March—Betweene 3 and 4 in the morning we sett out,
and about 9, with ecasy travailing, came to Yentapollam?
(18 miles). In the way we passed over a place which had
formerly been inhabited by the Portuguez, called Fringe
Burane3 Some stones with inscriptions lay in the way.
Yentapollam is said to be a towne of the greatest trade for
Callicoes of any in this part of the country, much fine Cloth
being made in the Towne, It was markett day when we came
there, every Wednesday being the Markett day, and we saw
Cotton Yarne and fine Callicoes, much fruites and Cornc to be
sold, people from Metchlepatam and other places comeing to
buy at this place. Hearing hy people upon the road that Mr,
Hatton? had been at Pettepolee 5 or 6 daics, the Agent sent
Peons with a letter to him from hence, advising of his inten-
tions to be at Petrepolee to morrow morning, God willing.8

20th March. About miduight we sett out of Yentapollam,

1 From this point ap to the 26th April inclusive, Mackenzie, in his Kistna
District, quotes from Master's * Memoriall.’

? Vatapdlem, in Bipatta rink, Kistna District. See Kistna District Manwal, p. 206,

3 Fringe Burane probably represents Faranghiparam, the place now known as
* Feringhi Dibha,” the nound of the foreigners.  See Kistna District Manual, p. 206,

4 Christopher ITatton, whose appointment as factor is noted in vol. i, p. 284,
had been in India since 1058, For eleven years he appears to have traded at
Pegu and on the Coromandel Coast. In February, 1609, his friends obtained
teave for him to returr to England in the Company's shipping, but he did not
avail himself of the parmission. In 1670 he was at Masulipatam, whence the
Court received a recommendation of him as ‘a person of great abillities and
unblameable conversalion, and perfect in all the needfull languages and comodi-
ties of those parts.” [a consequence, instructions were sent to Fort St. George
to employ him asis * fitt and suiteable to bis quallifications ' Iation therefore
remained at Masulipa:am, and rose to be Second in 1076, and Chief in 10735,
His wife Regina died at Madapollam on the 2nd September, 1678, leaving
two young daughters. Hatlon himself, after two years of ill health, died at
Masulipatam on the rith july, 1080, and was buried ‘at the English burying
place in Goodere’ [(Gudar] on the same day.  He died * possessed of a consider-
able estale,” which wa: realised and remitted to his brother Robert Hatton in
Iingland for the beneit of his children (Letter fook, vols. iv. and viil.; Cowrt
Minutes, vol. xxx. | Fuctory Recovds, Masulipatam, vol. ii.).

% Here is a margina! note: * 198 miles.’ This is correct, if Master’s estimate
of 135 miles, traversed belween the 11ih and 17th March, be accepted.
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a Gentue league and a halfe from which lyes Baupautla
[Bapatla], which we went through, and 'tis a league and a halfe
[further to Pettepolee]. Akrout two miles [Short of Pettepollee
we ferryed over a branch]? of the River Kishna [Kistna] that
runs into the sea near Pettepolee, which was very muddy and
troublesome for our horses. Qur Pallankeens and men were
ferryed over by gun® boates. At the other side of this river Mr.
Hatton mett us with Mr. Wynne* Mr. Colborne® and Mr.
Scattergood.® About 10 a clock we arrived at the Factory
house at Pettepolec? (47 miles®), which is a very sorry, rotten,

1 0.C., No. 4584, gives the distance between Yentapollam and Pettepolee, or
* Nishampatam,’ as 27 miles.

2 The original is torn here, The words in brackets have been supplied from
Mackenzie's copy in his Kistna District Maunal,

3 Sir Charles Lyall suggests that ! gun’ represents the Hind, gup, a track rope,
a word still in use in Eastern Bengal to indicate a.ferry worked by ropes. See
infra, 23rd March, where * Gun boates ’ are identified with rafts,

4 See ante, vol. i., notes on pp, 267, 285, for Maurice Wynn's election as factor.
He was a ‘ Lynnen Draper,” and was ordered to assist the warehousekeeper on his
arrival at Masulipatam. In 1677 he became Second and Accountant at Mada-
pollam. In 1678 he was Fourth at Masulipatam, in 1680 Second, and in September
of that year he succeeded John Tivill as Chief, He died at Masulipatam on the
4th May, 1681, and was one of the very few servants of the Company at this
period who did not fall into disgrace. The Court of Committees, on hearing of
his death, ordered (1oth March, 1682) that a tomb should be erected to him at
their expense, as ‘a perpetuall remembrance ' of ‘his fidelity and care . . . in
preventing English interlopers at Metchlepatam.’ There is, however, no record
of the building of the tomb, nor is there now any trace of it (Letter Books, vols. iv.,
V., vi.; Factory Recovds, Masulipatam, vols. i 1i., iil.).

& See ante, vol, i., note on p. 285, for Colborne's first appointment. In July,
1675, he was made steward at Masulipatam, vice Robert Freeman. In December,
1678, he ranked seventh at Masulipatam. He died at Madapollam on the 4th May,
1681, within a month of his marriage with the widow of George Everard, a
«seafaring Freeman' (Factory Recovds, Masulipatam, vols, 1., ii., iii,, and Fort St.
George, vol, 1i.).

8 See ante, vol. i,, note on p, 285, for John Scattergood’s appointment as writer,
In 1678 he became a factor, and ranked as eighth at Masulipatam. In June,
1679, he petitioned for ‘leave to go to the Bay to serve the Company ' and was
made Second and Accountant at Balasor, e died there on the 13th August,
1681, of a ‘Violent feavour’® (Faclovy Kecords, Masulipatam, vol, ii., Balasor,
val 1., Fort St. George, vol. xviii,),

* Nizimpatnam {Nizampatam), called by the English Pettepolee, from the
neighbouring village of Peddapalle, is in Tenali tgluk, Guntir District. For an
account of the English factory at Peddapalle, see Bowrey, Countrics Round the Bay
of Rengal, p. 53, n. 2z, and Some Anglo-Indian Worthies (Ambrose Salisbury) in
Indiai Antiquary, vol, xxxvil., p. 213 ¢f seq. After the death of Ambrose Salisbury
at * Pettepolee,’ in January, 1676, the factory-house was allowed to fall into decay.

8 The copy in the Mackenzie MSS, has * 27 miles,’
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ruinous timber building, much of it being fallen, and that which
stands ready to follow the same fate. In the afternoone we
walked about the towne and viewed the old Dutch Factory,!
which hath been a large building but all of timber, and much of it
fallen downe, the flagg stafe a very high one, still standing, and
the principall Jodgings. It stands between the English housc
and the river. By the river side there is @ new Choultry [Court
House] railed in and a Key [quay| of Timber made into the
River, built and prepared in December last for the King of
Gulcondahs reception,? but he did not come to this towne. The
same place is now used for the Custdme house. The river is
deep, and severall vessells of 50 to 80 or 100 tons were in it and
haled ashoare on the towne [side}® by it. The other side of
the river is muddy, and there is an island about two miles over
between the river and the sea, upon which island is a large tope
of trees, which 1s called the English Garden,* and it is owned
to belong to the English. - The towne is much decayed, many
houses being empty, ruined and forsaken. The proper name
of the towne, which we culled Pettepolee, is Nyshampatnam
INizampatnam ], being soe called by all the Country people.

I'ryday, the 2xst March.—The Saysummutt Tanadar [sasr
samat thanaddr, chief revenue-collector] and the Catwall [kotwel,
magistrate] of the Towne came to visitt the Agent, acquainting
him that the Governour was out of Towne, but hearing of the
Agents being here he would returne this day and give him a
visitt. Alsoe they very much importuned that a Factory might
be settled here againe, promising all {riendly assistance to our
business, to which was answeared that the Agent intended to
proceed on his fourney this [night] and therefore twas not
worth the Governours while to put himselfe to the [trouble to

1 The Dutch factory at Peddapalle was put down in 1668 in order to reduce
expenses. See Valentijn, Oud en Nieuw Ovost-Indien, vol. v,, p. 30.

* Abiw'l-Hassan Shih, the last of the Qutb Shahi Dynasty of Golconda, 1672-
1683, visited Masulipatam on the 2nd December, 1678, and went on to Narsapur,
Madapollam, etc., on cthe 23rd December (Factory Recovds, Masulipatam, vol. ii.).

3 This word is supplied from the copy in Mackenzie's Kistna District Manual.

4 In November, 1671, Ambrose Salisbury, Chief at Peddapalle, upheld the
Company's claims to the *Garden upon the Island in which he had ‘kept a

Gardner ' to ‘ continue the right of the Company ' (Fuctory Recovis, Masulipatam,
vol. ix.).
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returne]! to Towne only to give him a visitt, and as to settling
a Factory, the Agent would take it into consideration.? These
being gone, the Marchants that live in this towne and the
adjacent places (some of which have formerly dealt with the
Company and were lately at Madrass) came to visitt the Agent,
and desired imployment to provide goods for the Company,
which they offered to doe at more reasonable termes then the
Marchants of Metchlepatam did, and to deliver the goods before
they received the money. To which they were answeared that
if they would provide Musters [samples] of all sorts of Chae
[chaya, coloured] and white goods and bring them to Metchle-
patam where they might be compared with other musters they
should, upon the examination thercof, receive a satisfactory
answear. They apeard unwilling to goe to Metchlepatam, but
in the conclusion they agreed to come thither with their
musters, and to be there by this day seven night.

22nd March.—This night, about 10 a clock, we sett out of
Pettepolee. By breake of day we came to the great river of
Kishna that lyes between Pullywar and Narragoodra [Pullwarra
or Pedda Pulivarru and Nadakidtru] where was but one hoate
to ferry over our people, Pallankeens and Horses, which took
up 4 hours time. About noone we came to Collepellec [Pedda
Kallépalli], where are two large gardens and a Pagodae, which
the Gentues esteemc a very holy place.® This day we reckon
we travailed about 30 miles, and ’tis reckoned to be about
15 further to Metchlepatam.

23rd March—In the morning we went downe to the River

1 The words in brackets have been supplied {rom the copy in Mackenzie's
Kistna Distvict Manual. ‘The original is torn and nndecipherable.

3 The factory at Peddapalle was re-established in 1682, with Samuel Wales as
Chief (Pringle, Consuliations at Fort St. Grevrge, 1682, p. 52). 1t was again abandoned
in 1687,

3 Master seems to have confused Pedda Kallepalli, which contains inscriptions
of the reigns of the Chola kings, with Tsallapalli, three miles distant. I3oth
places are in Tsallapalli, or Devarakota Zemindiri, Bandar (@hk, Kistna District,
and at Tsallapalli is the ancient shrine of Srikikulam (see Mackenzie, Ristna
Distvict Manual, pp. 214, 215). Pedda Kallépalli is marked in the Indian Atlas
(Sheet 95 of 1878, with additions 1o 1889), but it does not appear in the alpha-
betical List of Villages for 1908, Mr. Robert Sewell conjectures that the place
has now ceased to exist, except as a hamlet of the neighbouring town of
Avanigadda.
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about 2 miles from Collepellee [Kallepalli], where was two
great Metchlepatam Boates, and two Sangarees® or Gun boates,
which sett us over upon the island of Dio [Divi]2 where the
Metchlepatam Tent was pitcht,® and there we rested all this
day, being Sunday.

24th March—~In the morning we went a hunting of wild
Hoggs with Kistna Redy [Krishna Reddi], the Chief Man of the
Island, and about 100 other men of the Island, with lances and
threescore Doggs, with whome we killed 8 Hoggs great and
small, one being a Bore very large and fatt, of a great weight.

25th March.—We received advice from Metchlepatam  that
William Cullen® a writer in the Companys service, died there
yesterday of a feaver and a Flux. We went a hunting again
this day, but mett not withisoe good success as yosterday.,

In the afternoone, the Havaldar of the Island, a Persian,
came to visitt the Agent and brought him a present of 3 Hoggs,
some wator Millions [melons] and Coconutts,  To whome was
returned 3 yards broad Cloth; and to his Braminy [ Brahman |
and to Kistna Redy [Krishna Reddi| and others for their
civillitys, 4 yards Broad eloth, 4° koives and 4° small looking
glasses.

26th March—1acly in the moruing we left the Island of
Dio and passed over to the maine by Warrapollam [? Wauda-
pollim, Vadapalem, ship-village], where our horses were sent
and stayed for us. There by the river side all the English that
were in Metchlepatam mett us.  The River is broad and deep,
capable of receiving great ships. From hence we sent our
lumber [heavy baggage] in Boates to Metchlepatam, where we
arrived by land about nooue, being aboat 12 miles and the

1 A raft, from Lort. jangada, See Yule and Burnell, Hobson-Jobson, s.v. Jangar,
and Madras Manual, vol. iii., s.o. Jungar,

3 In the copy of this ' Memoriall” in Notes and Extracisthe distance to Divi Island
is given as 15 miles, and the total distance traversed as zyo miles. Divi
Island, now joined to the mainland, gives its name to Peint Divi, at the moth
of the Kistna.

1 Gee ante, Introductory Papers, p. 124, for the order to have a tent in
readiness.

4 See ante, vol, i, pp. 275, 285, for Cullen’s appointment.

5 The copy in Mackenzie's Kistna District Manuad has *2” in each case,

6 0.C., No., 4584, gives the distance from ¢ Collepellee to Metchlepatam ' as
r5 miles, and the total as 270 miles. The copy in Nuotes and Extracts has ¢
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Boates a short time after. The Companys Marchants mett
the Agent at the Towne gate by the Bridge! foot, and we
entered the Townc in a handsome equipage with a great traine.?
The Chief of the Dutch Signior Outhorne [Henrik van Out-
hoorn]® sent to excuse his not visiting the Agent to day by
reason of business in dispatching a ship for Battavia, and
desired to make his visitt to morrow.

The Governour of the Towne, Aga Jelloll [Agha Jalal],* was
not in towne, but 5 or 6 days Journey off.

27th March.—In the afternoone the Chief of the Dutch with
his second, and 5 more, came to visit the Agent &ca. who were
entertained at a Banquett, and went home againe about 8 at
night. Signior Quthorne, discoursing with the Agent, amongst
other Bravadoes, delivered. this as remarkable, that their Com-
pany had soe many Islands and Castles in the South Seas
[Indian Archipelago], many of which he named; that they
were as Emperors; [that] they had heretofore made Kings, as a
King of Ternat [ Ternate, onc of the Molucca Islands]and a King
of Cochein,® and now lately they had made an Emperor, viz.,,
the Mataran, who had scverall Kings under him, and he had
given their Company all the sea ports upon the coast of Java.
When they wanted men, upon their call, the Kings brought
their armies to fight for them, as a great Prince of Macassar,
whom he named, had now brought a great army to Battavia to
fight the King of Bantam by land, and they intended to block it

Metchlepatam 14 miles,’ and a total of 284 miles. The Madras Mannal gives the
distance from Madras to Masulipatam w»id Bapatla, Ongole, and Nellore as
279 miles 3 furlongs.

i For the two wooden bridges at Masulipatam, see Bowrey, Conntries Round the
Buay of Bengal, p. 63, n. 1. )

* In the Masulipatam Consultation Book (Factory Records, Masulipatam, vol. ii.)
there is the following entry under date, Wednesday, 26 March, 1678/9: ‘The
Worspll, Streynsham Master, Esqr., Agent and Governour of Madrass arrived
here from Divi Island, accompanied by Mr, Mohun, Mr, Cholmley, Mr. Portman,
and Doctor Sherman, Mr. Nicks Etca.’

# See ante, note on p, 99.

4 This name is rendered ‘ Telloll’ in the copy in the Kistna Distvict Manuai and
in Nofes and Extracts,

5 In 1663 the Dutch ousted the Portuguese from the town of Cochin, They
also obtained possession of several villages on the coast by friendly negotiation
with the Raja, but otherwise left the latter to reign supreme (Impevial Gazetteer of
India, new edition, s.v. Cochin).
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up by sea. And when ’twas objected that, it may be, their
Company at home would not approve of a warr with Bantam,
he replyed he knew better, for he came from Battavia this yeare
about January last.!

COMMERCIAL MEASURES AT MASULIPATAM.

Fryday, the 28th March.—At a Consultation,® Present :—
STREYNSHAM MasTER, Es@., Agent; MRr. CHRISTOPHER
Harton; Mz, RicHARD MoHUN.

Some Marchants of Pettepolee having made an offer to
provide goods at cheaper rates then the Marchants of Metchle-
patam, and not to receive mony before the delivery of the
goods, the said proposal being: taken into consideration, it
was tesolved to be for the Hounble., Companys Interest to
make a contract with ‘the said marchants, they giving reason-
able security by responsible Persons for performance of the

same.
Colla Vincatadry [Kola Venkatdadri], the Dubass [dubhds-

1 Excepting as regards Cochin, where the statement is an exaggeration of the
facts, the conversation here recorded seems to be a fairly faithful résumé of the
sitnation at the time, In 1630 the ruler of Ternate, in the Moluccas, was
compelled to make a treaty with the Dutch, which was disastrous to his dynasty.
Conseqguently, in Master’s time, his successors were in their power. Much the
same thing happened to the rulers of Macassar in 1667 and r6Gg. Matiram was
the name of a Javanese family of rulers that rose to supremacy over the whole
of Java, except Bantam, in the course of the sixteenth century, and established
their capital at Matiram about 1575 The usual title given them as overlords
was the Susithnam, which was translated by ‘the Fmperor.” In 165 the
Emperor of the time was greatly harassed by the people of Macassar, and
called in the aid of Adrairal Speelman from Batavia, who, after much tronble,
succeeded in dispersing the enemy, In return for their help, treaties and
agreements—which opened all the ports to the Dutch, and gave them powers
and privileges placing the Emperors at their mercy--were concluded in 1675 to
1678. The attack made on Bantam in 1682 is also foreshadowed in the con-
versation recorded in the text. See Crawfurd, Dictionasy of Indian Avchipelugo
(s.. Mataram) and Flistory of Indian Archipelago ; Raflles, History of Juva, vol, i,,
especially pp. 185, z04-208, 225, 237; vol. ii., pp. 161, 164-172; Dubois, Vie des
Gowvernewrs-Génévanx (Hague, 1763), passim ;. Valentijn, vol, iv., pp. 180-183, 2253
]. E. Heeres, Corp. Diplom. Neeviando-Indicum (Hague, 1907), p. 482 ; Mémoires dr
F, Martin (MS.), T* 116g, fol. 309 recto (Archives Nutionale, Varis), 1 am
indebted for the references to Paris and the Hague to Mr. William Irvine,

¢ Duplicate copies of the Consaltations held at Masulipatam and Madapollam
on the 28th, 29th, and 31st March, and on the 3rd, sth, 12th, 15th, and
16th April are to be found in Factory Records, Masulipafom, vol. ii.
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hiva, dubash, interpreter] having been examin’d about the
management of the affair in presenting the King in January
last, at which time he obtained a peece of ground for himselfe !
it was thought fit to confine him under guard in the Factory
untill further order.

Afternoone.—The Pettipolee Marchants having brought their
musters, which were compared with the musters in this Factory,
and some of the Pettepolee musters appearing inferior to the
others, the marchants offered to be regulated by the musters of the
Factory. And after much discourse about the prizes, they con-
cluded upon this offer, to provide to the amount of 40: or 50,000:
pagodas in fine goods, that is, Salampores, Porcellaes [parkala],
Izarees [izdr], Allejaes [alachak]? Saderunches,® Saserguntes,?

1 Owing to the illness of Christopher Hatton, John Field was deputed to
make a presentation to the King of Golconda in January, 1679. Kola Venkatadri
accompanied Field (as interpreter) to Bezvada, where Field was dismissed. The
interpreter was, however, required to atfend the royal party half-way to
Golconda, ‘under pretence of further disconrse.” It was probably then that he
obtained the grant which brought him under Master's displeasure. In
obedience to a letter from Fort $t. George, the matter had already been
debated at Masulipatam. At a Consultation held on the z9th February,
1679 (Factory Records, Masulipatam, vol. i), it is recorded: *And whereas
the Agent and Councell doe declare that they are informed that Quolla
Vencatadre, Dubash of this Factory, has not behaved himself faithfully
in the business intrusted to him, but minded more his owne Interest then the
Honble. Companys, and had obtained a Phirmaund [farman] and Rocca (ru'qa)
for so much good ground as 30 Candy of seede paddy may be sowen thereon,
The Councell have had the said Vencatadre in Examination, and finde that the
ground promised him will not receave above 2 Candy of seede paddy when
made fitt and arrable, But that at present ’tis overgrowne with bushes and
Bryers, and will cost him considerably to remove the same, and that, notwith.
standing the Rucca given him for it, he is not likely to obtaine it, without the
Consent of the Cheife [of the] Maccassa [magasiv-—i.¢., land allotted to the harem],
whoe is not likely to part with it without a present, and therefore he intends not
to make further suite for it. The Councell doe further declare that the said
Vencatadre, Dubash, after the arrival of the Egyb [hgib] Bramine (Brdhman),
was onely employed as an Interpreter to John Field . . . so that the Councell
doe not finde wherein the said Vencatadre has bin any way unfaithfull . . . the
grant of that barren peice of ground being intended onely in some little degree
conformable to the kindness shewed to the Dutch dubash Goba Narsa [Gopa
Narasu], whoe has received far greater gratifications.’

2 For notes on these kinds of piece-goods, see anfe, vol. i., pp. 245, 267, 272.

3 Probably, as suggested in Notes and Extracts, p. 24, of 1680, a corruption of
shrtvanji, a striped cotton carpet,

¢ Yule and Burnell, Hobson-Jobson (revised edition), have, s.z. Piece-goads,
‘Sassergates, Some kind of cloth called ** that of the 1000 knots.”” H., Sahasra
granthi.’  This material was probably a spotted muslin,
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Collewaypoos! and Remalls [rimil]2 at 10 per Cent. cheaper
then the prizes which the Metchlepatam Martchants had the
last yeare, provided that one halfe or one quarter of the mony
was paid them in hand, and the said goods to be delivered at
the Companys Factory at Pettepolee.  But they would not abate
anything of the prizes they had sctt upon their owne musters,

The Debate thercupon tooke up time till night, and then
they were dismist with this answcar, that the Agent and
Councell would consider further of it before they came to a
conclusion.?

Prizes of Petlcpolee goods laken from the Pettepolee
Marchants, vizt.*

Allejaes plaine [2 coveds-(cubits) broad 30: long  17}]° pagos.
per corge [scere),Scured | bleached and finished ).

Romalls, 16: in a peece, 24: coveds - - - 23 pagos.
per corge, cured.

Saserguntes - - - - - - - - 23t pagos.
per corge.

Collowaypoos - - - - - - - 23 pagos.
per corge.

Saderunches . - - - - - - 18 pagos.
per corge.

Salampores, 1st: sort, 2: coveds broad 31: long - 27% pagos.
pet corge, cured,

Salampores, 2d: sort, same dimentions - - - 25: pagos.
per corge, cured,

Percollacs, 2: coveds broad 15: coveds long - - 25 pagos.

per corge, zo: patch.®

» Yule and Burnell, Hobson-Jobson, loc, cit., have * Callawaypores,” but without
explanation, Notes and Extvacts (1680), p. 24, has ‘Collowaypooes—A kind of
flowered Chintz?' Coliewaypoos were probably cotton goods (k@/uvayapu) made
at Calavoy, Kaluvaya, a village in Atmakir t@/uk, Nellore District,

? See ante, vol. i., note on p. 273.

% I'he signatures, which are identical with the names at the head of the
Consultation (with the addition of * John Nicks, Secretary '), have been omitted
bere and in other Consuoltations throughout this volume,

+ This list is not in Fuctory Records, Maswlipatam, vol. ii.

5 These words have been added from the copy in Mackenzie's Kistna
District Manual ; the original is torn,

8 See ante, vol, 1., note on p. 248,
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Izarees, 2: coveds broad 16: coveds long - - 25 pagos.
per corge, cured.

Dimitys?* 2: coveds broad 19: coveds long - - 35! pagos.
per corge, cured.

Dimitys 3: coveds broad 19: coveds long - - 3:  pagos.
per peece, cured.

Dyaper? 3: coveds broad 18: coveds long - - 3! pagos.

per peece, cured.

Saturday, the 29th March.—At a Consultation, Present:—
STREYNSHAM MASTER, Esq., Agent; MRr. CHRISTOPHER
Hatron ; MR. RICHARD MOHUN.

The Metchlepatam Marchants having given notice that they
were willing to make some abatement of the usuall prizes of the
goods provided by them (promising [? premising] that none of
the Pettepolee Marchants might be concerned with them), they
were called before the Councell, and after a tedious debate there-
about, they were brought to offer 7% per Cent. abatement upon
the prizes of these severall sortments of goods following,
vizt,, fine Salampores, Percullaes, Izarees, Oringall Beteelaes
[Warangal beathila]? Allejaes, Saderunches, Collowaypoos,
Sasarguntes, Romalls, Dungarees [dangri| and [? or] Saile Cloth,
which being taken into consideration, it was thought fit to
close with them, they first rateing the Romalls at 25 (which
have hitherto been bought at 27%) pagodas per Corge, and then
to abate 74 per Cent. out of the 25 pagodas per Corge, as upon
the prizes of the other goods by last yeares contracts, which,
with much reluctancy, they did at last consent unto, provided a
Regulation be made of the musters of the Salampores, Purcol-
laes and Beteclaes, as they proposed in Consultation of the 1oth
Instant,* and then desired present payment of 5,000: pagodas
to confirme the Bargaine which was ordered to be paid them
accordingly.

t Dimitys (Pers., dimyati), a cotton cloth,

2 Diaper (O.I", diaspre), a textile fabric, See Mutray, Oxford English Dictionary,
s.v, Dimity and Diaper,

3 See ante, vol. i,, note on p. 272,

4 A copy of this Consultation is given below,
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Copy of a Consultation held at Masulipatam on Monday, the 1oth
Mavch, 1679. Factory Records, Masulipatam, vol. i1, pp. 33, 34.

At a Consultation, Present:—Mr, CHrIstorHER HatToNn, Chiefe ;
Mr, Joun IFivib; Mr. Joun Twinr; Mr. Maugrick WYNNE,

The Marchants according to appointment meeting this afternoone, the
Councell proposed to than the Tuvestment directed by the Agent and
Councell for this present yearel, ... ‘Towhich as generally proposed
they did Counsent, and did promise to undertake, but before farther
proceeding theveon, they desired that the Councell would Consider
of some Objections they had to offer, Vizi,, That the Madapollam
Marchants being concerned in those sorts of Cloth last yeare,
usuall[y] made i the parts where the Metchlepatam Marchants live
and trade in, was a greal reason of raising the price upon them,
and the Madapollam Marchants likewise objecting that the Metch-
lepatam  Marchants being concerned in those sorts of Ordinary
Callicoes made in their parts,-occusion’'d unto them the like in-
convenicnce, and both pavtyes being Confented, they desired that
they might be seperated, and each party will undertake the quantityes
of the vespective sorts of Callicoes made it their owne parts, to which
the Councell assented, conceiving the proposalls they made, being
voluntary and assented unto, would be a meanes to encourage and
make them more carcfull and dilligent in performing their undertakings.

In the next place they objected that there was a great inequallity
and disproportion in the Musters of Oringall Beteclaes, Sallampores
fine, Pereolles fine and Izarees, the first Muster of Oringall Beteelaes
being raited at 2gh pagos per Carge, the 2d at 20§ pagos.and the 3d in
proportion, and so likewise upon the other 3 sorts, The prejudice
they received by it they said was when the 2d sort of Oringall Betee-
facs fell short of the finess of thefivst, tho not above 1 pago. in a Corge
difference in goodness, yet for that litie defect it was Cast into the 2d
sort, whereby they receive 3 pagos. in a Corge prejudice ; and there-
fore they desired there might be new and exact Musters made, soe that
the difference of the price might not ¢xceede the Goodness of the
Cloth, which proposall the Councell finding reasonable did promise to
take it into Consideration, and doe appeint that to morrow there be a
strickt and exact view taken of the aforesaid Musters, and that the
same be regulated as they shall tinde it reasonable, wherewith the
Marchants being acquainted, they were well satisfied, and did promise
to mecte againe to morrow morning to attend the Councell and to pass
their Contracts, which being the business of this day they were
dismissed.

Monday, the 31th March—At a Consultation, Present:—
STREYNSHAM MASTER, Eso., Agent; Mr. CuristorHER HATTON;
Mur. Ricuarp MoHUN.

i Here follows a list of piece-goods, with the quantities to be provided.
VOL. 11, 10
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Colla Vincatadry [Kdla Venkatadri], the Dubass [dubash)
of this Factory, having, to regaine his freedome and expiate his
crime, undertaken to bring the Marchants to abate § per Cent.
upon the Investment more then they offered upon Saturday the
29th instant, which he hath alsoe effected, it is accepted as a
good peece of service, and thercfore it is ordered that he be
restored to his liberty and to his imployment.

The said Metchlepatam Marchants did alsoe apeare before
the Councell, and confirmed their agreement of 8 per Cent.
abatement upon the severall sorts of goods mentioned in the
Consultation of the 2gth Instant, the perticulars of which
Contract, with the Marchants names, and all things relateing
thereunto, shall be perticularly specified hereunder.

The Pettepolee Marchants being wholly disappointed of the
Imployment they aimed at, at which they are much grieved,
the good service they have done the Honble. Company in this
perticular in being instrumentall in abateing the prizes of the
goods being taken into consideration, together with their charge
and trouble of attendance, it was thought fitt to send for them
and gratify them with 500 pagodas in ready mony and 6 yards
of Cloth [Rashes],* which being presented to them, they were
dismist with good words and faire promises of being remembred
when any imployment should hereafter offer; notwithstand-
ing they seemed much dejected, and departed with sorrowfull
countenances.

THE AGREEMENT AND CONTRACT MADE BY THE AGENT AND
COUNCELL WITH THE METCHLEPATAM MARCHANTS FOR
THE INVESTMENTS TG BE MADE THERE FOR ACCOMPT OF
THE HoNBLE. ENGLISH East INDIA COMPANY.

1. That the Persons hereafter named shall be the said
Honble. Companys Marchants to provide the goods mentioned
in this Contract; from which imployment they shall not be
removed but by order from the Honble. Company or from the
Agent and Councell.  The whole Investment being divided into

1 The word has been supplied from the copy in Mackenzie's Kistna District

Manual. ‘Rashes' (Ger., rasch, It., raso) was a name applied to a smooath textile
fabric made of silk or worsted. See Murray, Oxford English Dictionary, s.v. Rash,
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Eighty-fourc shares is subdivided unto Eleaven Principall
Persons, who are responsible for themselves and the persons
under them, vz,

8: To Madala Cundapa [Maddila Kandappal,! and under him
Darsedas "Darsi Dasu],2 Nety Vincana | Néti Venkannal.

8: To Madala Mootealo [Maddala Muttiyalu], and under him
Tamana Ramana [Tammanna Ramanna], Pully Verte
Jungum [Polavarti Chafigama |3

8: To Reacapeli Colapa [Rékapalli4 Kallappa], and under him
Coorakayle Rungapa [Kirakayala Rangappa]® Charoo-
goundla Aiana [Charugaundla Ayyanna].

8 To Acula Ellapa [? Akala Ellappa], and under him
Gooresala Sarvana [? Gurigala Sarvanna), Majety Gruana
[M3jéti® Guruvanna .

8: To Recapeli Acana [Rékapalli Akkanna] and under him
Veroo Pante | Viru Pant], Gundooree Mullapa [Gandiri
Mallappal.

8: To Choundocr Accana [Chaundir Akkannal, and under
him Conagoola Decho [Kanagala? ? Dikshu], Tamana
Mooselaya [ Tammmana Musalaya |.

8: To Goundealn Vincatadry [Gundiyala Venkatadri], and
under him Mahemedy Mullapa [Mamidi Mallappa],®
Toronala Latchana {Tiramala Lachchanna],

1 T am indebted to Yrofessor L. I). Barnett and to Mr. Robert Sewell for the
elucidation of these and other Tamil names in this * Memoriall,> Mr. Sewell has,
moreover, supplied me with several valuvable notes showing the derivation of
the names.

2 ¥rom Darsi, a faluk in Nellore District, and dasu, a slave or servant.

3 Mr. Robert Seweil suggests that Pully Verte may represent Polavaram, a
village in Niizvid /#u«k in the Kistna District, or Polavaram, a Zdluk in the
Godavari District, Chalgama of Polavaram would be called Islavarti Chafigama.

4 From Rekapalli, formerly a taink in the Upper Godavari, now a village in
Bhadréchalam ta/uk. Réka is popularly pronounced Reaka,

B Mr. Sewell is of opinion that Coorakayle stands for Aitvakiayala, the adjectival
form of kiirakayaln, herbs, vegetables, in which Rangappa’s family were probably
dealers,

8 Majcti is, Mr. Sewell believes, the name of a family of merchants in the
Kistna, District.

7 Conagoola may stand for Kanagala, a village in Tenali t¢luk, Guntur District,
or for Kanukolly, in the Gudivada tilwk, Kistna District.

8 Mahemedy Mullapa may stand for ‘mango-merchant' Mallappa, from
mamidi, a mango.
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8: To Vena Velly Vincatyputty [Vinaveli Venkatapati], and
under him Allapatty Ramdas [Allapati Ramadas], Pully
Verte Rangana [Polavarti Ranganna].

8: To Nalam Vencana [? Né&la(marri) Venkanna], and under
him Chela Sevapa [Chila Sivappa], Coonacunla Jungum
[? Kunnakundala Chafigama].

8: To Cola Narso [Kola Narasu] and under him Woojell
Narsapa [Ujal Narsappa], Cundoory Narsapa [Kandiri
Narsappa].

4: To Aala Potena [Ayala Potanna].

84: shares Divided unto 11: principall Persons, who are each of
them apart to give obligatory bills for performance of their
respective proportions in the Investments as aforesaid.  And if
any of the said Eleaven Principall Persons shall faile of
performance of the Contract, either in the quantity of the
goods required, or in the timely bringing them in to be laden
upon the ships for England, some time in the months of
November or December, such Person soe failing shall make
good the damage at the prizes of the same goods in England,
and shall alsoe forfeit his Imployment and share or proportion
in the Honble. Companys Investment thereafter,

2: The perticuler goods with their Dimentions and prizes
now agreed for to be provided by the Marchants above-mentioned
are as followeth :(—

Salampores fine 32: coveds long 2z} Coveds broad, whited
and cured. No. 1 at 32, No. 2 at 28, No. 3 at 25 Pagos. per
Corge.

Purcollaes 144 coveds long 2% broad, whited and cured.
No. 1 at 15, No. 2 at 13, No. 3 at 10} Pagos. per Corge.

Izarces 16: coveds long 2} broad, whited and cured. No. 1
at 264, No. 2 at 21} Pagos. per Corge.

Oringall Beteelaes 25: Coveds long 2§ broad, whited &
cured. No. 1 at 254,' No. 2 at 21§, No. 3 at 193 Pagos. per
Corge.

Allejacs 32: coveds long 24 broad, cured. No. 1 at 194,
No. 2 at 174 Pagos. per Corge.

} The copy in Mackenzie's Kistna District Manual has 25},
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Sadarunchees 32: coveds long 27% broad, cured, No. 1 at 19},
No. 2 at 174 Pagos. per Corge. _

Collawaypoes 32: coveds long 27 broad, cured. No, 1 at 25,
No. 2 at 233 Pagos. Per Corge.

Saserguntecs 32: coveds long 24 broad, cured. No. 1 at 25,
No. 2 at 23} Pagos. per Corge.

Romalls § yard squarc 16: in a peece, cured.  No. 1 at 23,
No. 2 at 23} Pagos. per Corge.

Dungarees 24 coveds long 1§ broad, browne [unbleached].
No. 1 at 7, No. 2 at 6} Pagos. per Corge.

Saile Cloth 4o: coveds long 2 broad, browne.  No. 1 at 131,
No. 2 at 12 Pagos, per Corge.

All the said goods to be agreeable to the musters, both in
fineness of thread well weoven and well cured, and such goods
as come short in any of the said quallitys to be rejected, end
the Marchants doe promise to deliver the said goods at the
Companys Factory in Metchlepatam by the last day of October
yearely, provided that the Tnvestment be given them in charge
sometime in the month of Aprill,

3: Out of the sawid prizes-of the poods before mentioned
& per Cent. is to be deducted as an abatement of the prizes
now agreed upon, and what the goods shall be wanting of
Dimentions in length or breadth to De allsce as usuall in pro-
portion to the prizes.

42 The monys for the said goods is ugreed to be paid at the
times following, the one halfe or two third parts of the amount
of the whole Investment in or about the month of August after
the arrivall of the ships from England, and all the remainder
within one month after all the goods are delivered and the
accounts adjusted.

5: And it is mutually agreed between the Agent and Councell
in behalfe of the Company and betweene the Marchants afore-
said, that this Contract shall be for many yeares continuance
without alteration, soe that if the same goods happen to be
dearer in the Country then at this present time, it shall be the
Marchants loss, and if the same goods happen to be cheaper in
the country it shall be the Marchants gaine, the said Marchants

 “The copy in Mackenzie’s Kistna District Manual has 1o}, 23}
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obliging themselves hereby to provide all such goods as the
Company shall from time to time require of these same sorts,
at the prizes beforementioned, with the abatement of 8 per
Cent. as aforesaid, and the Agent and Councell doe hereby
promise for themselves and their successors, in the name and
behalfe of the Honoble. Company, that these Marchants afore-
said shall be imployed in the provideing of all such of these
sorts of goods beforementioned as the Company or the Agent
and Councell shall from time to time require to be provided at
this Factory of Metchlepatam, and to pay for the same in ready
mony at the times as is before exprest.

6: And the said Marchants shall not pay or allow any more
ot other Dustoore [dastiar, commission] or other allowance to
any Person or Persons upon any pretence whatsoever then one
and a halfe per Cent,, the usuall Dustoore, which one and
a halfe per Cent. shall be equally Divided betweene the Braminy
and the Dubass of this Factory in the Honoble. Companys
service, and the said Braminy and the said Dubass heing in the
Honoble. Companys service and receiving monthly wages, shall
not have any share or proportion in the Investment as Mar-
chants to provide the goods, or be concerned in the same,
otherwise then in endeavouring the Honoble. Companys
advantage,

7: And the Agent and Councell doe allsoe promise not to
take advantage of non performance on the Marchants part if
the goods shall at any time be stopt in the Country by reason
of warrs or stoppage of the Havaldars or Governours of the
Country, but upon notice thercof the Chief and Councell of
this Factory shall use their best endeavours to clear the goods
soe stopt and assist the Marchants thercin; and in case any
wrong or injury shall be offerd or done to the said Marchants
to the prejudice of the Companys business, the Chief and
Councell of this Factory shall alsoe use their endeavours to
frece them from all such troubles, and to protect them as the
Companys Marchants, soe far as may consist with the good of
the Company’s affairs and Intercst.

8: To confirme this Contract there is 3,000 pagos. in ready
mony paid to the said Marchants upon Account of this yeares
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Investment, whereby they are obliged to performe all that is
contained herein, In wittness whereof the said Agent and
Councell have sett their hands and the Companys seale, and
the said Marcharts have sctt their hands and seales, Dated in
Metchiepatam the 31t day of March, 1679.

Madalu Cundapa [ Maddala Kandappa |
Madala Mootcalo [Maddala Muttiyalu
Reacapeli Colapa [ Rékapalli Kalappa]

Acula Ellapa [? Akala Ellappa]

Recapeli Acana {Rékapalli Akkanna]
Choundoor Accana [Chaundir Akkanna ]
Goundeala Vincatadry [Gundiyala Venkatadri]
Vena Velly Vincatyputty [Vinaveli Venkatapati]
Nalam Vencana [? Neéla (marri) Venkanna]
Cola Narso [ Kola Narasu |

Aala Fotena [Ayala Potanna |

OCOoO0OOOOOOOO0

The forme of the Certificates given to the Principall Marchants
at Metchlepatain.

We, the Agent and Councell for Affaivs of the Honoble.
English East India Company upon the Coast of Chormandell
and in the Bay of Bengale, have apointed A. B. to be one of the
Principall Marchants for the said Honoble, Companys Invest-
ments in the Factory of Metchlepatam to have 8 parts in the
said Investments according to the Contract this day made with
them, and C. D.and E. F. to be under him in the said imploy-
ment and business, from which he or they shall not be removed
but by order from the Honoble. Company, ourselves or our
successors, In wittness whereof we have hereunto sett our
hands and the Honoble. Companys scale in Metchlepatam this
31th day of March, 1674.

STREYNSHAM MASTER.
CHRrISTOPHER HATTON.
Ricitarp MOHUN,

The Seale.
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THE DIARY (continued).

Aprill primo—The Agent, &ca., made a visit to the Dutch
this Evening,

Aprill 2:—Aga Jellol [Agha Jalal], the Governour of Metchle-
patam, having been toward Narsapore [Narsipur] and those
places under his government, returned to Goodera? last night,
whereof having notice this day, the Agent sent to complement
him, and to acquaint him of his being in these parts to inspect
the Companys business, to which message he returned a com-
plementall answear, and that he should take a Day to visit the
Agent, and to invite him to an entertainment at his house.

This evening we went to the English garden, which is about
two miles out of towne over the long bridge,” the water over-
flowing round the Towne now at spring tides.

COMMERCIAL MEASURES (continued),

Thursday, the 3d Aprill.—At a Consultation, Present :—
STREYNSHAM MasTer, Esq., Agent; Mg. CHRISTOPHER
HaTtton; MR. Rictarp MoHUN.

The Contract with the Marchants being sealed and inter-
changeably delivered, it was thought fit for their encourage-
ment to answear their expectations of Tasherifs [tashrif,
present]. There being noe scarlet [broadcloth] in the Factory, to
each of the 11 principall Marchants was given 3 yards of fine
purple or violet Cloth, to the 20 under Marchants each 3 yards
of cloth rashes, to the Bramini, the Factory Dubass, and to the
Agents Dubass each 3 yards of Purple or Violet Cloth, and to
the Mulla [mullg, Muhammadan lawyer] 3 yards Cloth Rashes,
with which they were all of them well pleased.

There being a large seale of the Companys armes with the
supporters in this Factory, and such a one wanting at the Fort,
tis ordered that the same be carryed from hence to the Fort.

There being severall Debts, which are esteemed Desperate,

1 Gudar, a village four miles inland from Masulipatam,

2 The bridge on the north-west of Masulipatam, said by Fryer to be ‘a mile

long tending to the English Garden, and up the Country’ (4 New Account of East
India and Persia, p. 29).
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and therefore cleared out of the Bookes in the Bookes of
Accounts of this Factory, Letter S, ballanced by Mr. Field to
the 3oth Aprill, 1648, It is ordered that the said debts shall
hercafter be entered at the begining of every Journall, expressing
at large the particulars thereof, soe far as can be discovered,
That is to say where the persons were or are, whither living or
dead, what their professions, and in what time or upon what
occasion each Debt was made, and in regard the Debts of
Verasheroone [Viraviisaram] and Pettepolee Factorys are alsoc
in the same condition, tis ordered that those Accounts be alsoe
in like manner cleared in next bookes Letter T, to be ballanced
the 3oth of this present Aprill, and afterward entered at the
begining of the Journalls, cxpressing the particulars how the
same Debts did urise, soe far'as can be now collected.

And whereas it was ordered in the Lctter from the Fort of
the 23th Decemher last that the Accounts of the Bookekeeper,
the Warchousekceper, the Purser and Steward should be read
and passed in Councell every mouth, which order is now againe
confirmed, It is to bhe noted that the Accounts of the Ware-
housekeeper, Purser and Steward arc to he read and passed
some day before the Journall of Accounts kept by the Booke-
keeper, that he may thereby be warranted to enter the same in
the Bookes of Accounts.

There being severall LEnglish in and about Metchlepatam
who, against the Honoble. Companys orders (which they have
been often acquainted with) doe not repaire to live under the
Companys government, the better to constraine them soe to
doe, and alsov to preserve the priviledges of the English nation
in these parts, it was thought fitt and resolved to make the
following orders =—That none of the subjects of his Majesty
living in these parts, which are not in the Companys service, or
have not a Pase as Inhabitunts of some place under the
Companys government in India, shall have any countenance or
protection, or enjoy any of the English priviledges, nor shall

1 Thiy letter does not exist, but in Master Papers, No. ro, under date * Munday
December 23: 1678, there is the entry: * Ordered in Councill, That in all the
Factorys the Bookes of Accots. kept by the Booke Keepers, Warehouse Keepers,
Pursers and Stewards be Read and Pass’d in Councill every mombh, and noted
in the Consultation Books, and if any be omited to note the reason,’
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the Chief of this Factory upon any occasion owne them as
English or belonging unto them ; That all such Persons as are
in the Companys service, and all such as have or shall have
Passes for liberty to trade as Inhabitants of any place under
the Companys government, who have any goods to pass in or
out of the Towne or Country, shall give notice thereof to the
Chief of the Company’s Factory at! which such goods are to
pass, and apply themselves to such Chief for the clearing their
goods. And if any Person or Persons, other then the Chief or
such as are apointed by him, shall apply themselves to the
Governour or to any other Officer or Minister of the Towne or
Country upon any occasion whatsoever, the Chief and Council
of the Company’s Factory, where such Person shall reside,
shall seize upon the party soe acting, and send him to Fort
St. George to be proceeded against according to the quallity of
the affair. And when any Persons in the Companys service, or
having Passes as aforesaid, shall apply themselves to the Chief
for the clearing or passing any goods, or for any other business
which does require aplication to the Governour or any other
Officer or Minister, the Chief is hereby ordered and required to
use his endeavours for the effecting the said affair, and for the
preservation of the English Priviledges in these Parts; and noe
Person shall owne any strangers goods, not belonging to the
FEnglish, or to such as serve them, that they may pass free of
customes and other dutys as IEnglish goods, upon paine of
paying double the same dutys, one haife to the Informer and
the other halfe to the use of the poore at Madraspatnam for
every such offence. These orders being resolved upon, some of
the Factors and some of the Freemen were called before the
Councell and acquainted therewith, that they might not pretend
ignorance of the same.

William Harrison?® having offered to give Bond in 200 pagos.

t ¢« By’ in the duplicate copy in Factory Recovds, Masulipatan:, vol. ii.

2 William Harrison, who is mentioned as being at Golconda in 1674 (Factory
Records, Fovi St. Geovge, vol, xvil.), is not among the list of freemen at Masuli-
patam in January, 1676-7 (ante, pp. 104=107), but his name appears in the list for
the year 1678 (Factory Records, Musulipatam, vol. ii.). Harrison repaired to Madras,
as agreed, and appeared before the Council on the 4th March, 1680, when his
bond was ‘delivered up to him to be Cancelled’ (Factory Records, Fovt St. George,
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to goe to Madraspatnam and become an Inhabitant there by
March next, it was thought fit to take his Bond and give him
a Pass for liberty of trade as an Inhabitant of the said Towne.

Philip Noden!® being marryed to an Fnglish woman in this
Towne, and having presented a Petition wherein he desires to
have a license to keepe a House of entertainment, which, upon
inquiry, is found to be necessary in this place in the time of
shiping, for the accomodation and health of our people, it
was thought fit to grant him a license for a yeare, he paying
12 pagos. into the Companys Cash for the same; and in regard
by this license he is an Inhabitant of Madraspatnam, tis orderced
that he have a Pass for liberty of trade as an Inhabitant under
the Companys Government.

THE DIARY (continued).

4th April-—Aga Jelol [Agha Jalal], the Governour, came to
Towne this morning by 8§ a Clock directly to the English
Factory to visit the Agent with u traine of Persians &ca. He
stayed about an houre, and very much importuned the Agent
to accept of un entertainment at his house, for which he would
receive noe denvall.  Soe twas thought best to returne the

vol, ii.}). In March, 1680, he was commanding the IHunnibal, and in 1684 and
1685 the Ruby., On the 23th March, 1684, he * was married to a maid that came
out with Madam Aelst ' (Factory Records, Musulipatam, vol. iv.). His name is
entered in the * List of Seafaring Men’ residing at Fort 5t (George in 1688, and
again in 1605 and 1693, with the note * his wife in Eogland.,” After this date he
disappears from the Records.

1 See ante, note on p. 107, In the following year, 15th April, 1680, Noden paid
20 pagodas for the renewal of his licence for twelve months, After the with.
drawal of the Chief and Council from Masulipatam in 1687, Philip Noden
appears to have remained there without permission. In April, 1604, and in
March, 1695, letters were despatched to him from Fort 8t. George, ordering
him and his family ‘to repair hither.” 1n 1697, however, he was at Masulipatam
‘as Chief of the Ynglish, and the Merchants protected by him.” In 1699 he was
‘joined’ with two of the Old Company’s servants, and allowed 1 per cent. com-
mission to ' prevent his serving the New Company.’ He, however, ‘disobliged”
his employers, and, as * they nere trusted him,’ they ‘discharged ’ him in 1700,
In 1716 bhe was still at Masalipatam and had apparently been readmitted into
the service, as he was acting in an official capacity. He died, intestate, on the
t2th May, 1718 (Fuactory Recovds, Fort St Geovge, vols. iv., vil,, vili., x.; Miscel-
laneous, vols, iiia., vi., vii.; Fort St. George Public Proceedings, Range 239,
vol. lxxxvii. ; Coast and Bay Abstracts, vol. ii., p. 188).
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visit this evening to make an end here the sooner, which was
accordingly done, And his treate was very civill, after a plenti-
full supper, being closed with a present of a horse, and he
would have given tasherifs, [but they were]? refused, as being
not proper to be received but by an inferior from a superior.

Saturday, the sth April.—At a Consuliation, Present :—
STREYNSHAM MASTER, Esq., Agent; MR. CHRISTOPHER HaT-
TOoN; MR. RicHARD MOHUN.

Aga Jelol, the Governour of this Towne, having given the
Agent a visit yesterday morning, and invited him and his
Company to his house at supper last night, when he presented
him with a horse valued at about 50 pags., all which was
done in expectation of a Piscash [peshkash], and he being a
Person nising in favour at Court,” it was thought fitt to gratifie
his expectations by presenting him with two hundred [and]
fivety Pags. in ready mony privately, which will be [much]?
more acceptable then a greater sum publikely, there being alsoe
noe fine cloth in the Factory.

A letter to the Chief and Councell at Hugly, to be sent hence
overland by expresses, with the Honble. Companys letters
received via Surratt was read and passed.4

METCHLEPATAM, Aprill 5th, 1679.

To the Worshippfull Mathias Vincent, Chief, &e., Councell
wm Hugly.

Our last to you was dated in Fort St. George about the
24th February,? sent [upon] the small ship Apearance in answear

1 The original is damaged. The words in brackets bave been supplied from
the copy in Mackenzie's Kistua District Manual.,

2 Agha Jalal resigned his post in August, 1679, and went to Goleonda. Later,
probably in 1680, he sailed for Persia. At Golconda he was * pressed to returne
to his Charge,’ and his refusal ‘cost him 10 Thousand Pagos. to Madana and
his brother by which meanes he gott off,” He was succeeded by a man * of meane
Condition ' (Factory Records, Masulipatam, 10th November and 11th December,
1679, vol, ii., and Fovt 51 George, 11th April, 1681, vol. ii).

3 The original is damaged. The words in brackets have been supplied from
the copy in Mackenzie’s Kistna Distrvict Manual,

4 The duplicate copy of this portion of the * Memoriall,” in Factory Records,
Masulipatam, vol. i, ends here.

5 A copy of the letter of the 24th February, 1679, is to be found in Factory
Records, Fort St. George, vol. xviil,
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to your severall [letters by the]® ships, to which we referr.
These are to accompany the inclosed letters from the Honble.
Company,? which we received, via Surratt overland, the 7th of
last Month; the last yeares packetts, which were missing,comeing
with the Honble. Companys freshest advices of the 5th August,
1678, to which referr you for what they order in their affairs
under your care. Only they have required us to give you
directions to goe in hand with provideing the goods for their
ships expected this yeare, according to their advices of the
12th December, 1677,% and rather to increase then abate the
quantity of raw silke and Floretta Yarne,? and by noc meanes
to send them any throwne [twisted] silke, as they have alsoe
written in their said letter of sth August to your selves, which
we recommend to your carefull obscrvance.

The Gazetts which came to our hands we allsoe send you
herewith, by which you will be adviscd that the peace was
signed between France and the Dutch upon the 31st July, but
the later advices say that those affaires ave uncertaine, by veason
of a fierce battle fought between the French and the Prince of
Orange, in which about 12000 men werc slaine after the Peace
was signed.®

Whereas, in our last letter [of 24th February, 1679 ], we ordered
that, in every Factory. the Accounts of the Booke-keeper, the
Warehouse-keeper and the Charges Generall should be read
and passed in Ceuncell every month, which order we doe
confirme, yet you must observe to pass the Accounts of the
Warchouse-keeper and the Charges Generall some day before
the Journall of the Bookes of Accounts kept by the Booke-

1 The original is torn. The words in brackets have been supplied from the
copy in Mackenzie's Kistua District Manwal.

¢ These letters were dated 7th September, 1677, and sth August, 1698,
Copies are to be found in Letter Book, vol, v., pp. 444-449 and 576-578.

¢ The Company's lotter to *Our Cheif and Councell in the Bay,’” dated
12th December, 1677, is to be found in Letter Book, vol. v,, pp. 516-523.

+ The quantity of raw silk ordered in December, 1677, was 8oo bales, and of
Flovetta yarn 1oo bales (Letter Book, vol. v., p. 521\,

¢ The Treaty of Nimeguen was signed on the roth August, 1678, On the
following day William of Orange attacked the forces of the Maréchal of
Luxembourg at St. Denis, near Mons, He was repulsed after a desperate
combat lasting six hours. The loss on both sides was heavy.
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keeper, that he may thereby be warranted to enter the same in
the Bookes of Accounts.

Upon consideration of the Honble. Companys affairs in these
parts, and in respect to the 8th Article of their orders of the
18th December, 1667, it was thought fitt for the Agent to visit
these Factorys, upon which Journey he sett out of Madraspatam,
the 11th of last month, and having spent some time at Pette-
polee and the Island of Dio, arived here the 26th, where our
endeavours for the Honble. Company’s Interest have not been
unsuccessfull, having brought the Marchants to an abatement
of 8 per cent. upon the whole investments in this Factory for
this yeare and hereafter, which business being finished, we
shall now in a day or two proceed to Madapollam, and, God
willing, some time this menth the Agent intends to returne to
Madrass.

These we send by a pair of Pattamars [ path-madr, foot-runner]
express, and desire you to returne them againe as soone as you
can with all necdfull advices, which being what offers at present,
we remaine, Your affectionate friends, STREYNSHAM MASTER;
CHR1STOPHER HATTON; RICHARD MONUN.

THE DIARY (continued).

sth April.—In the evening we went and supd at the Dutch
Garden, which is about halfe a mile distance from the English
Garden, where the Dutch have two houses, to which they often
retire out of Towne for better aire,! which is alsoe much wanting
in the English Garden.

Munday, the 7th April*—In the afternoone, about 4 a clock,
we sett out of Metchlepatam upon our Journey to Madapollam.?
With us went all our company from Madraspatam, and alsoe

! *The site where the Dutch had their villa residences is still known as
Valandupdlem, a corruption of Hollandpdlem'® (Mackenzie, Kistna District
Manwal, p. 100).

2 In Factory Records, Masulipatam, vol. ii,, under this date, there is the following
entry : ‘ Governour Master with all his Company departed hence, and arrived at
Madapollam Wednesday the oth instant,’

¢ Madapollam (Midhavayapalem), now the northern suburb of Narsipur, in
Narsapur faluk, Godavari District,
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Mr. Hatton, Mr. Field! and Mr. Wynne. We went out of the
North side of the towne over two bridges made by Meir Abdulla
Bakeir,? lately dead. We stopt to see a house he built at the
Barr towne, and then proceeded to Mooderapollam,? a gentue
league or g English miles from Metchlepatam. There we supd
and lodged untill 12 at night,

8th April—In the morning, before breake of day, we came to
Enteer River,? which is g miles, where was two Boates which
ferryed us over after a long time. Then we travailed along by
the sea side, foarded another small River, and thence by the
sea [the backwater] to Peddagullypollam [Pedda Gollapalem ],
which is reckoned halfe way to Madapollam, and two and a
halfe gentuc leagues, which is 22§ English miles, There we
stopt untill our servants had bought. Rice, and then travailed
through woods in a pleasant road to Chenagullypollam [Chinna
Gollapilem], about 4 miles farther,” where we arrived about
g a clock, and there dined. After noone we passed the great
river [the Godavari] by Collypatam [Kilipatnam], above a mile
from Chenagullvpollam, where was two great Boates and three
Sangarecs, which ferryed all ‘our Company over. Then we
journeyed to Mootullpellec [ Motupalli] (27 miles), by the small
river [the Upputeru], within a gentue league of Madapollam,
where Mr. Tivill® &c. the Factory of Madapollam mett us; and
there we lay this night.

gth April—1In the morning we passed that small river with
Sangarees and a boate sent from Madapollam, and through
a very pleasant country by many pons? of water, where the

1 See ante, note on p. ro4, for Field's previous services. At this time
he was Second at Masulipatani,

2 Mir ‘Abdullah Bakir was Governor of Masulipatam in 1672. See Factory
Records, Masulipatam, vols. v. and ix, (February and March, 1672),

# 1 cannot identify this place, It may be the Murridibba of the Indian Atlas,
Sheet g3 (edition 1828).

4 Perhaps the Malapakari Kodu of the Kistna District Manual map,

% A marginal note has ‘g mles,” and this is also the distance given in
0.C., No. 4584 between Pedda Gollapilem and Chinna Gollapalem.

8 See antz, vol. i., pp. 267, 285, for John Tivill’s appointment. At this time
he was Third at Masulipatam and Chief at Madapollam. In July, 1680, he
was appointed to succeed Hatton as Chief at Masulipatam, Two months later,
on the 14th September, 1680, he died at Madapollam (Factory Records, Fort

81, George, vol. ii.).
7 Pon, a seventeenth-century form of pond.
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washers were whiting of cloth, arrived at the Companys Factory
at Madapollam, (g9 miles), before noone.l

In the evening the Agent tooke a view of the House, Ware-
house, out houses, garden and yards, which are all well scituated
upon the side of the great river [the Kistna] that goes into the
sea, about 5 miles from the Factory.? The townes of Mada-
pollam and Narsapore [Narsipur] joyne together, the Dutch
house for their Iron worke in Narsapore being a little above
Muskett shott from the English Factory in Madapollam.
Narsapore® lyes below Madapollam downe the river, and that
place is under the Governour of Metchlepatam and has the
command of all the river for the Customes as far as Corango
[Coringa]. But Madapollam, Mellick Mahmudpet,® and
Naurasporam [Navardzpuram], though they all joyne near
together to Narsapore, yet they have cvery one distinct
Havaldars for the gathering the ground rent, independent from
Narsapore or Metchlepatam at present.

toth April—In the morning we went to view the Towne
of Naurasporam® and the houses built by the English there.
That towne stands about a mile from Madapollam up the river,
and parted from Madapollam by a narrow, deep, river (that

! There is a marginal note here, ‘25 miles’ but from what point is not
indicated,

% For a history of Madapollam Factory, see Bowrey, Countries Round the Buy
of Bengal, pp. 100-101 and footnote. The following description of Madapollam,
in 1668, is taken from John Marshall's Notes and Observations of East India,
British Museum, Harl, MS. 4254, p. 3 (reverse): ' About 40 or 45 miles from this
place {Masulipatam), northi-east, is Madapollam, where the Company bave a very
stately house, scitnate by a very broad River, being about § mile broad, and
lying about 6 miles from the Sea, The River is Navigable, and called Nassipore
River, This Madapollam is a very pleasant place, having many Gardens and
Trees near it. On the other side the River is very good hunting for hogs,
Jackalls, &ca., and good fishing,” The sites of the old buildings have now
disappeared, owing to the encroachments of the river.

% Narsapur (Narasipuram, called by the English Narsapore), in Narsipur
taluk, Godavari District.  See Morris, Godavery District Manual, pp. 39, 40, 179.

¢ Malik Mahmiidpetta, probably named after a local governor. I have found
no other allusion to this district, except in Factory Records, Masuliputam, vol, ii.
(January and May, 167¢), where the name is given as ‘Mahmud Mellick pate’
and * Mellick Mamud Pet.’

5 There seems to have heen some confusion among the English at this date
between Narsipur and Navardzpuram. ‘Narsapore’ is used indiscriminately
for both places. TFor instance, in Fuctory Records, Masuliputam, vol. ii., Mr.
Fleetwood’s great house, mentioned below, is said to be in ‘ Narsapore.’
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runs into the great river), which we ferryed over in Boates and
sangarees; and in the time of the freshes [freshets] it gaines
upon the towne of Naurasporam, soe that it indangers the
destruction of . There we sce a faire great house built by
Mr. Hatton, which since he hath sold to the country people,
the river having washed away the garden to it and come near
the house ; another house built by Mr. Chohnley now belonging
to Mrs. Gill ;! Sir Edward Winters great house,® part of it fallen
downe, and the rest soe rotten 'twas not safe to goe into it;
Mr. Fleetwoods great bouse,” where Mrs. Mainwaring* now
lives, "tis built of Brick, a very fair large strong built house,
which the King of Gulcondah liked well, when he was in these
parts in Januery last®  Alsoe there is a good house built by
Mr. Turner,® now belonging to Carolus Courthalls,” a Fleming.
At our returne home from Naurasporam, about noone, the
Dutch Chief® of Pollicull [Palakollu], being this morning come
thence to their house at Narspore, where their Flagg was
hoisted up, sent to desire to give the Agent a visit this Evening,
which was adinitted.  They came about 4 a clock, were treated
at a Collation and went away about 8 at night to Pollicull, very
much importuning the Agent to give them a visitt at Pollicull.

1 Probably the widow of Andrew Gill, for whom sez ants, note on
p. 105.

2 This appears to be the ‘ Madapollam House,’ inspected by Nicholas
Buckridge in 1604, * tuilded by Sir Edward Winter for his Particular Occasions,’
See Bowrey, Countrics Round the Buy of Bengul, p. 100, note 1,

8 See note on p. 284 and ante, p. 99, for Robert Fleetwood's appointment an:l
death.

i Her husband, Matthew Mainwaring, late Chief at Masulipatam, sailed for
England in the Fulcon in January, 1679, in order to vindicate his actions before
the Court of Committees at home,

5 It was on the 25th December, 1678, that the King of Golconda spent the
day in the late Mr, Fleetwood's house, * which he was much taken with, praising
it severall tymes, and saying when he came next {rom Goleondahb he would take
up bis residence therein ' (Fuactory Recovds, Masulipaiam, vol. it., p. 110).

$ The only Turner of whom 1 have any record at this period is Irancis
Tuarner, elected writer for the Coast and 13ay on the toth October, 1667 {Coiirt
Minutes, vol, xxvi., fol, 48), but 1 have found no mention of him later.

7 On the 26th June, 1679, at a Consultation held at Madapollam, William
Ayloffe was repaid five pagodas ‘for Physick’ purchascd  of Senor: Corthalls in
Apridl last,’ on beball of * William Cullen, then desperately ill * (Factory Records,
Muasulipatam, vol. ii.)

§ This was Jan Van Nooy, who was Chief at Palakollu from 1077-82. Sec
Valentijn, Oud en Nicww Qust Indien, vol, v., p. 39.

VOIL. 11. 11
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Thy told us that one, who afore time was King of Orixa, was
risen with a great army of 35000 horse upon the Coast and
Country of Gingerlee, who had beseiged the Seir Lascar [Sar-i-
lashkar, Sar-lashkar, head of the army] or Generall of the King
of Golcondah in a castle and had taken away 500 laest [about
2 tons] of paddy of the Dutch Companys.!

There came to us at the Factory this day a Dwarfe, an Indian
of the committe? cast. He was, he said, 30 years old, borne in
the next towne to Madapollam inland. We measured him by
the rule, 46 inches high, all his limbs and his body streight and
equall proportioned, of comely face, his speech small, equalling
his stature. He desired to be one of our Marchants, being a
shop-keeper by trade.

11th April.—In the morning?® came to visit the Agent one
Colladinde Narsaraze [Kalidindi Narasaraj],* a Gentue of an
antient familye in great repute in these parts, well esteemed
with the great Governours, and allwayes a friend to the English,
He is a comely personall man of an affable and gentile [genteel]
behaviour. He brought a present of fruits, to whome was
returned 6 yards of Scarlett [European broadcloth] for the
preservation of his friendship, he being very serviceable to our
marchants in clearing their goods from stops in these parts.

12th April.—The Agent, having been indisposed, tooke
Physick this morning.

COMMERCIAL MEASURES AT MADAPOLLAM.

Saturday, the tz2th April-—At a Consultation,® afternoone,
Present :——STREYNSHAM MASTER, Esq., Agent; MRg. CHRis-
TOPHER HaTTON; MR. RicHARD MOHUN.

! The statement in the text appears to refer to an exploit of some local raja
against Mahmiid Ibrahim, Sar-lashkar of the ¢ Gingalee® Coast for Abu’l-Hassan,
King of Golconda. Rea, Monumental Remains of the Dutch East India Company,
p. 15, is clearly wrong in connecting this episode, which does not appear to have
been recorded elsewhere, with the capture of the fortress of Jinji (in 1677) by
Shivaji.

4 Komati, a trading caste in Godavari, Kistna, and Nellore Districts.

3 The copy in the Mackenzie MSS., vol. lii., has ‘evening.’

4 Mr. Sewell tells me that Kalidindi is a village, in the Gudivada filuk, of the
Kistna District.

5 There is a duplicate copy of this Consultation and also copies of those held
at Madapollam on the 15th and 16th April, 1679, in Factory Records, Masulipatam,
vol, ii.
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The Madapollam Marchants, being called to treat about the
abatement of the prizes of the goods usually provided by them,
after some time of debate thercupon, they not giving eare to
any abatement upon the ordinary sorts of cloth, at last came
to this agreement:—That the ordinary long cloth, ordinary
salampores ard three threaded forty coved Ginghams should
continue at the old prizes of last yeare, and as contracted for
this yeate the t3th last month ;' and for the fine long cloth, fine
Salampores, Percollaes, Izarees and Dungarces, they would
abate 8 Pr Ct. upon the prizes, as the Metchlepatam Merchants
had agreed, provided they were allowed for an errour in their
wrong [to their prejudice] in the abatement made upon the
Ginghams sent home the last yeare, at which Tearmes the
Agent and Councell closed with them, and the errour about
the Ginghams was by consent referred to Mr. Hatton to allow
them what reasonable.

Upon this agreement the said Marchants desired to have
3000 Pagodas now paid them, besides the gooo paid them upon
the contract the 13th March last;? but there being not soe
much mony in cash, it was agreed to pay them 2000 pags. now,
which, with the gooo paid them before, makes 11000 pags.,
which summe was agreed to be upon account of this yeares invest-
ment at the rates now agreed, the contract of 13th March to
be voyd, and the marchants to give new Bills according to this
contract.

Upon the Marchants desire to have the same writeings drawn
up for them as was done for the Marchants at Metchlepatam,
it was ordered accordingly.  And the said Marchants declareing
they would not stand to this bargaine if any other persons were

1 A copy of the Consultation, recording the agreement with the Madapollam
merchants, is to be found in Factory Records, Masulipatam, vol. il

2« Metchlepatam, Thursday, r3th March, 1678, 9. At a Consultation . . . it
is ordered that the Macapollam Marchants be sent for, and their Contracts
concluded, and that particularly for the provision of the ordinary Callicce:s
goao Pagos, be paid themi downe in hand, and their Obligations for the sane
being passed, that they be dismissed, and directed to use all dilligence and
expedition for the carrying on that worke, and that they be carefull to secure
their weavers that they e not seduced away by the Dutch, whoe the Councell
are informed doe designe a great Investment this yeare in those parts' (Factory
Recovds, Masulipatam, vol. i)
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joyned with them more then such as they now nominated, whose
names will be entered in the agreement hereunder, it was
thought good to consent to them in that particular, by taking
in noe other Marchants then such as they now agreed unto.!

THE DiARY (continued).

14th April—~The Agent &ca. went to visit the Dutch at
Pollicull [ Palakollu] this evening, which is about 7 miles inland
from Madapollam. There the Dutch have a Factory of a large
compound, where they dye much Blew cloth, having above 300
Jars set in the ground for that worke. Alsoe they make many
their best paintings [printed cotton cloth] there. The towne
being first rented by them at 2000 old pagodas per annum is
now given them free by the King, and they say they make
4000 Pagodas per annum of it, and some times more. At Polli-
cull is a great pagodae, where great numbers of people come to
worship once a year and performe their vowes of being hung up
by the skin of the back with Tron Hookes at the end of a long
pole turned round upon a post, about 10 or 12 foot high, before
the pagodae.® This feast hapned this veare the day after we

1 The signatures here and at the end of the two following Consultations bave
been omitted, The names are the same as those at the beginning, with the
addition of * John Nicks, Secretary.’

2 The Dutch obtained free possession of Palakollu, in 1676, in return for a
valuable present made to the King of Golconda at his first visit to Masulipatam,
See Dubois, Vie des Gouverneurs Générany, pp. 205-200.

3 The references to ‘ hook-swinging ’ are numerous in the early travellers, and
it is possible that, owing to the distribution of the nerves in the back, the
practice was not so painfu] as it would appear to he, See Bowrey, Countries
Roynd the Bay of Bengal, pp. 197-198 and footnote, Mr, William Crooke writes:
1 have always supposed that hook-swinging originated in the desire to present
an offering, in this case a human sacrifice, by displaying every part of it, and
waving it before the God or his image.’ 1In this opinion I concur. It is probably
an instance of mimetic magic, See Yrazer, Gelden Bough, 1. 190, i1, 28, 33.
449-452 ; Pausanias, ii, 461, v, 379. As to the Indian rite, see Ward, View of the
History, Litevatuve, and Religion of the Hindvos (1818), ii, 22, 213. It was exten-
sively practised in the Madras Presidency, and, wherever the Dravidian popu-
lation is to be found, till quite modern times, as well as in Bengal and other
parts farther north (Bulletin, Madras Museum, V., part i., p, 38; Mateer, Land
of Charity, p. 220; Bombay Guzetteev (Kanara), XV., part i., p. 24 ; Hoole, Mission
to South India, p. 357; Oppert, Oviginal Inhabitants of Bhavatavarse, p. 481;
Dubois and Beauchamp, Hindu Manners and Ceremonies, p. 605 ; Marshall, Notes
and Obsevvations, British Museum, Harl. MS. 4254 ; Ives, Voyage to India, p. 37).
I am indebted to Mr., William Crooke for several of the above references.
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were at Pollicull, and some of our people went to it, and saw
near 20 people soe hung up by the back before the pagodae at
the top of the high pole.

CoMMERCIAL MEASURES AT MADAPOLLAM,.

Tuesday, the 15th Apridl.— At a Consultation, Present :—
STrREYNSHAM MASTER, Ks0., Agent; M. CHRISTOPHER HATTON;
Mr. Ricaarp Monun.

Arthur Seymor! having given bond in zoo Pagos. to repair
to and inhabit in Madraspatnam by January next, upon his
desire, a pass was granted him for liberty to trade as an
Inhabitant under the Honoble. Companys government.

John Heathfield, Chyrurgeon of this and Metchlepatam
Factory, having marryed: the Relict of: Mr. Robert Fleetwood,
who hath taken the Towne of Nadrasporam to farme about
three yeares since, which being against the Honble, Companys
order, the said John Heathfield was called into the Councell,
and ordered to quit the farnie of the said towne, which he pro-
mised to doe, the terme for which it was taken being expired
by the midle of next month.?

The Investments of Metchlepatam and Madapollam Factorys
being divided to Marchants belonging to cach place, it is ordered
that, as well the goods as all other affairs relateing to the
Accounts be distinctly entered in the Bookes of Accounts kept
in each respective place, that is to say, what is transacted at
Metchlepatam in the Bookes kept at Metchlepatam, and what
1s transacted at Madapollam in the Bookes kept at Madapollam ;

1 Arthur Seymour’s name does not appear in the List of Freemen at
Masulipatam in 1676-79, nor in the List at Fort St. George for 1656, He is,
however, mentioned in 1698, On the 17th December ' Mr, Seymour and
My, Everard, they speaking the Langnayge,’ accompanied John Field, who
escorted the King of Golconda to Divi Island. Seymour remained with the
royal party until the joth December, 1679, He was alive in August, 16.8
(Factory Recovds, Masuiipatam, vol, ii. ; Madvas Pyrss List, 1688).

2 See ante, vol. 1., note on p. 286, for John Heathfield’s appointment, He
married Margery, widow of Robert Fleetwood, on the 16th May, 1678, In 1681
he was appointed to be surgeon at Fort St. George, He beld that post until
1685, when he was admitted as a factor in the Company’s service, He died on
the znd April, 1688, and was buried at Fort St. George (J. J. Cotton, Inscriptions
on Tombstones in Madras, No. 17).
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the goods provided in each place to be Invoiced apart in severall
Invoices, and the charge of each Factory to be proportioned
upon each sort of goods in the said Invoices accordingly, and
the Bookekeepers are to observe to enter the goods in their
bookes according to the Contracts by Consultation, and after-
wards to deduct what is abated by order of Councell for want
of Dimentions in length or breadth, and in all things to make
the Accounts conforme to the Orders in the Consultations. The
Warehousekeeper is alsoe to observe to sort the goods according
to the severall musters contracted upon, and not to make any
new sorts without order of Councell.

There being severall bad Debts due to the Honoble. Com-
pany as apears by a Consultation in Metchlepatam the 17th
August 1675, It is ordered that the particulars of the said
Debts shall hereafter be entered at the begining of every Journall
kept in this Factory, expressing at large the particulars thereof,
soe far as can be discovered, that is to say, where the persons
were or are, whither living or dead, what their professions, and
in what time, and upon what occasion each Debt was made;
and the Chief and Councell are at all times to endeavour the
recovery of them, and alsoe of those order’d to be entered in
the Metchlepatam bookes as oportunity shall offer.

Connapa the Bramini [Kannappa, the Brdhman] of this
Factory, having in severall instances behaved himselfe disre-
spectfully to the Honoble. Companys affairs, and, since the
Agents arivall here, cast out slighting speeches of him, the said
Conapa and his sons Mongaraz [Mangardj] and Gongaraz
[Gangaraj] were called before the Councell and committed
under guard in the Factory untill further order.

Wednesday, the 16th Aprill.—At a Consultation, Present:—
STREYNSHAM MASTER, EsQ., Agent; MR. CHRISTOPHER HATTON;
M=z. RicuarD MoBUN.

There arising some difference with the Marchants in drawing
up the particulars of the Contract agreed upon with them the
12th instant, first about the prizes of the ordinary Long Cloth,
and next about mony paid at this time of the yeare upon the

A copy of this Consultatien exists in Factory Recovds, Masulipatam, vol. i,
The list of outstanding debts given there amounts to 2,934 pagodas.
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Investments hereafter, upon which particalars they insisted soe
obstinately upon their own way, tho it apeared to the Coun-
cell to be to their detriment, that upon their motion to conclude
upon a Contract for this yeares Investment only, and neither
party to be obliged for longer continuance thereof, it was
resolved and agreed with the Marchants at the following termes,
vizt—

For fine Longcloth, fine Salampores, Percollaes, Izarees and
Dungarees, they are to allow 8 per Cent. abatement upon the
prizes following—

Long Cloth fine, 72 coveds long and 2% coveds broad, browne,
by the Coved of this Factory of 20 inches No. 1 at 43, No. 2
at 4, No. 3 at 3§ Pagos. per pecce.

Salampores fine, Percollaes, Izarees and Dungarees at the
same rates, by the same Musters, as agreed upon in the Con-
tract with the Metchlepatam Marchants the 31th last month.
For Ordinary Longcloth, Ordinary Salampores, and three
threaded Ginghams of 40 coveds, at the prizes and rates follow-
ing—Long cloth ordinary, 72 coveds long, 2 broad, whited and
cured, No. 1 at 25%, No. 2 at 25}, No. 3 at 24} Pagos. per
Corge. Salampores Ordinary, 294 coveds long, 2 Coveds less
2 Inches broad, whited and cured, No. 1 at 14, No. 2 at 134,
No. 3 at 124 Pagos. per Corge.

Ginghams 3 threads, 4o coveds long, 2% coveds broad, browne,
No. 1 at 25, No. 2 at 224 Pagos. per Corge.

The mcasure of thesaid three sorts to be by the coved of this
Factory of 20 Inches, and what any of the foresaid Eight sorts
of goods shall be wanting of Dimentions in length or breadth is
to be deducted out of the prizes as usuall,

The quantitys of the said goods to be the same as is exprest
in the Consultation and Contract made with the same Marchants
the 13th March last, and unto the 9,000 pagos. then paid them,
the Councell have now ordered, und is accordingly paid, 2,000
pagos. more, for which 11,000 pagos. the said Marchants Colli-
pellee Narso [Kéllapalli Narasu],? Goba Lingona [Gopa Lin-
gana] and Cunda Chumbroo [Konda Shambhi] have now

1 The length of the covid varied in different districts from 15 to 36 inches,
¢ Narasu of Kollapalli, in Bandar tauk, Kistna District,



168 MADAFOLLAM, 1679

agreed to allow 3 per Cent. which is to be charged to their
Accounts upon Account of the same Investment, and they doe
alsoe promise to provide the said goods in six months time, as
agreed the 13th March last, and the Agent and Councell doe
promise that the Chief and Councell of this Factory shall pay
to the amount of one halfe or two thirds of the whole Invest-
ment in or about the Month of August after the arivall of the
ships from England, and the remainder within one month after
all the goods are delivered and the Accounts adjusted, and the
said Marchants shall not pay or allow any more or other Dus-
toore [dastar] then 1 per Cent. upon the course cloth and 1} per
Cent. upon the fine Cloth, which Dustoore shall be equally
divided between the Bramini and the Dubass of this Factory
in the Companys service, and the Chief and Councell of this
Factory shall assist the Marchants in the clearing the goods in
case they shall be stopt in the Country, and in all other occa-
siong for the Companys Service.

The said Marchants having now desired an adjustment of
the Errour in the Ginghams sent home last yeare, and Mr.
Hatton after consulting with Mr. Wynne about the same, now
reporting the difference to be two pagos. and a halfe in the first
sort and 1% pagos. per Corge in the second sort in the Marchants
wrong, by mistake through hast upon the Dispatch of the ships,
it is ordered to be repaid them accordingly. Upon the con-
clusion of this agreement and to gratify the Marchants request,
it was thought fitt to give them Tasherifs [tashrif |, vizt.—

To the three Principall Marchants, and to Comorase Gedda
Shumboo [Kamardj Gadda Shambhi],! whome they have ad-
mitted to have ¢y part principall share, and for whome the other
3 are bound, to each of them 3 yards of fine Cloth, and to
6 under Marchants each 3 yards of Cloth Rashes, to the
Factory Braminy, the Dubass, and the Agents Dubass for his
paines in the manageing this affair, each 3 yards of fine
greene,

Conapa [Kannappa] the old Bramini and his Sons having

Y Mr, Sewell conjectures that Gadda refers to a place called Puligadda, 4 miles

north-west of Avanigadda, close to where Streynsham Master crossed the
Kistna River,
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offered 500 pagos. to be discharged of their confinement, with-
out further punishment for their misdemeanours, the said
summe was accepted, and they were called hefore the Councell
and discharged the Companys service, never to enter the
Doores of any of the Companys Factoryes againe, upon paine of
forfeiting 500 pagos. for every such offence.

Gruaraz [Guruva-raj] who hath formerly for many yeares
served the Iinglish in these parts, was then entertained in the
Companys service as Bramini of this Factory at the usuall
sallery of 2 pagns. per Mensem and his brother Narran!
[Narayan] to be Expence Bramini [i.e., the paymaster] at
I pago. per Mensem,

Narsaraz [Narasarij], a Gentue of great quallity in these
parts, and an antient friend to the Iinglish and their Interest,
having given the Agent o visit a few dales since, and was then
presented with 6 yards of searlett, his son having since sent
a wild Hogg and some fruites, desireing to make a visitt allsoe,
it was thought fitt rather to send him 3 yards of Cloth Rashes to
prevent the trouble thercof and loss of time.

There being convenicncy in this place for the breeding up of
Spotted Deer, which the Honoble. Company doe cvery yeare
order to be sent home for his Majesty.® It i1s ordered that care
be taken to breed them up in this Factory to be sent home
accordingly.

Tue Diavy (continued).

Wednesday, 16th Aprill.—We went to view the Dutch house
and compound at Narsapore which is a very large peece of
ground, divided into two large inclosed Quadrangles, in one
of which is as many forges as joo smiths may worke in them.
The compound reaches down to the River side, upon the sandy

! Guruva-raj and his brother Nardydn appear to be identical with ¢ Grua’ and
¢Narrayna,” who served the English at Peddapalle in 1632. See Foster, The
English Fuctovies in India, 1630-1633, pp. 231, 242.

¢ The well-known chiral of India. See ante, vol. i., p. 253, for the order for
sending home these animals. Also on the rzth December, 1677, the Court
wrote to Fort St. George : * Wee would have you procure some spotted female
Deere and send us by these ships for his Majestie, The last that were sent dying
by the way ' (Letter Book, vol. v., p. 507)
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banks of which lyes many vessells, which are imployed in that
great rice trade of Gingerlee.!

Thursday, the 17th April.—Having finished what was thought
necessary to be done in this visitation of these Factorys, in the
Morning, about 8 a clock, we sett forward upon our Journey to
returneto Madrasspatam, intending to goe theupward inland way,
and to make an Elbow [angle] to take a sight of the Dimond
Mines. We went this forenoone to Verascheroonc [Virava-
saram |, which is about g or 10 miles from Madapollam, these
two places and Pollicull makeing a Triangle. We viewed the
Companys two houses at Verasheroone, which stand one over
against the other in one streete, both of them part fallen to the
ground, and that which stands of them, it was not safe to
adventure in to see them.* The compounds of the houses are
small, but well scituated, being raised high from the streets.
Above a mile from the towne there 15 a very large Mangoe
garden of the Companys by which the tent was pitched for us;
but the country Governours claiming the right to the fruit of
the trees, by reason we have neglected it, the Agent gave order
to Mr. Hatton to send 4 or 5 Peons from Madapollam every
yeare about Mangoe season, which is at this time of the yeare,
to watch the trees and gather the fruit to send to Madapollam,
thereby to preserve the Companys right and title to the Garden.?
There is allsoe two other small gardens nearer the towne be-
longing to the Company, but all lye wast, and only the great

! Gingerlee or Gingalee was the seventeenth.century term for the coast
between the estuary of the Godavari and the Jagannith Pagoda, See Bowrey,
Counlries Round the Bay of Bengal, p. 120, 1. 1,

2 Viravasaram, in Bhimavaram taluk, Godavari District, a factory sub.
ordinate to Masulipatam, was established about 1635, and for several years had
a resident Chief. In 1661, however, there was ‘bnut a single Person’ in the
factory (Fuactory Records, Fort St. Geovge, vol, xiv.), nor after that date is there
any mention of a * Chief at Verasheroone.,” In 1668 John Marshall (Notes and
Observations of East India, Havl. MS. 4254, p. 3, reverse) describes < Verasheroone’
as *an Old and decayed factory, but formerly in great request for cloth, and as
yet all the cloth from Metchlepatam and thereabouts is brought from hence or
neare this place.” In 1674 the factory was * laid down’ (0.C., No. 4044).

¥ + This (Verasheroone) is a very pleasant place having very many Gardens
with Mangoes &ca, very near it, and the English have two Gardens, the one
balf a mile {rom the English Factory, which is a very large Garden and thick
with Mangoe trees’ (John Marshall, Notes and Obsevvations of FEast India,
Harl, MS. 4254, p. 3, reverse).
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trees standing to shade the cattle and travellers from the sun.
And these, with many others that arc about this towne, would
very well accommodate weavers to worke under, if the place
were rented of the King by the Company and kept under their
Government, which was now adjudged to be for the Companys
interest, keeping only a warehouse at Verasheroone,! and the
Factory to continue at Madapollam. But the Towne of
Verasheroone is now ruined and empty of people through the
tyrany of the Government.

18th April—Ir the morning by breake of day we parted with
Mr. Hatton &ca. the Factory that came to accompany us thus
far on our way, and, about noone, we reached Pentepoll [Penta-
pad|® reckoned 2} Gentue leagues (224 miles).

19th April.—We sett forward early in the night, and by g or
10 in the morning came to Elloor, 3 gentue leagues (27 miles).®
This Elloor is reckoned one of the greatest townes in this
Country, the King in his last progress comeing to see it, where
are made the best Carpetts (after the manner of those in Persia),
by a race of Persians, which they told us came over above
100 years agoe. The manner of making them we saw, and is in
bricf thus : —The Loome s strctched right up and downe, made
of Cotton thread, and the Carpett wrought upon them with
the woollen yarne of severall collours by young boyes of 8 to
12 yeares? old a man with the Patterne of the worke drawne
upon paper, standing at the back side of the carpett, and direct-
ing the Boyes that worke 1t how much of cach collour of yarne
should be wrought in. And every thread being wrought, they
share it with a pair of sizers, and then proceed to the
next® At this place a horse of the Companys, which we
tooke with us from Madapollam, falling lame, we left him

! Viravisaram was used as a depot for the Company’s cotton goods until 170z,
when it was finally abandoned.

* Pentapad, in Tanuku t#luk, Godavari District.

i Ellore, in Ellore fifuk, Godavari District.

* The copy in Mackenzie's Kistna District Manual has * 8 to 14 years.’

5 This description of the manufacture of carpets at Ellore applies to the present
day. They are still mr .e on upright looms, with the warp thread of hemp,
cotton, or wool. The manufacturers are Muhammadans, descendants of Persian
settlers., See Balfour, Cycopadia of India, s.v. Carpets, and Madras Manual,
vol. iii., s.7. Ellore,
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here with one of our English men and a Peon to returne to
Madapollam.

At Elloor we lodged in a house of Aga Jelolls [Agha Jalal],
whose brother in law prepared us Victualls, and gave us hens
and sheep, to whome for his kindness and in respect to Aga
Jelol, who marryed his sister, we presented 3 yards of Scarlett
at parting.

Easter Day, the 20th A pril.— About two a clock in the morning
we sett out of Elloor, and about % arrived at Gullapellee?
(13% miles), upon the Dimond Mines, and lodged in the house
where Mr. Cholmley made his investment of Dymonds the
last yeare. In the afternoone, about four a clock, we went to
the mines, about a mile and halfe out of towne upon a hill,
to see them digg and looke for the dymonds, which is done
after this manner. The ground is loose, of a redd fat sand,
and gravell great and small,? black, red and white stones. One
or two of the miners loosen the earth with an Iron grow,® and
others with Iron Pawraes [phdord] or spades heave it up to
a heap, from whence others with Basketts wind the small dust
from it with the wind. Thence it is carryed to a troff, made
up of stones and earth, and filld with water (which is brought
thither above a mile upon- mens heads), where all the gross
earth is washed away from the gravell, for the earth melts like.
sugar and runs out of a hole with the water, soe the gravell all
remainels]. That they carry thence and spread upon a smooth
plaine place prepared for the purpose, where the same men
(that digg, dust and wash the earth) sett all the heat of the day
in a ranke [row] onc by another with their faces toward the
Sun, looking for the Dymonds; and the man that imployes them
setts over against them to see that what they find they deliver
to him; and in this manner they find the Dymonds in the
same fashion and shape as they are sold rough; and, by what

1 Gollapalle, in the Niizvid territory, twenty-five miles north-east of Bezvida,
lat, 16° 43/, long. 80° 57,

% *The low rises at Gollapalle are part of the old Golconda mines long
abandoned, The pits are in gravelly laterite resting on sandstone' (Bilgrami
and Willmott, The Nizam's Dominions, vol. i., p. 234),

3 Copyist's error for *crow,’ used for ‘crowbar’ in the seventeenth century,
See Oxford English Dictionarv, s.v, Crow.
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we observed, the cost and labour of finding them countervailes
the vallue and worth of the Dymonds. Those that imploy the
miners doe not buy the ground, as some have reported, but they,
and any one that has a desire to imploy his mony that way,
first acquaints the Governour of the mines with it. Then he
grants him license to spring a mine where the imployer thinks
best, paying 3 pagods. per mensem if he employes no more
then 10: 20: 30: or 40 men in it, if more, then 4 and, of some,
5 pagods. per mensem. The miners, or those labourers that
work in the mines, are paid 1} pagods. per mensem in mony
and corne! and this 1s all the charge the adventurer in the
mines is at, except it be that they over bid one another some
times for a good peece of ground which one hath light upon,
and another hearing of it, bids the Governour mony for it, and
he that gives most has it. But, besides the rent of 3 or 5 pagods.
per mensem to the Governour for the King, there is a custome
or excise sett upon all corne at about 50 per cent. above the
market; upon sult, beetle and tobacco at above double and
treble the markett rate. And all the miners and those that
deale there (except priviledged English men or such like) are
compelled to live upon the mines in those townes where that
excise is raised. The towne of Gullapelle [Gollapalle] though
within a mile and halfe of the mines, is without those limitts,
and therefore none of the miners or dealers in Dymonds are
allowed to live there. But at Mellwillee [Mallavilli],* about

1 At the mines of Ramallakota the rates paid for the land were higher, and
the workmen’s wages lower (see Tavcrnicr, Ball's edition, vol. ii,, p. 59), Thévenot,
quoted by Bilgrami anl Willmott in the Nizan's Dominions, vol, ii., p. 505, says
that, in the mines * that are toward Masulipatam,' the King exacted ‘a Pagod
every hour they work there, whether they find any Diamonds or not.’

% Mallavilli appears as Mullally in Sheet 94 of the Indian Atlas (published
1832, additions to 1goo}.  In vol, ii. of Ball's edition of Tavernier's Travels there
are several allusions to *a Description of the Diamond mines’ in Philosophical
Transactions for the year 1677, From this article I take the following account
(p. 912): * Melwillee or the New Mine, so called because it was but lately fonnd
out (or at least permitted to be made use of) in the year 1670, it had then a year
employed the Miners, but it was forbidden and lay unoccupied till 1673, when
complaint being made at Quoleur [Kolliir], that the Vein was worn out, the King
again licensed its settlement, The Earth they mine in, is very red and many of
the stones found there have [some] of it sticking to them, as if it had clung there
while they were of a sof: glutinous substance and had not attained their hardness,
maintaining its colour oa its skin (seeming to be roughened with it) that it cannot
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4 or 5 miles from Gullapelle, where the Governour of the mines
lives, the whole rent of these mines is reckoned to the King
worth 60000 pagods. per annum and as much more to the
Governour to bribe the Courtiers to hold the place. There was
none of the mines that we saw this day which were dugg above
3 foot deepe from the surface of the earth, and most of them
about two foot, the ground first over grown with shrubs and
bushes, which the miners digg up with the earth. These mines
lye upon a flat hill upon the top and on the side of it, where arc
found small and great Dymonds of good and bad waters, but
very little Bort,'! and they say that the adventurers in these
mines seldome loose in their undertakings,

215t April.—This morning came severall of the most eminent
marchants from the mines to visit us at Gullapelle, and to try
how we were inclined ‘to buy. At first they asked moderate
rates, which, when we bought, they raised, and afterward would
not shew more but what they asked dear for, soe we could not
lay out 1000 pagodas amengst us all, for feare of injuring the
markett. At 3 in the afternoone we sett out of Gullapelle,
passed over the mines by Mellwille and Raizpent,? which is
about 6 miles, allmost all that ground being spread with miners.
And the mines in the valleys were much deeper then those
upon the hills, being some of them 10 and 12 foot deep, and
some mines were sprung upon ground where corne had been
sowen and reaped a few months since. The Governour of the
mines at Mellwille sent to complement the Agent and excuse
his not comeing out to meet him, as he said he intended to doe,
to which a civill answear was returned. The two townes of
Mellwillee and Raizpent upon the mines are very large and

be fetcht out by grinding on a rough Stone with Sand, which they make use of
to clean them. The Stones are generally well-shaped, . . . Most of them have
a thick dull skin, incline to a yellowish water not altogether so strong and lively
as the other Mines ; very few of them of a crystalline water and skin.’ See also
Mackenzie, Kistna Distvict Manual, p. 245, and Mackenzie MSS., Section 8, No, 15,
Account of the Places where Diamonds ave Found in the Condapilly Cireay.

! Diamonds of too coarse a quality to be fit for jewellery, See Murray,
Oxford English Dictionary, s.v, Bort.

% Query Rajpett, perhaps a suburb of Mallavilli, The name seems to be now
forgotten.
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populous, but the buildings all thatcht hovells. The people are
well favoured, well clothed, and looke as though they fed well
to undergoe their great and hott labour, though corne, &c., be
at excessive rates, and the place must needs be full of mony to
pay 30 or 40,000 labourers in the mines, besides many others,
the Dymonds being allsoe allways bought with ready mony,
the country pleasant, like England ahout London. By Raiz-
pent is a large pleasant greene valley, full of flocks of woolly
shecp, thence to Mustabad! (18 miles), where we lodged this
night. We travailed through a mountainous country by very
pleasant vallys with Tankes of water, and came to our Journeys
end [Mushtibad] about 8 at night, having travailed two gentue
leagues.

2znd April—At 3 this morning we sett out of Mustabad
from which place to Beswar [Bezvada) is one gentue league.
Beswar lyes in the road from Metchlepatam to Gulcondah, at
which place the King ordered the English and Dutch to take
leave of him in his progress in January last. It stands by the
side of a mountaine? as does Mustabad, Mungullgurree [ Manga-
lagiri] and most of the towngs in this mountainous country.
By it runs the river Kishna, which we passed [on the south side]
between Pullywar and Narragoodra [Pullwarru and Nadaka-
duru]. Upon the two mountaines at Beswar there are severall
pagodaes, much esteemed by the gentues® who report that
there are allsoe great treasures upon these hills. By the towne
are large groves of trees. Having foarded the river Kishna
(which is very good water), by the help of the rising sun we saw
the walls of the great castle of Coundapellec [Kondapalli] upon
the great hills about 7 miles from Beswar., This castle is said
to be stronger and biger then that of Gulcondah,* and it is said
the old king had a designe to remove his seat thither after he

1 Mushtibid, in the Nizvid territcry, now a station on the line between
Ellore and Bezvida.

2 3ezvida, in Bezvada faluk, Kistna District, is surrounded by hills.

¢ For a description of the remains aliuded to, see Mackenzie, Kistna District
Manual, p. 217 et seq,

4 Tor a description of the ruined hill-fortress of Kondapalli, on the north side
of the Kistna, in Bezvida #ink, Kistna District, see Mackenzie, Kistna District
Manual, pp. 220-222.
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was surprized by Oranzeeb,* and it is believed that the great
reason of this Kings makeing such frequent progresses into
these parts is to remove his treasure first and afterward his
court to this castle of Coundapellee, which is reported to be
9 miles compass, upon a very high hill by the river Kishna.
For Madanee [Madana] the Bramini, his prime minister of
State, stayed at Beswar (when the King tooke his pleasure
about the country), upon pretence of doeing devotions to the
pagodas and feeding many hundreds of Braminys, which some
say was to lay up the treasure in Cundapellee castle, which
those Braminys brought from Gulcondah, 6 or 7 daies journey
from Beswar, and Beswar is 45 miles from Metchlepatan.
From Beswar we travailed halfe a league, through a moun-
tainous country, to Mungullgurree [Mangalagiri] (13} miles),
where we tooke up our quarters in a great Pagodae, by which is
a very deep well made of stone, and stone steps to goe downe to
the bottome of it, built by Gruaraz [Guruva-raj], Bramini to the
Dutch Factory at Metchlepatam, late deceased at this place.
We went to a pagodae, which (with many others) stands a
good height upon the side of the mountaine by the towne,
which we assended by stone staires, where there is a Brazen
face of the Image of the God Narsing [ Narasithha], whose head
and uper parts resemble a Lyon, and the hinder parts a man,
This Brazen fac’t God tis reported all the country over drinks
up just the halfe of any Pot of sherbet, bigg or little, that is
given him, and stops there, refusing to drinke more of the same
pot, but the halfe of another, and soe of as many as are brought
to him.2 There being severall pots of sherbett made of Jagra
[molasses] prepared, we observed the miracle very dilligently,
how an old Bramini with a Chanke [sankh] shell, filled out of
one of the largest potts, and poured it into the mouth of the

! This event took place in 1655, when the forces of Aurangzeb, under his son
Muhammad, invaded Goleonda in support of the claims of Mir Jumla and his
family. ’Abdu’llah Qutb Shah, then King, was surprised in his capital, and flea
to the fortress of Golconda. Muhammad plundered Haidaribid, and 'Abdu’llah
was compelled to sue for peace, See Bilgrami and Willmott, The Nizam's
Dominions, vol. ii., pp. 482, 483.

2 At Mangalagiri, in Guntar tzluk, Kistna District, is a temple to Narasith-

hasvimi, See Mackenzie, Kistna District Manwal, p. 179, who states that the
legend related by Master is still current,
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Image untill he guessed the pot was halfe out. And then in-
stead of puting the shell full into the mouth of the Image and
soe pouring it in, he drew his hand back and poured the sherbet
without the mouth, saying the image was satisfied and refused
to drink more. The better to satisfie ourselves of the Cheat,
we made the Bramini give bim two small potts more, both
which he did in the same manner. The Brazen head of the
Image stands in a dark stinking place cut into the rock, at one
corner of which we spyed a hollow place, that had a glimmer-
ing light in it, which they would not let us looke into, where we
suppose the sherbet is taken up by the Braminies, which they
say the Image drinks. By this simple invention all the
Gentues in the Country are deluded, and it is said two thousand
Braminys [Bra/unans] are maintained by it.  One of our horses
being desperately sick, we left him behind us at this place with
men to looke to him.

23rd April—At midnight we departed from Mungullgurree
[Mangalagiri], and before ¢ in the morning came to Punnoor
[Ponniir],! 3 leagues (27 miles). This day we left the moun-
tainous country and travailed through a plaine country by many
fine groves of trees.

24th April—About midnight we left Punnoor and before
9 in the morning arrived at Yentapollam [Vctapalem], that is
3 leagues (27 miles), in the midway of which Journey we fell
into the Metchlepatam road to Yentapollam, and a while after
came to a place where Hodgee Allee [Haji ’All}, a Persian, lyes
buryed, that divides the road to Metchlepatam and Baupatla.
At said tombe there is milke, butter milke, Purgo? and water
allwayes ready for all travellers gratis, given by the deed of the
defunct about [] yeares agoe, and duly observed to this day.
Since we came from Verasheroone we could get only Cuscus?
straw for our horses untill this day, and here they had grass,

25th April.—About 4 in the morning we sett out of Yenta-

1 Ponniir, in Bapatla faluk, Kistna District,

2 Possibly Tel., paraka, curds; or Tam., purukkal, boiled rice. I am indebted
to Mr, Robert Sewell for these suggestions,

% Khaskhas, a coarse tufted grass, which cattle will not eat except when it is
quite young.

VoL, II. 12
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pollam and by 10 arrived at Alloor [Allir] 3 gentue leagues?!
(27 miles).

26th April—About midnight we sett out of Alloor, and
passing two rivers [the Mushi and the Paler], one of saltwater,
another of fresh water, about seven in the morning we came to
Careda [Karédu],? and, though it was near a high water, yet we
foarded that river [the Manner] up to the shoulders. This was
3 short gentue leagues travell? At this place severall of the
relations of our Madrass Marchants came to visit the Agent
and brought a present of rice, Hens, Butter Milk, &c., of whome
enquiry being made of the trade and revenue of the place, they
informed us that there was made ordinary and fine Salampores,
Dymities, Dyapers, Ginghamsg and such like goods about 5 or 6
leagues up in the country, This being only the Port to ship
off and land goods, and little or noe trade at all here. From
hence to Gulcondah the road was good, being about 8 days
Journey for a footman, and about a month for oxen laden.
which is much about the same ‘distance as from Metchlepatam
to Golcondah:4 that there was often Copper, Tynn, Tuttynague
[tutenaga, spelter] and Lead sent by them from hence to
Golcondah, the charges of which was § pag. for the ox hire and
1} pag. for the Jungam [changam, customs], which is 2 pagods
for an ox loading of 8 maunds, that is 5 pags. per candy,® and
the English and the Dutch pay 4 pags. per candy from Metch-
lepatam to Golconda tho privilledged by the Kings Phyrmaund
[ farman]® and the gentues and others pay 6 pagos. per candy.
The river [the Manner] that runs into the sea at this towne,
they say, comes from a fresh spring out of the mountaines [the

1 The copy in Mackenzic MSS., vol. lii., has ‘2 in the morming . , . Alloor,
3 gol‘gz;.réqlu is in Kandikir (#uk, Nellore District.

3 In 0.C., No. 4584, the distance given is * 27 miles,’

4 The distance from Masulipatam to Golconda vid Suriapet, Madaram, and
Malkapur, is 120 miles.

5 John Marshall (Harl, MS. 4254) gives the weight of the maund at Masuli-
patam in 1671 as 25 pounds—that is, 625 pounds to the candy.

6 By the furman granted to the English in Masulipatam by Abi'l Hassan Shih
in January, 1676, it was enjoined: *If they send any goods or merchandize to
Golcondah to pay but 4 pagodas new per candy for the oxe hire, The English

Nation and Company being much in our esteeme and favour,’ A copy of this
Sfarman is among the appendices to Master’s Diary of 1676-77.



CAREDA~-JUELLDINDE, 1679 179

Veligonda Hills] 10 leagues off, and the water is fresh but
2 miles up the river from the towne. The Barr never shutts
up all the year, and at a low water there was about 4 foot upon
the Barr. The Towne is small and of meane thatcht houses
and narrow streets; it stands about a mile from the sea side;
the ground belonging to it is most sandy, about 5 or 6 miles in
compass, under the sirkell "Tam. sharkkil, minister] imediately,
as is Madrass and St. Thoma, and no other townes under it,
The Revenue of the corne comes to Iooo to 2000 Pags. per
annum according {to the crops]! and price, there being a great
[and long Tanke of water, never ) dry, which produces Rice all
the year round, and the Customes from 100 to 300 Pags. per
Annum, at 1} per cent. upon importations and 13 per cent.
upon exportations, only Sea Custome taken and noe land
custome. At present there is a braminy [ Brahinan] Governour
of the towne put in by the sirkell Nabob Mahmud Ibraim
(shavkkil Nawdb Mahmad Ibrahim]. = If this place were in our
hands as is Madrass, 'tis presumed that in few yeares the
greatest of the part of the trade at Metchlepatam would be
drawn hither, and be of great advantage.® In the morning we
tooke horse and viewed the pround about the towne, which we
found according to the report  of the Marchants, and stockt
with Cowes and Buffelas (like a marsh in England) feeding
upon good pasture, where the Corne had been reaped. The
Towne stands upon the highest spott of ground by the river
side and over lookes all the corne fields and meadows; we
lodged in a mangoe garden by the tanke side, a pleasant greene
place.®

a7th April—Departing from Careda about 10 at night we
came to Juelldinde [Zuvvaladiane]® (27 miles) by 6 this
morning, foarding a broad salt water river [the Chippileru] a

! The original is torn heve,  The words in brackets have been added from the
copy in Mackenzie's Kistna District Manudl,

¥ hid,

3 Karddu is now of no value as a port.  See Dowrey, Countrics Round the Bay of
Bengal, p. 36, n. 3.

+ The copy of this ‘ Memoriall " in Mackenzie's Kisina District Manual ends here,

5 On the outward juurney the party halted at Ramayapatnam, between Zuvvala-
dinne and Karédu.
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little short of Juelldinde. In the afternoone about 4 a clock
we sett out of Juelldinde that we might pass the river of
Oudcore [the Penner at Utukir]? at a low water, which we did
about g at night, and by Ir came to Gangapatam (22} miles),
leaving all our baggage upon the way, having travailed 5§ large
gentue leagues this day,

28th April.—At break of day we departed from Gangapatam,
and by 10 in the morning came to Kishnapatam [Kistnapatnam ]
(13} miles); there we lay this night and all our baggage came in
with us. Here we understood that the Dutch some 5 or 6 years
since, sounded the Barr and the river of Coleer [the Kolléru],
and desired a settlement upon an island about two miles up the
river, a good fertile peece of ground and the river deep, fitt for
vessells of some burthen ; but the King of Gulcondah would not
admitt them [such a]? scttlement.

29th April.—About 4 [in the Morning we sett out of]® Kish-
napatam, having ferryed the river with all our luggage in two
boats. By g we came to Cotapatam [Kottapatnam] (g miles);
there we stayed untill 3 afternoone, and then proceeded to
Armagon alias Duraspatam [Dagarazpatnam] (9 miles) this
evening, where Veronas [Viranna's| people entertained us.?

30th April.—Departing from Armagon about midnight, we
came to Chycaracoat [Sriharikot] (18 miles) by 8 in the
morning, passing through many slows [sloughs] overflowed
with salt water [7.e., Pulicat Lake] by reason of the spring
tides, it being new moone. Here the Havaldar visited the
Agent againe with some fruits, &c., and then he was presented
with 3 yards cloth Rashes. From Chycaracoat the Agent sent
his Chief Dubass to Policat to desire the Governour to spare
his boates to Ferry us over the river.

May the Primo.—Seting out from Chycaracoat about midnight,
just at breake of day 4 or 5 miles® short of the river [Arani] we

1 On the outward jonrney the party halted at Gogulapalli, between Utukiir
and Zuvvaladinne.

2 The original is torn here. The words in brackets have been added from the
copy in Mackenzic MSS,, vol. lii.

3 Ihid.

4 The party were similarly entertained on the outward journey.

® The copy in Mackenzie MSS., vol. lii,, has * 2 or 3 miles,’
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mett Signor Hartsing [Hartsinck] the 2d and 4 others of the
Councell of Pollicat, with two of the Governour Jaques Caulier
his sons,* whom he sent to meet the Agent and invite him into
Pollicat, himself not being able to stirr out of the Fort [Geldria],
which invitation was accepted.? So we stayed to shift our
selves [change clothes] at a Choultry [inn, caravanserai]| near
the river, sending all our Pallankeens and horses over before in
boates sent for that purpose, we followed ourselves, and came
into Pollicat Fort by seaven this morning.® There was a guard
made of the garrison in armes and head peeces from the gate
to the staires of the Governours lodgings. At the top of the
staires the Governour received the Agent, excusing his not
coming farther, being not able to climb up one step without
being carryed, by reason of age* and weakness in the knecs,
which was true. Thence he carryed us into a large room well
furnished, where two great chaires were placed at the upper
end of two rowes of Ebony Chairs, in one of which at his right
hand he placed the Agent, the Garrison first fireing 3 vollys.
The great guns were then discharged round the Fort and upon
the redoubt by the sea side, in-all fivety one Cannon. The Fort
stands cleare of the towne a convenient distance; tis built with
4 Bastians moted with a. Fosbray [fausse braie, advanced
parapet]; there is 8 cannon upon each Bastian and some
cannon upon the curtaines,’ The curtaines are broad and
handsome, great Margosia [neem, nim] trees growing upon
them, which makes the Fort very pleasant.? The Governours
lodgings stand upon the eastward Curtaine next the sea side,
being a handsome spatious strong building well furnished,
besides which there are many other good buildings for lodgings
warehouse, store houses, a Chappell and guard roomes within

1 One of the sons was probably Willem Caulier, born at Pulicat in 1658, He
died at Negapatam in 1715, His wile, Lucia Popta, died at Palakollu in 1702,
See J. J. Cotton, Inscriptions on Tombstones in Madras, Nos. 1239 and 1708,

* Master had promised to visit Heer Caulier on the return journey, See an!.,
p.alsoo.b., No. 4584, gives the distance as eighteen miles.

4+ Jacques Caulier was born at Ghent in 1620, and was therefore fifty-nine years
old at this date.

® See Bowrey, Countries Round the Bay of Bengal, pp. 51-53, for seventeenth-
century descriptions of Pulicat.
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the Fort, and yet the Fort seemes to be but little larger then
Fort St. George! In the Forenoone the Agent walked round
the Fort upon the curtaine and viewed all the accommodations
thereof. At noone we were treated with a very splendid dinner,
the table being spread with about 100 dishes of meate well
dressed and well sett out, and as many of all sorts of dryed
sweet meates, made after the Europe manner, wine of all sorts
in great plenty. Five healths were dranke about at Table, and
all the cannon in the Fort and some at the redoubt (in all 51)
fired every time. Two healths were dranke after dinner with
the cannon fired. At about five afternoone the Agent tock his
leave. The Governour excused himself from accompanying
the Agent out of Town or downe stairs by reason of weakness,
but his lady, with severall other gentlewomen, Signor Hartsing
and others of the Councell and severall others accompanyed us to
Chena Pollicat {Chinna Pulicat], where Heer Caulier hath built
a garden house. There we were treated at a very handsome
supper and other divertisements of merryment untill midnight.
Then we tooke leave, the Dutch ladys and gentlemen returning
to Pollicat, and we proceeded upon our journey home. One
thing remarkable we learnt at Pollicat, which was that by
advices from Tanassaree [Tenasserim], Pegu, Arracan and
Bengale, the Earthquake which happened the 28th January
Jast,? happened allsoe in all them places and upon all the coast
of Chormandell at one and the same minute of time.

In the morning, about 6 a clock, we arrived at Trevitore
[ Tiruvatiyir] (18 miles), and stayed there untill 4 afternoone,
all the councell and many others of the Companys servants and
of the Inhabitants of the town comeing thither to meet the
Agent. One of the companys of the garrison that was free
guard mett him at Pursotums (Purushéttama’s) Garden, and
thence marcht before him into towne (Madraspatam, 5 miles),
the people in great numbers flocking out to meet him. The
guns at the Fort began to fire when he was by the Pagodae in

1 Compare Bowrey, Countries Round the Bay of Bengal, pp. 51-53 : * Pullicatt . , .
is nigh hard if not altogeather as bigge as our Fort, but our outworks doe much
exceede theirs,’

* See ante, vol. i., Introduction, p. 74.
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the Gentue town? and fired, untill he entred the Fort, 27 Guns.
Then the soldyers in armes fired 3 vollys which ended the
Ceremony, the Agent and all his Company returning in good
health (praised be God) from this Journey,? which, tho trouble-
some to the undertakers, hath been of great advantage to the
Honourable Company.®

Joun Nicks, Secretary.

I Colonel H. D, Love has kindly assisted me in tracing Master's entry into
Madras. Purushéttama’s Garden was, no doubt, in or close to Muthialpetta,
the northern suburb of Madras along the seashore. The ‘ Pagoda in the Gentue
town’ was the ‘Great Gentue Temple’ in the old Black Town, demolished in
the middle of the eighteenth century to make way for the northern esplanade of
Fort St. George. Part of the High Court now stands on the site of the old
Temple. Master's ronte from Pulicat was either through Muthidlpetta to White
Town, the modern Fort St. George and its glacis, keeping the Temple clo